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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS IR

This annual report contains certain statements that are forward-
looking or which use certain forward-looking terminologies.
These forward-looking statements are based on the current
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beliefs, assumptions and expectations of the Board of directors Hr =4 RBERHAE - YA eRAAFEE

of the Company regarding the industry and markets in which
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risks, uncertainties and other factors beyond the Company’s

control which may cause actual results or performance to differ
materially from those expressed or implied in such forward-
looking statements.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

The global economic growth momentum remains lackluster given
the combined effect of long-term factors such as the global
industrial chain adjustment, frequent geopolitical conflicts and
tensions in international relations, coupled with cyclical factors
such as tightening of monetary policy and rising debt risks.
Against this macro backdrop, China’s capital market has also
been exposed to severe challenges. Investment risks continue
to rise due to multiple factors such as weak world economic
growth, downward absorption of foreign capital and low investor
confidence. Confronted with such market situation, we have
responded proactively and flexibly adjusted our investment
strategy, adhering to our core investment philosophy of
prudence, and recorded relatively stable returns for the year.

In FY2023/2024, we made comprehensive adjustment to
optimize out investment strategies in view of changes in market
environment and the strategic development needs of the
Company. We re-established our four major investment strategies,
namely core-holding-centered unlisted equity investment, debt
investment, fund investment and listed equity investment.

The core of our unlisted equity investment strategy is to seek
long-term returns. We are committed to identifying and investing
in unlisted companies with great growth potential, providing
them with capital and resources and sharing the dividends of
their long-term development. Debt investment strategy aims to
achieve stable returns in a volatile market environment. Fund
investment strategy, which aims to participate in diversified
investment opportunities, utilizes the industry experience and
market acumen of professional fund management companies
to broadly allocate assets and diversify risks while capturing
more investment opportunities. Listed equity investment strategy
focuses on seizing short-term investment opportunities in the
secondary market. As a result of the adjustments to our strategy,
our investment portfolio has become more balanced and
efficient, and our ability to withstand risk has been significantly
enhanced. We have not only achieved a balance between short-
term and long-term investments, but also strengthened risk
management and further optimized our overall investment layout
through diversified investments.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETREMESF

The global economy today is undergoing rapid changes, with
technology reshaping the world at an unprecedented speed.
As an investment company, we understand that we must keep
abreast of technological development to stay ahead in the
market among fierce competitions. Therefore, during this fiscal
year, we changed the name of the Company to Wealthink Al-
Innovation Capital Limited and adopted " ERI B AR EAR A
B]" as its Chinese name. This not only represents a new brand
image, but also highlights our strategic intention to expand
our presence in the field of intelligent technology. We firmly
believe that by investing in these cutting-edge technologies,
we will be able to capitalize on future growth opportunities
and propel the Company to achieve leapfrog development. We
plan to accurately identify startups with disruptive technologies
and promising market prospects through exhaustive market
research. At the same time, we will also actively explore strategic
cooperation opportunities with industry-leading companies with
a view to building a diversified portfolio in key areas such as
artificial intelligence and big data.

Amid a volatile market, we have always placed risk management
at the core. Over the past year, we continued to strengthen our
internal control and compliance management, constantly building
up our risk defenses and appropriately resolving various risks
and hidden dangers. At the management level of our investment
business, we focused on strengthening the post-investment and
exit management mechanism of our unlisted investment projects
to improve the overall efficiency of post-investment management
through systematic implementation of post-investment
management and meticulous monitoring of the performance
of investment projects. In addition, we have conducted a
comprehensive business risk assessment to identify, accurately
quantify and systematically prioritize the major risk points that
need to be dealt with, and have prepared corresponding risk
control plans to ensure the sound development of our investment
business.
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Over the past year, we made steady progress amid a complex and
volatile market environment and delivered hard-earned results.
At present, many authoritative global economic institutions have
raised their expectations for China’s economic growth, which has
undoubtedly injected stronger confidence in our development.
We firmly believe that with the steady recovery of the Chinese
economy and the maturing of the capital market environment,
China’s investment market will show new vitality. We will
continue to be market-oriented and policy-led, closely follow the
pace of national development, serve national strategies and the
real economy, and continuously improve our project selection and
risk management capabilities, with a view to getting a head start
as the market picks up and creating stable and lasting value for
our shareholders.

WANG Qin
Chairman

21 June 2024, Hong Kong
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEERW R

WEALTHINK Al OVERVIEW

Wealthink Al-Innovation Capital Limited (“Wealthink Al") is
a cross-border investor with a focus on China’s fast-growing
industries and the best investment opportunities. We leverage
our capital strength to invest in targeted companies, with
returns primarily generated from interests, dividends and
capital appreciation. In FY2023/2024, in view of changes in
market environment and the strategic development needs of
the Company, we underwent comprehensive adjustments and
optimization of our investment strategy. We re-established our
four-core investment strategy, namely core-holding-centered
unlisted equity investment, debt investment, fund investment and
listed equity investment.

INVESTMENT REVIEW
Investment Activities

During the last year, due to the volatile international trading
environment, the sluggish internal consumption market and the
increasing geopolitical risk, China’s economy was still exposed to
downward pressure. Against this backdrop, the capital markets
in Mainland China and Hong Kong showed relative weakness,
which brought certain challenges to our investment business
and post-investment management. Confronted by the volatility
and uncertainty of the market, we adhered to the principle of
investment diversity and risk diversification, prudently evaluated
various investment opportunities, and comprehensively adjusted
and improved investment strategies. Through various asset
categories including investments in unlisted equity, debt, fund
and listed equity, we further improved the diversity and stability
of our investment portfolio. In addition, under the complex
and ever-changing economic situation, we are also striving to
identify certain industrial trends and focus our investment on
the emerging technology fields while continuing to strengthen
strategic execution in the technology field.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

During the Year (as of 31 March 2024), we exercised extra
prudence on new equity investments and strove for the
maximum value of our capital and the financing capability as a
public company. Our investment and divestment decisions are
made based on comprehensive considerations and assessments
of return, risk and opportunity cost. During the Year, our
new investments amounted to HK$3,837.48 million, and our
divestments amounted to HK$3,337.07 million.
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Portfolio Breakdown

In FY2023/2024, we underwent comprehensive adjustments and
optimization of our investment strategy. During the Year, our
investment strategy was comprised of four pillars, namely core-
holding-centered unlisted equity investment, debt investment,
fund investment and listed equity investment.

Unlisted equity investment strategy focuses on exploring and
investing in unlisted enterprises with long-term growth potential,
providing necessary capital support for the enterprises through
direct investment or purchase of economic interest, and sharing
their growth dividends. Debt investment strategy aims to
obtain stable and fixed income through purchase of bonds or
providing loans. While fund investment strategy participates in
diversified investment opportunities with the help of the industry
experience and market insights of professional fund management
companies, thereby realising the decentralized allocation and
professional management of assets. Listed equity investment
strategy mainly focusses on short-term investment opportunities
in the secondary market in and outside China to balance the
liquidity and rate of return of the portfolio. Combined with these
four major investment strategies, we strive to build a balanced
and efficient portfolio to bring continuous and steady investment
returns to the shareholders.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERWR DT

As of 31 March 2024, in the unlisted equity investment category,

MIESEESEHEEREBERQF("BHEHRE") was the
largest investment; in the debt investment category, Hong Kong
Nanshan Development Ltd 7.5% 23-05-2024 (“Nanshan Bonds")
was the largest investment; in the fund investment category, the
major investment was & 5 & ER K EMBEERE PO (" FA
BEMESL"); in the listed equity investment category, the major
investment was China Zheshang Bank (2016.hk).

By Investment Strategy

BIRERED IR
Listed equity investment
EWRERE
Fund investment 2%

gﬁhé
6%

Unlisted equity
investment

Ik EiER A
AN 48%

Debt investment
ERRE
34%

m Debt investment (&% &
Listed equity investment - Hif& £ &

mUnlisted equity investment 3F L Mgz &
mFund investment E &% &

MAJOR INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO
Unlisted Equity Investment

Unlisted equity investment is our important investment strategy.
We are committed to seeking unlisted enterprises with long-
term growth potential and market competitiveness, providing
support for these enterprises through direct equity investment
or purchase of their economic interest, thereby harvesting
considerable investment returns from their growth. We mainly
divide unlisted equity investment into two categories, namely
long-term core holding and other unlisted equity investment. As
of 31 March 2024, Wealthink Al's holdings in the unlisted equity
investment category amounted to HK$5,263.53 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Long-Term Core Holding

As of 31 March 2024, three companies were categorized as our
long-term core holding portfolio, namely iCarbonX Group Limited
("iCarbonX"), CSOP Asset Management Limited (“CSOP"”) and
OPIM Holdings Limited (“OPIM"). iCarbonX primarily focuses on
digital health management, CSOP is the largest Qualified Foreign
Institutional Investor (“RQFII”) manager globally, and OPIM is
Asia’s leading hedge fund platform. Wealthink Al's holdings in
the core holding companies amounted to HK$934.00 million
as at 31 March 2024. Given the growth potential of the core
holding companies, Wealthink Al will continue to hold them and
support their development in the long run while pursuing long-
term investment return correspondingly.

iCarbonX Group Limited

Date of initial investment: 2018
Type of deal: Core Holding

Equity ownership: 7.73%

Cost: HK$1,098.79 million
Carrying value: HK$797.63 million
Location: China

Sector: Medical & Health

In 2018, Wealthink Al invested in iCarbonX as one of its core
holding companies and established a joint venture with iCarbonX
named iCarbonX OP Investment Limited to capture potential
investment opportunities within the healthcare industry. As at
31 March 2024, the Group owned 7.73% of equity interests
in iCarbonX and the carrying value of the position stood at
HK$797.63 million.

iCarbonX is a global pioneer in artificial intelligence (“Al"”) and
precision health management and aims to build an ecosystem
of digital life based on a combination of individuals’ life data,
the internet and Al. Its main founding team comprises the
world’s top biologists with extensive experience in multi-omics
technology, medical service, biological data analysis, Al and data
mining.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERWR DT

In 2022, under the vision of continuing the construction of
Digital Life ecosystem, iCarbonX continues to focus on business
direction. Focusing on the unique peptide chip, which is a bias-
free protein binding technology, iCarbonX will focus on the
development of peptide drugs, in vitro diagnostics, smart chip
manufacturing, medical and technology services in the future.

Wealthink Al believes iCarbonX's expertise in life science and
Al equips the Group with unparalleled competitive advantages,
particularly in an era of post-COVID-19, when Al-enabled
healthcare research & development (“R&D") is given significant
prominence and people’'s awareness of health management
improves. Going forward, the Group will continue to take an
active role in bridging opportunities between iCarbonX and
industry leaders to foster its development within the healthcare
industry and attain capital appreciation. The investment in
iCarbonX is believed to benefit Wealthink Al over the long run,
therefore iCarbonX is held as a long-term core holding company
within Wealthink Al's portfolio.

CSOP Asset Management Limited

Date of initial investment: 2008
Type of deal: Core Holding

Equity ownership: 22.5%

Cost: HK$60.00 million

Carrying value: HK$111.87 million
Location: Hong Kong

Sector: Financial Services

CSOP was jointly established by Wealthink Al and China
Southern Asset Management Co., Ltd in 2008. As at 31 March
2024, Wealthink Al owned 22.5% of the issued capital of
CSOP, of which the carrying value stood at HK$111.87 million,
increasing HK$1.55 million, as compared to HK$110.32 million
as at 31 March 2023, such increase is due to its robust business
performance during the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CSOP is a well-known asset management company based in
Hong Kong, which manages private and public funds, and
provides investment advisory services to Asian and global
investors with a dedicated focus on China investing. As a leading
cross-border asset management expert in respect of Asset Under
Management (“AUM"), CSOP is committed to providing investors
with a flexible and efficient asset allocation tool through simple,
transparent, and innovative products.

CSOP is one of the largest ETF issuers in Hong Kong. As of the
first quarter of 2024, the scale of AUM exceeded US$14,700
million, occupying a leading position in various sectors. CSOP is
the bellwether in Hong Kong's ETF market. It is the ETF issuer
that received the most capital inflows in 2023. It is also the
only ETF issuer that has achieved net increase in scale among
the top three. The products issued by it account for the top ten
active trading ETFs in Hong Kong all year round. In Hong Kong’s
leverage and reverse product market, CSOP plays a leading
position with a market share of 99.8% (in terms of average daily
turnover) and 98.2% (in terms of scale of AUM).

CSOP is the manager in Hong Kong with the largest proportion
in scale under ETF cross-border projects. Its market share in
Mainland China-Hong Kong ETF cross-listing is 99%, and the
market share in ETF interconnection is 76%. In the “New Capital
Investment Entrant Scheme” launched in 2024, CSOP is also the
manager with the largest number of ETF types of “permissible
financial assets” in Hong Kong. It has a total of 45 permissible
assets, including 2 mutual funds, 43 ETFs and leverage and
reverse products, covering Hong Kong stocks, A shares, the
United States stocks, Japanese stocks, and Southeast Asian
stock markets, the United States bonds, virtual assets and other
broad markets. Thanks to its excellent product design and strong
performance, CSOP has won many awards from various parties
at both corporate and product levels, including five awards in
the annual awards of “Best of the Best Awards” by Asia Asset
Management in 2024, and nine awards in the Offshore China
Fund Awards by HKCAMA-Bloomberg in 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERWR DT

China has been accelerating the reforms and opening-up of
its financial market in recent years and it is one of the most
attractive investment destinations for international investors.
CSOP will continue to bridge investment opportunities in China
for overseas investors with its innovative fund products and
expertise, achieving decent returns for investors and at the
same time enhancing its leading position in the RQFIl product
management sector. Wealthink Al believes that CSOP will
continue to bring solid returns and therefore will hold it as a
long-term core holding company.

OPIM Holdings Limited

Date of initial investment: 2008
Type of deal: Core Holding
Equity ownership: 30%

Cost: HK$59.47 million

Carrying value: HK$24.50 million
Location: Hong Kong

Sector: Financial Services

As at 31 March 2024, Wealthink Al owned 30% of the issued
ordinary shares and 100% of the non-voting preference shares
of OPIM, the position of the Group in OPIM stood at HK$24.50
million. OPIM managed over 35 funds as at the end of 2023, and
the scale of fund managed was over US$1.2 billion.

OPIM is a leading hedge fund platform in Asia serving both global
and Asia based managers to develop funds across diversified
strategies for institutional and professional investors. It has built
a whole ecosystem linking up fund managers, service providers
and capital allocators, which enables the managers to launch
offshore funds with efficient and affordable structures. With the
ecosystem, managers are able to focus on fund performance and
build a proven track record for future expansion. OPIM has also
built strategic partnerships in Singapore, Europe and Mainland
China to continue to increase its customer base and expand the
scope of its service offerings to customers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

With the increasing scale of China’s private funds in the overseas
market, OPIM is expected to maintain the momentum of steady
growth in terms of both the number of funds and the overall
asset scale. At the same time, China has been accelerating the
opening-up of its financial markets, which improves foreign
managers’ access to the Chinese market and as a result, OPIM is
expected to benefit from it. Wealthink Al believes that OPIM has
great potential to continue to grow its business, and therefore
will hold it as a long-term core holding company.

Other Unlisted Equity Investment

Apart from long-term core holding, Wealthink Al's holdings
in the other unlisted equity investment category amounted to
HK$4,329.53 million as at 31 March 2024. During the Year,
the Group’s new investments in this category amounted to
HK$1,707.63 million, and the divestments were HK$156.79
million. In making decisions on either to maintain the holdings
for future divestment to benefit from growth of business, or to
exit and harvest returns for potential new investments, the Group
is based on prudent and extensive analysis of market condition
and investment projects’ prospect.

The major investments are listed as below:
Jiedaibao Limited (“Jiedaibao”)

Date of initial investment: 2020
Type of deal: Private Equity

Equity ownership: 2.49%

Cost: HK$900.39 million

Carrying value: HK$1,082.13 million
Location: China

Sector: Fintech

In 2020, Wealthink Al entered into a share purchase agreement
with an existing shareholder of Jiedaibao to purchase 1.97%
of the shares issued by Jiedaibao at a consideration of HK$700
million. Wealthink Al subsequently increased its capital by
HK$200.39 million in November 2021. As at 31 March 2024,
the Group's position in Jiedaibao stood at HK$1,082.13 million,
representing 2.49% of the shares issued by Jiedaibao.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERWR DT

Founded in 2014, Jiedaibao is an internet fintech company
providing services of contract signing, registration and post-
loan management for borrowing and lending money between
individual users and supply chain finance of corporate users,
aiming to solve the financing difficulty problem for individuals
as well as micro-, small and medium-sized enterprises (“SME").
Jiedaibao strives to be the largest service platform for individual
borrowings and corporate supply chain finance in China. The
mobile App FEEE (“"fEEE "), which is operated by Jiedaibao,
mainly provides registration tools for online I Owe You (“IOU")
issuance and supplementing and relevant value-added services.
Adopting Al visual technology, a sound cloud storage system and
online payment system, f& & & empowers online borrowing and
lending transactions and micro-SME's supply chain finance. The
sources of revenue are mainly coming from registration service
fee, collection service fee, marketing fee, certification service fee,
software development fee and loan interests, etc.

By right of the universality of its function and the business
model, {&E & has gained significant market share in Mainland
China since its launch several years ago. With licenses of online
payment, commercial banking and internet microloans, Jiedaibao
is building a complete Fintech ecosystem. Wealthink Al expects
the continuously growing business of Jiedaibao would generate

considerable medium-term return for the Group.
IBEEXBHERBRARACERTEER")

Date of initial investment: 2022
Type of deal: Private Equity

Equity ownership: 14.9%

Cost: HK$450.00 million

Carrying value: HK$432.35 million
Location: China

Sector: Others

Metagi Capital Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Wealthink
Al, entered into a capital injection agreement with 18 52 35,
with a commitment to a capital contribution of HK$600.00
million to acquire 19.9% of equity interest in 1B E. As
at 31 March 2024, the Group’s position in B3 % stood at
HK$432.35 million, representing 14.9% of equity interests in B

e
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

18 32 = , established in 1999, is a comprehensive group
mainly engaged in equity investment, property investment and
commodity trading. 183 &8t focuses on equity investment in
financial services and currently holds equity interest in more than
ten companies, including &% &£ & A 7] and Yingkou Coastal
Bank, all of which have achieved different degrees of increase in
value. /B3 38 also further improves its asset allocation through
property investment and international commodity trading
business, which are operating well and continue to generate
stable income.

Over the past 20 years since its establishment, 182 3H# has
accumulated substantial investment experience and industrial
layout capabilities in the fields of finance, property and
commodities. With the rapid development of the Chinese
economy driven by economic globalization, the Group believes
that under the background of further liberalization of the
financial market, 8% &8 will usher in new development
opportunities, which is expected to bring medium-term returns to
the Group.

MBS ESEREEERERRLQF

Date of initial investment: 2023
Type of deal: Economic Interest
Cost: HK$1,704.86 million

Carrying value: HK$1,632.00 million
Location: China

Sector: Smart Education

Wealthink Al acquired an economic interest in 29.99% of the
equity of JE48 %45 . Such economic interest comprises entitlement
to dividend and a call option to acquire up to 29.99% of the
equity of MR E . BB focuses on the operation of
private high schools, aiming to provide inclusive and high-quality
high school education services for students through technology.
The first school, M8 = A £ in Dazhou City, Sichuan Province,
has officially opened in early June 2021. Currently there are
three campuses in Dazhou, Ziyang and Chengdu. B8 &
adopts the “RAIC (Ruike) model”, which includes dual-classes
with video lessons and guidance from famous teachers, the
artificial intelligence feedback training system, and the innovative
model of customised teaching by precise division of disciplines,
to provide students with highly personalised and high-quality
education experience. As at 31 March 2024, the Group's holdings
in JBEE# B amounted to HK$1,632.00 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERWR DT

W E5 2 B has a sound and efficient organisational system
supported by its core research and development department,
including B HE R ZH 5 and BEHBEEEELATF D,
and has set up various functional departments such as the
Group's operation centre, course service centre and teaching
quality monitoring centre. M8 A B2 is committed
to the research and development of teaching content. With a
team of highly educated and experienced teaching and research
personnel, it produces high-quality teaching courseware and
designs teaching plans. J#%&# E & &= S F 0 is responsible
for the implementation of technology empowerment, accurately
matching teaching resources through big data and multi-
dimensional analysis of data, and using artificial intelligence
system to conduct accurate analysis of mistakes and push
personalised review plans.

The business model of JB%5#24 & has grasped the future trend,
closely integrated technology with teaching, and has a mature
smart classroom model, which provides a competitive advantage
for future development. With its excellent technology and R&D
team, its business model has passed a small-scale test and will
soon enter the stage of large-scale commercial implementation,
showing high development potential. The Group believes that
with the combination of technological strengths and excellent
management capabilities, Y888 %5 can expand its campus to
different regions in an efficient manner, which is expected to
bring medium-term returns to the Group.

Debt Investment

As at 31 March 2024, Wealthink Al's holdings in the debt
investment category amounted to HK$3,749.49 million. The
Group added investments of HK$1,471.95 million and exited
from investments amounting to HK$1,054.28 million in total in
this category during the Year. At the same time, our portfolio of
debt instruments recorded provision for expected credit losses
("ECL") under HKFRS 9 during the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group makes investment decisions with the consideration
of return, risk and liquidity. During the Year, the interest rate we
charged for the debt investment, of which the borrowers were
mainly investment companies, ranged from 7.00% to 10.00%
as compared to 6.00% to 9.00% for the same period last year.
The total interest income generated from debt investment was
HK$307.66 million with loan tenures ranging from 270 days to 2
years, while the corresponding amount and range for the same
period last year were HK$191.40 million and 180 days to 2 years,
respectively.

Wealthink Al maintains regular communication with bond issuers
and loan borrowers. As at the end of the Year, management have
assessed the repayment ability of the issuers/borrowers for the
determination of ECL provisions.

The major investments are listed as below:

Hong Kong Nanshan Development Ltd 7.5% 23-05-2024

Date of initial investment: 2023
Type of deal: Bond

Cost: HK$975.00 million

Carrying value: HK$969.59 million
Location: Hong Kong

Sector: Fixed-Income

On 25 May 2023, 30 May 2023, 5 June 2023 and 8 June 2023,
Wealthink Al, through its wholly-owned subsidiary, subscribed
the Nanshan Bonds in the respective principal amounts of
HK$197,000,000, HK$197,000,000, HK$330,000,000 and
HK$251,000,000. The Nanshan Bonds bear interest at the rate
of 7.5% per annum and will mature on 23 May 2024. The
issuer is Hong Kong Nanshan Development Limited (“Nanshan
Development”) and the guarantor is Nanshan Group Co., Ltd
(“Nanshan Group”).

The long-term credit rating of Nanshan Group was granted an
“AAA" by China Lianhe Credit Rating Co., Ltd in 2023. As at 31
March 2024, the Group’s position in Nanshan Bonds amounted
to HK$969.59 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERWR DT

Founded in 1979, Nanshan Group has formed a multi-industry
development pattern led by Nanshan Aluminum, &1L % i,
Yulong Petrochemical, logistics, finance, education, tourism,
technology, and healthcare after years of development. As a
large-scale integrated group enterprise focusing on aluminum
further fabrication in China, Nanshan Group has significant
advantages in terms of industry status, completeness of the
industrial chain, research and development strength and capacity
utilisation level. Nanshan Group is the controlling shareholder of
three listed companies, including Shandong Nanshan Aluminum
Co., Ltd. (600219.SH), Shandong Nanshan Fashion Sci-tech Co.,
Ltd (300918.5Z) and Hengtong Logistics Co., Ltd. (603223.AS).
The Group believes that the interest rate of Nanshan Bonds is
generally higher than the time deposit interest rate offered by
well-known financial institutions in Hong Kong, which will enable
the Group to obtain stable returns in the current turbulent
economic environment.

Fund Investment

As at 31 March 2024, Wealthink Al's holdings in the fund
investment category amounted to HK$1,755.43 million. The
Group added investments of HK$489.00 million and exited from
investments amounting to HK$1,675.29 million during the Year.

EERERAEANKRERE SO

Date of initial investment: 2022

Type of deal: Fund

Cost: HK$803.08 million

Carrying value: HK$761.54 million
Location: China

Sector: Technology, Media and Telecom

In September 2022, Wealthink Al entered into a partnership
agreement with It X HEA EIEKREEEFR A F through its
wholly-owned subsidiary, in order to subscribe for the interest in
the limited partnership of B GEMES. BHREMES mainly
invests in the equity of non-listed companies in related industries
such as cybersecurity software, the internet, artificial intelligence,
integrated circuit, etc. The scope of investment includes products
such as primary equity, treasury bond, central bank bills,
money market funds. The scale of B EMZES is RMB1.539
billion, with a total of 6 investment projects covering software
development, semiconductor, computer and other industries,
and the position of the Group in R EMES was HK$761.54
million as at 31 March 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ItRFEEEBRIEEEEBRAA, the general partner of B %E
fiE %, has extensive experience, deep industry understanding
and comprehensive professional technology in private equity
investments and capital market. It is able to aggregate quality
projects for the fund and facilitate the construction of a broader
ecosystem for the invested projects. The “14th Five-Year Plan”
has elevated technology and innovation to a crucial position in
the whole field of China’s modernization, and comprehensively
supporting the development of new generation information
technology, new materials, high-end equipment, and other
emerging industries at the policy level. The Group believes that
the subscription of the B EME S will allow the Group
to participate indirectly in the emerging technology industry
investment in China and reduce the risk of direct investment
through the professional management of the investment
manager, which is expected to bring substantial medium-term
returns to the Group.

EEFRCERBTRERETL("EBEHES")

Date of initial investment: 2022

Type of deal: Fund

Cost: HK$450.23 million

Carrying value: HK$418.28 million
Location: China

Sector: Technology, Media and Telecom

In July 2022, Wealthink Al entered into a partnership agreement
with It R ZH=E BIEKEEEBR AT through its wholly-owned
subsidiary, in order to subscribe for the interest in the limited
partnership of BFRFIE R . EREH AL mainly invests
in innovative non-listed companies with distinctive expertise
that focus on niche markets, including energy conservation
and environmental protection, fintech, new energy, Internet of
Things, and other related industries. The scope of investment
includes products such as primary equity, bank deposits and
money market funds. The scale of BHi5FHF# & % is RMB801.00
million, with a total of 5 investment projects covering new
energy, internet, media, culture, and entertainment and other
industries, and the position of the Group in BEEEHES was
HK$418.28 million as at 31 March 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERWR DT

As the fund manager of EREFEFES, LRFTEEKIEE
EIEEMRA7A has obtained the registration of management
institutions of privately offered investment funds from Asset
Management Association of China in 2015. It has solid
experiences and track records in private equity investments,
as well as execution experience in business development and
management across various industries. Currently, China has been
continuously increasing its efforts in nurturing Specialized and
Sophisticated SME, which have become an important support
for China’s manufacture and an essential force for stimulating
innovation and optimising ecological industries. Given that Eif5
5 #1E% will invest in Specialized and Sophisticated SME in PRC,
the Group considered that subscribing E i HF#7 &€ will provide
diversified investment opportunities and potential investment
returns from different high growth industries to the Group.

EERRENBREREDPOL("REEMESR")

Date of initial investment: 2023

Type of deal: Fund

Cost: HK$489.00 million

Carrying value: HK$490.04 million
Location: China

Sector: Technology, Media and Telecom

In 2023, Wealthink Al, through its wholly-owned subsidiary,
invested RMB450.00 million in HHEEMES and became
a limited partner of the fund. EEEME S, with a size of
RMB990.00 million, focuses on investment opportunities in
advanced manufacturing sectors in China. Key investment areas
include unlisted companies in related industries such as new
materials, terminal equipment, biotechnology and new-generation
information technology. The investment scope includes products
such as primary equity and bonds (including convertible bonds).

EARAKREREESER ORY) AR QA is the general
partner of REEMESE and has a team with extensive
investment experience and industry resources in advanced
manufacturing industry. As at 31 March 2024, the Group's
holdings in B <Efn &£ amounted to HK$490.04 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

China’s advanced manufacturing sector is experiencing rapid
technological innovation and market expansion. The research
and development and application of new materials are growing,
and the high-end equipment manufacturing industry is in a
stage of rapid development. The biotechnology industry has a
broad market prospect in the medical and life sciences sectors,
and the new generation of information technology has had a
profound impact on various industries. RSB E S covers
these industries with significant growth potential and the Group
believes that the subscription will provide the Group with
an opportunity to participate in the future economic growth
and benefit from the rapid development of China’s advanced
manufacturing sector, which is expected to inject new growth
momentum into our investment portfolio.

Listed Equity Investment

As at 31 March 2024, Wealthink Al's holdings in the listed equity
investment category amounted to HK$217.91 million. During the
Year, Wealthink Al made new investments in and divestments
from some listed securities to enhance the capital liquidity and
generated returns from capital gains.

Save as disclosed herein, there had been no material change in
the development or future development of the Group’s business
and financial position, and no important event affecting the
Group had occurred since the publication of the Company’s
annual report for the year ended 31 March 2023.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Financial position

Net asset value: As at 31 March 2024, the Group's net asset value
was HK$9,912.62 million, or HK$0.94 per share, as compared to
HK$10,010.76 million and HK$0.95 per share respectively as at
31 March 2023.

Gearing: The gearing ratio, which was calculated on the basis of
total liabilities over total equity as at 31 March 2024, was 0.15
(31 March 2023: 0.14).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERWR DT

Investments in associates and joint ventures: It represents our
interests in companies accounted for using equity method such
as CSOP and Treasure Up Ventures Limited (“Treasure Up”), etc.
Assets value stood at HK$656.50 million as at 31 March 2024,
representing a decrease of 28.79% as compared to HK$921.86
million as at 31 March 2023, mainly due to share of loss of
Treasure Up and disposal of an associate along with disposal of a
subsidiary during the Year.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss: It stood at
HK$6,580.36 million as at 31 March 2024, representing a
decrease of 1.17% as compared to HK$6,658.22 million as at 31
March 2023, mainly attributable to the depreciation of RMB.

Debt investments: It represents the investments in debt
instruments as at 31 March 2024, which amounted to
HK$3,749.49 million. The increase of 11.34% as compared
to HK$3,367.46 million as at 31 March 2023 was due to new
investments during the Year.

Bank and cash balances: As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s bank
and cash balances stood at HK$45.01 million (31 March 2023:
HK$108.36 million). We manage our bank and cash balances
principally on the basis of making good use of capital to achieve
returns for shareholders and ensuring sufficient liquidity for our
working capital requirements.

RESULTS

The Group recorded a total revenue of HK$308.33 million during
the Year, representing an increase of 59.97% as compared to
HK$192.74 million for the same period last year. The Group
recorded profit for the Year of HK$53.65 million as compared
to HK$146.38 million for the same period last year. Current
year's results comprised of HK$308.33 million of revenue mainly
generated from debt investments, HK$77.66 million of net other
income and gains, but offset by HK$38.80 million of net change
in unrealised loss on investments at fair value through profit or
loss, HK$99.10 million of share of losses of associates and joint
ventures, HK$86.37 million of finance costs, HK$61.94 million of
operating and administrative expenses and HK$41.92 million of
net realised loss on disposal of investments.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income

Revenue mainly represents the income received and receivable on
investments during the Year as follows:
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HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT

Dividend income™ R% B U A D = 1,038
Interest revenue® FBUWZE 308,329 191,703
308,329 192,741

(1) Dividends received and receivable from listed securities during the year
ended 31 March 2023.

(2) Interest revenue was primarily generated from the Group’s debt
investments as well as term deposit in banks.

Other income and gains, net: The other income and gains, net
mainly represents the net gain on disposal of subsidiaries of
HK$84.31 million (FY2022/2023: net loss of HK$1.54 million)
during the Year. Unlisted investment funds, unlisted debt
investments and listed securities included in investments at fair
value through profit or loss, and private equity investments
included in investments in associates were divested along with
the disposal of subsidiaries.

Net change in unrealised loss on investments at fair value
through profit or loss: The net change in unrealised loss of
HK$38.80 million (FY2022/2023: HK$78.61 million) mainly
represents the net results of unlisted investment funds, private
equity investments and listed securities with unrealised loss of
HK$296.45 million, but offset by unrealised gain of HK$257.65
million.

Net realised loss on disposal of investments. The realised loss of
HK$41.92 million (FY2022/2023: HK$8.19 million) during the
Year mainly represents loss from disposal of listed securities and
an unlisted equity investment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERWR DT

Operating and administrative expenses: The operating and
administrative expenses totaling HK$61.94 million (FY2022/2023:
HK$77.23 million) were mainly staff costs, legal and professional
fees, depreciation, etc. The decrease in operating and
administrative expenses was primarily driven by decrease of
depreciation of right-of-use assets as a result of office relocation.

Share of (losses)/profits of associates and joint ventures. A net
loss of HK$99.10 million (FY2022/2023: net profit of HK$87.54
million) mainly accounted for share of results of CSOP and
Treasure Up. The significant decrease was mainly due to share of
loss of Treasure Up during the Year.

Other comprehensive expense: Changes in the Group's net asset
“profit for the year”,
are recorded under “other comprehensive expense”. Other
comprehensive expense of HK$151.79 million (FY2022/2023:
HK$119.45 million) represents the exchange differences, primarily
due to the depreciation of RMB during the Year.

value, which are not accounted for in

DIVIDEND POLICY AND PROPOSED FINAL
DIVIDEND

In considering whether to declare and/or recommend the
payment of dividends to the Shareholders, the Board will take
into account factors including but not limited to the Group’s
overall financial position; cash flow; future operating and
administrative expenses; future investment plans; the regional
and global economic conditions and other factors that may have
an impact on the investment market. The Board has resolved not
to pay any final dividend in respect of the Year (FY2022/2023:
nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group's major sources of revenue currently is interest revenue
from bank deposits and financial instruments held.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had bank and cash balances
of HK$45.01 million (31 March 2023: HK$108.36 million). The
Group had an aggregate of HK$1,417.41 million loans as at
31 March 2024 (31 March 2023: HK$1,280.39 million), which
primarily comprised of bank loans from our principal bankers
and interest-bearing borrowings from third parties. The debt-
to-equity ratio (interest-bearing external borrowings divided
by shareholders’ equity) stood at 14.30% (31 March 2023:
12.09%) while the debt ratio (total borrowings divided by total
assets) was 12.41% (31 March 2023: 11.26%). The current ratio
(current assets divided by current liabilities) was 4.35 times (31
March 2023: 4.18 times). For further analysis of the Group’s cash
position, assets and gearing, please refer to paragraphs under
subsections headed “Financial Position”.

The Board believes that our operations and borrowing resources
are sufficient to provide funding to satisfy our ongoing
investment and working capital requirements for the foreseeable
future.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 March 2024, shareholders’ equity and the total number
of shares in issue of the Company stood at HK$9,912.62 million
(31 March 2023: HK$10,010.76 million) and 10,520,324,505 (31
March 2023: 10,520,324,505), respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERWR DT

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
OF INVESTMENTS

The Group had the following material acquisitions as well as
disposals of investments during the Year.

KREBRBZERREBEMEE

AEBRAFEAUATERRBLRLERE
HA e

New/Additional Divestment/

Investments Disposal

i Mg E B /HERE

(HK$ million) (HK$ million)

(BEBHEET) (BEBEHET)
Unlisted equity investment FLEMEREE 1,707.63" (156.79)®
Debt investment BEEEE 1,471.95@ (1,054.28)®
Fund investment EeRE 489.00® (1,675.29)"
Listed equity investment TR E 168.904 (450.71)®

Total 5t 3,837.48 (3,337.07)

(1) Represents the Group’s investment in 2 private equity investments
during the Year.

(2) Represents the Group's 14 debt investments during the Year.

(3)  Represents the Group’s investment in 1 unlisted fund investment during
the Year.

(4) Represents the Group's investments in 9 listed securities during the
Year.

(5) Represents the Group’s divestment from 3 private equity investments
during the Year.

(6) Represents the Group's divestment from 6 debt investments during the
Year.

(7) Represents the Group's divestment from 3 unlisted fund investments
during the Year.

(8) Represents the Group's divestment from 6 listed securities during the
Year.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment information of the Group is set out in note 8 to the
consolidated financial statements on pages 204 to 206 of this
report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ADVANCE TO ENTITY

On 25 May 2023, 30 May 2023, 5 June 2023 and 8 June
2023, the Company, through its wholly-owned subsidiary,
subscribed for guaranteed bonds due 2024 (the "2023
Bonds”) issued by Hong Kong Nanshan Development Limited
(“Nanshan Development”) in the respective principal amount
of HK$197,000,000, HK$197,000,000, HK$330,000,000, and
HK$251,000,000. As at 31 March 2024, the balances due from
Nanshan Development in respect of the subscription of the 2023
Bonds (excluding any accrued interest and provision for ECL)
amounted to HK$975,000,000. The 2023 Bonds bore interest
at the rate of 7.5% per annum and matured on 23 May 2024.
Nanshan Group Co., Ltd would unconditionally and irrevocably
guarantee the due payment of all sums expressed to be payable
by Nanshan Development under the 2023 Bonds and the trust
deed(s) constituting the 2023 Bonds. Up to the date of report,
the amounts have been fully settled.

EMPLOYEES

As of 31 March 2024, the Group had 32 employees (31
March 2023: 33), inclusive of all Directors of the Company
and its subsidiaries. Total staff costs for the Year amounted to
HK$16.10 million (FY2022/2023: HK$17.03 million). The Group's
remuneration policies are in line with market practices and are
determined on the basis of the performance and experience of
individual employees.

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2024, there were no
contributions forfeited by the Group on behalf of its employees
who leave the plan prior to vesting fully in such contribution,
nor had there been any utilization of such forfeited contributions
to reduce future contributions. As at 31 March 2023 and 2024,
no forfeited contributions were available for utilization by the
Group to reduce the existing level of contributions as described
in paragraph 26(2) of Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERWR DT

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

During the Year, the Board did not grant any share option under
the Company’s share option scheme to any Directors or eligible
employees of the Group and there were no granted share options
exercised (FY2022/2023: nil). As at 31 March 2024, there were
nil (31 March 2023: nil) share options that remained outstanding
under the share option scheme.

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN
EXCHANGE RATES AND RELATED HEDGES

As at 31 March 2024, the Group was exposed to foreign
exchange risk arising from financial instruments that are
monetary items including certain investments at fair value
through profit or loss, debt investment, interest receivables,
other receivables, bank balances, borrowings, lease liabilities
and other payables (31 March 2023: investments at fair value
through profit or loss, interest receivables, loans and other
receivables, bank balances, borrowings and lease liabilities and
other payables). These assets were denominated in RMB and the
maximum exposure to foreign exchange risk was RMB2,632.18
million, equivalent to HK$2,837.35 million (31 March 2023:
RMB2,039.41 million, equivalent to HK$2,329.01 million).

As at 31 March 2024, the Group held certain financial assets
which were denominated in USD. The Board is of the opinion
that the Group's exposure to USD foreign exchange risk is
minimal as HKD is pegged to USD based on the Linked Exchange
Rate System in Hong Kong.

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS AND
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2024, save as certain interests in an associate,
investments at fair value through profit or loss and debt
investment are pledged for the Group’s bank loans, these were
no charge on the Group's assets.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS AND
THEIR EXPECTED SOURCES OF FUNDING

As at 31 March 2024, there were no plans for material
investments or capital assets, but the Group may, at any point,
be negotiating potential investments. The Company considers
new investments as part of its daily business, and therefore
management may publically announce these plans as they
become necessarily disclosable to shareholders during the course
of the financial year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SECURITIES

The Group or any of its subsidiaries has not purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Group’s securities during the Year.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The 2023 Bonds were fully redeemed by Nanshan Development
on 23 May 2024, in the respective principal amounts of
HK$197,000,000, HK$197,000,000, HK$330,000,000, and
HK$251,000,000.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EENEREEAERHE

Brief biographical details of Directors and senior management are
stated below:

DIRECTOR
Executive Director

Dr. LIU Zhiwei, aged 57, has been appointed as Chairman of
the Board and the chairman of the Nomination Committee from
16 December 2020 to 8 June 2023, and an executive Director
of the Company since 16 April 2019. From 16 April 2019 to 16
December 2020 and from 29 December 2021 to 14 March 2022,
he was the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. From June
2016 to June 2018, he was an executive Director, the president
of the Company, and a member of the Corporate Governance
Committee. From December 2015 to June 2016, he served as
a non-executive Director of the Company. Dr. Liu obtained a
bachelor’s degree in Industrial Management Engineering from
Zhe Jiang University in 1989. He furthered his studies in Graduate
School of the People’s Bank of China between 1989 and 1992
and obtained his master's degree in international finance. In
2007, he obtained a doctoral degree in Economics & Law from
Hunan University. Dr. Liu completed a professional programme
in Finance CEO from Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business
in 2010. Dr. Liu has over 20 years of experience in financing,
securities investment and capital market. Dr. Liu served as an
executive director of GoFintech Innovation Limited (formerly
known as China Fortune Financial Group Limited), the shares
of which are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) (stock code: 290),
from 22 August 2022 to 28 February 2024. He served as a non-
executive director of Shanghai Zendai Property Limited (stock
code: 755), whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange, for
the period from 2 February 2010 to 12 December 2012. He
was the Vice Chairman of Chang’an International Trust Co.,
Ltd (formerly known as Xi'an International Trust Co., Ltd) from
2008 to 2011. Dr. Liu served as a supervisor of Xin Jiang Hui-
tong (Group) Co., Ltd (stock code: 415) from December 2005 to
December 2008, whose shares are listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange. He also served as a general manager of the merger
and acquisition department of Guosen Securities Co., Ltd from
1997 to 1998. Currently, Dr. Liu also serves as the Director of
several subsidiaries of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Non-executive Directors

Dr. WANG Qin, aged 58, was appointed as a non-executive
Director on 31 May 2023. He was appointed as the Chairman
of the Board and the chairman of the Nomination Committee
on 8 June 2023. Dr. Wang obtained a Bachelor’s degree in
Economics from Zhengzhou University in 1987; a Master's
degree in Finance from the Graduate School of the People’s
Bank of China in 1995; and a PhD degree in Economics from
the Graduate School of the People’s Bank of China in 2003. Dr.
Wang has over 30 years’ experience in finance, investment and
fund management. The major appointments of Dr. Wang include
working at the Securities Department of Hainan Hong Kong and
Macao International Trust Company Limited (& & 7% 8 B B =
AR AA]) from 1991 to 1993; serving as the deputy general
manager of Sanya Oriental Industrial Company Limited ( =255
FEXRMARAFR) from 1993 to 1995; and serving as the
head of the Research Department of Guosen Securities Co., Ltd.
from 1997 to 2001. From 2017 to 2020, Dr. Wang served as the
general manager of ChiNext Qianhai Capital Co., Ltd. Dr. Wang
has substantial fund management experience including working
as the deputy general manager for Great Wall Fund Management
Co., Limited from 2002 to 2009; as the general manager for
Baoying Fund Management Co., Ltd. from 2010 to 2016; and as
the general manager for Changan Fund Management Co., Ltd.
from 2021 to April 2023.

Dr. FU Weigang, aged 46, was appointed as a non-executive
Director on 29 June 2018. Dr. Fu was re-designated from a non-
executive Director to an independent non-executive Director from
15 July 2019 to 10 October 2021, and re-designated from an
independent non-executive Director to a non-executive Director
since 11 October 2021. Dr. Fu obtained a bachelor of Law degree
from Xi’an University of Technology in 2000 and a PhD degree
from Zhejiang University in 2009. Dr. Fu is currently the president
of the Sifl Institute. Dr. Fu has served in the Sifl Institute since
2003 in various positions including Assistant President and
Vice President. Dr. Fu became an executive director of
FEEEER AR AR from 2023. Additionally, he serves as
an independent director of Kingnet Network Co., Ltd. and an
independent director of Jiaxing Kaishi Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (5

G EEMR BN BRAF) .
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEkSREEAERE

Dr. WANG Shibin, aged 46, has been appointed as a non-
executive Director since 11 October 2021. Dr. Wang obtained a
Bachelor's degree in International Trade from Dongbei University
of Finance and Economics in 2000, a Master's degree in Economics
from the Graduate School of the People’s Bank of China in 2004,
and a PhD degree from the PBC School of Finance (PBCSF),
Tsinghua University in 2010. Dr. Wang has nearly 20 years’
experience in international finance and investment banking. He
served as a foreign currency trader at China Development Bank
from 2004 to 2008 and the vice president in the Fixed Income
Rates and Derivatives Department of Goldman Sachs Asia from
2008 to 2010. Dr. Wang was appointed as the executive director
of Deutsche Bank, Greater China region, from 2010 to 2015. Dr.
Wang served as the managing director as well as chief marketing
officer of the Company from 2015 to 2017. Currently, Dr. Wang
is the co-founder and chief operation officer of Hong Kong Digital
Asset Ex Limited, as well as the chairman of the board of Chenghe
Acquisition | Co., a company listed on NASDAQ.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. CHEN Yuming, aged 61, has been re-designated from a non-
executive Director to an independent non-executive Director since
15 July 2019. He has been appointed as the chairman of the
Audit Committee, a member of the Remuneration Committee,
a member of the Nomination Committee and a member of the
Corporate Governance Committee since 23 October 2019. Mr.
Chen obtained a bachelor degree and a postgraduate qualification
from Jiangxi University of Finance and Economics in 1983 and
1999 respectively. He also obtained an EMBA from Cheung Kong
Graduate School of Business in 2010. Mr. Chen has more than 30
years of experience in banking, securities, fund management and
auditing. He is currently Chairman of Shenzhen Leaguer Financial
Holdings Company Limited, Chairman of Shanghai Leaguer
Financial Leasing Co., Ltd.. Prior to that, Mr. Chen had served in
Bank of East Asia (China) Co., Ltd. from 2007 to 2011 in various
positions including President of its Shenzhen Branch and Vice
President of its head office. From 1999 to 2006, Mr. Chen had
worked in the Shenzhen Commercial Bank, where he had first
served as Vice President, and later as President and Vice Chairman.
From 1993 to 1998, Mr. Chen had held various positions in the
head office of Shenzhen Urban Cooperative Bank, including
Assistant to President, General Manager of Credit Department and
Director of Business Department. He had served as Deputy Director
of Jiangsu Provincial Auditing Department from 1989 to 1992. He
had also served as Division Chief and Deputy Director of Jiangxi
Provincial Auditing Department from 1983 to 1989.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. YAN Xiaotian, aged 64, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director, chairman of Corporate
Governance Committee and member of Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee since 22
April 2022. Mr. Yan obtained his master degree in economics
from Graduate School of the Financial Research Institute of the
People’s Bank of China in 1986 (now known as PBC School
of Finance, Tsinghua University) and is a senior economist.
Mr. Yan has extensive experience in economic, financing and
management. Mr. Yan served as the president of the head office
of Bank of China Limited, the vice president of the Guangzhou
branch of CITIC Bank Corporation Limited (formerly known as
CITIC Industrial Bank Limited), the general manager of CITIC
Securities Co., Ltd. (Guangzhou), and a director and an executive
president of South China International Leasing Co., Ltd. Mr.
Yan is currently an independent non-executive director of ISP
Global Limited, a company which shares are listed on GEM of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8487) and an independent
director of Dagang Holding Group Ltd., a company which shares
are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 300103.
SZ). Mr. Yan previously served as an executive director of China
Youzan Limited (formerly known as China Innovationpay Group
Limited, a company which shares are listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 8083)), and, an independent non-
executive director of both Renaissance Asia Silk Road Group Ltd
(formerly known as China Billion Resources Limited) (stock code:
274) and Prosperity International Holdings (H.K.) Limited (stock
code: 803), companies which shares are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. ZHAO Kai, aged 56, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, chairman of Remuneration Committee
and member of Audit Committee, Nomination Committee
and Corporate Governance Committee since 22 April 2022.
Mr. Zhao obtained his Bachelor degree in Monetary Banking
from Southwestern University of Finance and Economics in
1989, and a Master degree in International Finance from the
Graduate School of the People’s Bank of China in 1992. Mr. Zhao
previously served as the general manager of Guangzhou Business
Department (from 2000 to 2005 and from 2009 to 2011) and
Beijing Business Department (from 2005 to 2009) of Southwest
Securities Company Ltd. From 2012, Mr. Zhao became the
deputy general manager of the Institutional Client Department,
Southwest Securities Company Ltd..
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEkSREEAERE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Dr. QIAO Bingya, aged 53, was appointed as Chief Executive
Officer of the Company in March 2022. Dr. Qiao obtained a
Bachelor degree in Economics from Renmin University of China in
1993, a Master degree in Economics from Graduate School of the
Financial Research Institute of the People’s Bank of China in 1996
and a Doctor of Philosophy in Economics from Renmin University
of China in 2001. Dr. Qiao has years of experiences in securities
regulation and inspection. Prior to joining the Company, Dr. Qiao
held a number of senior management positions at the China
Securities Regulatory Commission from year 1998 to year 2012
and he also served as an assistant executive president and a
member of the executive committee at Bank of China Investment
Management Co., Ltd from year 2012 to year 2016. From
June 2019 to September 2021, Dr. Qiao served as an executive
director of Renaissance Asia Silk Road Group Limited (formerly
China Billion Resources Limited), a company listed on the Stock
Exchange. Currently, Dr. Qiao also serves as the director of a
subsidiary of the Company.
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The directors (“Directors”) of Wealthink Al-Innovation Capital
Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries,
collectively referred to as the “Group”) are pleased to present
their annual report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 (the
"Year").

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company is an investment company incorporated with
limited liability as an exempted company in the Cayman Islands
on 26 July 2002. The principal investment objective is to achieve
earnings for the Company in the form of medium to long term
capital appreciation through investing in a diversified portfolio
of global investments in listed and unlisted enterprises. The
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in the section headed
“19. SUBSIDIARIES” under Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment information of the Group is set out in the section
headed “8. Segment Information” under Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend.
RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and of
the Company during the Year are set out in the Consolidated
Statement of Changes in Equity and the section headed “33.
Reserves” under Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
respectively.
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ESEHRE

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company
during the Year are set out in the Consolidated Statement of
Changes in Equity and the section headed “31. Share Capital”
under Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to
Shareholders by reason of their holdings in Shares.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 March 2024
amounted to HK$8,715,454,000.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company's Articles of Association (the “Articles”) or the laws
of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders
("Shareholders™).

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out in Financial Summary.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
Year.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover
for Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions
against its Directors and senior management arising out of
corporate activities. The permitted indemnity provision is in force
for the benefit of the Directors as required by section 470 of the
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622, laws of Hong Kong) when this
report prepared by the Directors is approved in accordance with
section 391(1)(a) of the Companies Ordinance.

SHARE OPTIONS

Information about the share options of the Company during the
Year is set out in the section headed “35. Share-based Payments”
under Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive Director

Dr. LIU Zhiwei

Non-executive Directors

Dr. WANG Qin

Dr. FU Weigang

Dr. WANG Shibin

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. CHEN Yuming

Mr. YAN Xiaotian
Mr. ZHAO Kai
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Article 113 of the Company’s Articles of Association provides that
at each annual general meeting of the Company, one-third of the
Directors for the time being, or, if their number is not three or a
multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than
one-third, shall retire from office by rotation. Dr. Wang Shibin,
Mr. Yan Xiaotian and Mr. Zhao Kai will retire from office at the
forthcoming annual general meeting in accordance with Article
113 of the Company’s Articles of Association. All of them, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The Company confirms that it has received from each of the
INEDs an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company considers the
INEDs are independent. The reasons are given in the “Corporate
Governance Report” to this report.

Biographical details of the Directors as at the date of this annual
report are set out in the “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management” to this report.

DIRECTORS" SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Directors either has entered into a service contract
or appointment letter for a specific term with the Company or
was appointed for a specific term, any of which is not more
than three years. All of the Directors are subject to retirement
by rotation in accordance with the Articles. No director offering
for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has
entered into a service contract with the Company which is not
terminable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation other than the normal statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS" INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Connected
transactions” in this report and in the sections headed “13.
DIRECTORS', CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES" EMOLUMENTS” and “39. RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS” under Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements, no other contracts of significance in relation to the
Group's business to which the Company, any of its subsidiaries
or its fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which any Director
of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during
the Year.

Wealthink Al-Innovation Capital Limited / Annual Report 2023/24
ENERREBRAA / F302023/24

ARAPEBERAAUENMERE RAR
ABERRBEFRKE L Z0Z2 —WERE
F(RWEABTRE=Z=0F & BI&%
MEADR=ZDZ O AB)ARBERET
FTEEL BEAEERBEIEESRE
AR RS ERZ AR B3R B E R R A
FRAELRE-WEHTAERAMBEE -

ARRER CERERSBIFNTESRE
ETRAEIRBELZFREB LIRS
MARBRSBLIFATESTHBB LR
AERAmEz [EEEEREIN-

RAFHRAPZETEEFBENARE [E
EREREBRAEHE] -

EERBEL

REFCHEARAFZEETHNRBEE L
FRERAEZTEEEH BEEHIZ
R=F 2BEFARESEHANBESE-
MEREERRBFAS LBERETCES
BARBFARA AR —FABARE
(—RZEEMERIMFAKIEZRBEA
e

EE A/

BAREZBERS] —BRAREEMH
BRMEZMB.EF T2TBRABRES
ERFREEMSIRI3.BBALRS]M
BREIN  NAFE I HAFEAET AR
METAARBAEERARA - T E
NSRS SEES VNS EIRVATTE RN SETE S
BMEBEAZENTERIHEZRREREM
EW NIl



DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

The following Director is considered to have interests in business
which compete or are likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Company (“Competing
Business”) during the Year:

Name of Director Name of Company

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEHRE

EENHFRHNER

DAT%%%&%EEEKi?W&%K“ﬂ%WE
ERMERFAAEBRFORE ([BFX
%%J)EP%%%E&:

Description of
Competing Business

Nature of interest

BEEHE DR EB e g pl EEME
Dr. LIU Zhiwei GoFintech Innovation Limited (note) Money lending Director
MEREL BEalFAERLIA (M) mE ==

Note: Dr. LIU Zhiwei resigned from executive director of GoFintech Innovation
Limited on 28 February 2024.

DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its
associated corporation(s) (within the meaning of Part XV of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")) which were
notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which
they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO), or which were recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or which were
required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) in the Listing
Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
were as follows:
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Long positions and/or short position in shares
and underlying shares of the Company:

(L) denotes Long position.

RAERTROREBROGZFRAR
FRA:

(L R

Number of ordinary shares/Underlying shares held in the Company

RERAFFALEER HBEROEE

As to % to the

Interests under capital of the

equity Company as at
Name of director Nature of Interests Interests in shares derivatives 31 March 2024
{EZF"ﬂ
BAGTETR :H:‘|'—E|
EEng EatE RRGZESE BHTER ZREABDH
(note 1)
(BI&ET)
Dr. LIU Zhiwei Beneficial owner and interest of 2,751,339,130 (L) - 26.15
controlled corporation
MEEELT BB ARZES 2 ARER
Notes: MfsT -
(1) The percentage of shareholding was calculated on the basis of the (1) BEBS L DIEARAGTA T _MNFE=A

Company'’s issued share capital of 10,520,324,505 shares as at 31
March 2024.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company had any interest or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations that was
required to be recorded pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2024, so far as the Directors or Chief Executive
of the Company are aware, the following corporation and
persons other than a Director or the chief executive of the
Company had an interest or a short position in the Shares and
underlying Shares, which were required to be disclosed pursuant
to the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which were required pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein:
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REATROREBEROZEFER,
RAE

Long positions and/or short position in shares
and underlying shares of the Company:
BEFR-

(L) denotes long position. (L)

Number of ordinary shares/Underlying shares held in the Company

REDBRELEER HHEROHA

Interests under

As to % to the
capital of the

Capacity in which Interests equity Company as at
Name of shareholders interest are held in shares derivatives 31 March 2024
NN
R-BE-WmF
RATETR =A=+—H
BRERMEA BEEEREZ 7 RGO ZESE BTIER ZREABDH
(note 1)
(BF&ET)
Acorn Harvest (note 2) Beneficial owner 1,605,150,622 (L) - 15.26
Acorn Harvest (Fff352) EnlEAA
Blossom International (note 2) Interest of controlled 1,605,150,622 (L) - 15.26
corporation
Blossom International (MiF2) =%z Ar#Ez
YANG Fang (note 2) Interest of controlled 1,605,150,622 (L) - 15.26
corporation
YANG Fang (Kfz£2) R /NG
Ming Yang (note 3) Interest of controlled 1,209,939,000 (L) - 11.50
corporation
Ming Yang (ff53) 2k /NI 3
Tycoon Champ (note 3) Interest of controlled 1,209,939,000 (L) - 11.50
corporation
BE (MFE3) SPEHl 2 A ElEE
Bright Victory (note 4) Beneficial owner 978,260,870 (L) - 9.30
Y Bk (B 5E4) EmEEA
TCHL (note 4) Interest of controlled 978,260,870 (L) - 9.30

TCHL (P 5E4)

corporation
XEHlz ARER
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Name of shareholders

BRR A

Number of ordinary shares/Underlying shares held in the Company

Capacity in which
interest are held

BEESZHH

Interests
in shares
RBRH 2 EE

REAARSALEER HBROHA

As to % to the
capital of the
Company as at
31 March 2024
R NN
R-B-OmF
=A=+-H
ZREBDH
(note 1)
(FfisE1)

Interests under
equity
derivatives

BRAETETA
BT R

TIMGCL (note 4)
TIMGCL (Ff7%4)
TIHCL (note 4)
TIHCL (Hf7E4)
WU Gang (note 4)
WU Gang (Fffzt4)

Hong Sheng (note 5)
Hong Sheng (Fff3%5)

CHEN Jiabin (note 5)

CHEN Jiabin (FHf5E5)

Interest of controlled
corporation
PGl c RE R

Interest of controlled
corporation
R /NG

Interest of controlled
corporation
PG c NE R

Beneficial owner

EZBAA

Interest of controlled
corporation
2 AN

978,260,870 (L)

978,260,870 (L)

978,260,870 (L)

812,263,200 (L)

812,263,200 (L)

Notes:

(1

The percentage of shareholding was calculated on the basis of the
Company's issued share capital of 10,520,324,505 shares as at 31
March 2024.

This represented 1,605,150,622 shares held by Acorn Harvest Holdings
Limited (“Acorn Harvest”). Acorn Harvest is a wholly owned subsidiary
of Blossom International Investment Holdings Limited (“Blossom
International”). Blossom International is in turn beneficially wholly
owned by Ms. YANG Fang. By virtue of the SFO, each of Acorn Harvest,
Blossom International and Ms. YANG Fang is deemed to be interested
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company held by Acorn
Harvest.
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#Z 5 B M Acorn Harvest Holdings Limited
([Acorn Harvest |)#5 %5 #91,605,150,622 %
B {7 © Acorn Harvest 7 Blossom International
Investment Holdings Limited ([Blossom
International | ) 2 2 & [t & 2 &) o # Blossom
International B9 YANG Fang @ + 2 E B A °
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This represented an aggregate (“Aggregated Shares”) of the
197,400,000 shares held by CVAM Investment Fund SPC, acting on
behalf and for the accounts of CVAM Greater China Selected Fixed
Income SP, the 20,000,000 shares held by Ming Yang International
Opportunities SPC, acting on behalf and for the accounts of Ming Yang
International Opportunities Fund SP2, the 204,752,000 shares held by
Ming Yang International Opportunities SPC, acting on behalf and for
the accounts of Ming Yang International Opportunities Fund SP6, and
the 787,787,000 shares held by Ming Yang International Opportunities
SPC, acting on behalf and for the accounts of Ming Yang International
Opportunities Fund SP1. By virtue of the SFO, Ming Yang Capital
Limited ("Ming Yang”), and Tycoon Champ Limited (“Tycoon Champ”)
who owns 100% of the issued share capital in Ming Yang, are deemed
to be interested in the Aggregated Shares.

This represented 978,260,870 shares held by Bright Victory International
Limited (“Bright Victory”). Bright Victory is a wholly owned subsidiary
of Tong Chuang Holdings Limited (“TCHL"). TCHL is in turn a wholly
subsidiary of Tongchuangjiuding Investment Management Group Co.,
Ltd. ("TIMGCL") while 46.29% of the issued share capital of TIMGCL is
owned by Tongchuang Jiuding Investment Holdings Co. Ltd. ("TJIHCL").
35.00% of the issued share capital of TJIHCL is beneficially owned by
Mr. WU Gang. By virtue of the SFO, each of TJIHCL, TIMGCL, TCHL and
Mr. WU Gang is deemed to be interested in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company held by Bright Victory.

This represented 812,263,200 shares held by Hong Sheng Universe
Limited (“Hong Sheng”). Mr. CHEN Jiabin owns 100% of the issued
share capital in Hong Sheng. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. CHEN lJiabin is
deemed to be interested in the shares held by Hong Sheng.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, the Company
has not been notified by any other persons, not being a Director
or chief executive of the Company, who has interests or short
positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
representing 5% or more of the Company’s issued share capital.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEHRE

(3) ZZ#EIES T H CVAM Investment Fund SPC
R &K K% ACVAM Greater China Selected Fixed
Income SP R B 17 = M5 46 2197,400,0004%
%15« Ming Yang International Opportunities
SPCHE & AMing Yang International
Opportunities Fund SP2BRB{TEMH B 2
20,000,0000% f% {7 * Ming Yang International
Opportunities SPC K& & & Ming Yang
International Opportunities Fund SP68E B 17
% {fi # 8 2204,752,0000% 1 A & Ming Yang
International Opportunities SPC X3 & & Ming
Yang International Opportunities Fund SP1
BRBfTEM¥E A 2787,787,0000 1 ([ & &t
B l) - RIEFEEH LI EKD - Ming Yang
Capital Limited ([Ming Yang |) & # % Ming
Yang B # 1T A100% B ZH R A A ([E
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(4) ZERmEHEABBEEAERQA ([E])F
5,2978,260,870/% 12 15 ° ¥ B 72 Tong Chuang
Holdings Limited ([TCHL]) 22 & W B R
A) e # TCHL & Tongchuangjiuding Investment
Management Group Co., Ltd. ([TIMGCL]J)
ZEEWEAR MTIMGCL 246.29% B %
77 B% A Bll 8 Tongchuang Jiuding Investment
Holdings Co. Ltd. ([TJIHCL])# A  TIHCLE
BTN WU Gang e & Bz #H35.00% ©
IR % K HE &M TIHCL  TIMGCL » TCHL
RWU Gang £ & BHEB AR AERIESE 2K
NEROREEROPEEER -

(5) &% Z M zE1EHong Sheng Universe Limited
([Hong Sheng ]) #§%5 2812,263,2000% A% 17 ©
CHEN Jiabin %o £ ¥ Hong Sheng 2 2 82 %
TR « 1R I5 78 55 R i & % ) - CHEN Jiabin 5t
£ 18 B Hong Sheng# 8 2 &1y & i A 1
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DIRECTORS" RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

Apart from the share option scheme disclosed under Notes to
the Consolidated Financial Statements, at no time during the
Year was the Company, any of its subsidiaries or its associated
corporations a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors
or chief executive of the Company to acquire any interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company or its associated corporations.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emoluments of the Directors of the Company are subject to
review and recommendation to the Board by the Remuneration
Committee and then fixed by the Board with the authorization of
the Shareholders at a general meeting.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of its Directors, as at the
date of this report, there is a public float of more than 25% of
the issued capital of the Company.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, WARRANTS, OR
SIMILAR RIGHTS

As at 31 March 2024, no convertible securities, options, warrants
or similar rights issued or granted by the Company remained
outstanding.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the paragraph below the Investment
Management Agreement and the section headed “39. Related
Party Transactions” under Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements and employment contracts, no other contracts
concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the Year.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, the Company had the following connected
transactions, certain details of which are disclosed in compliance
with the requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Company's INEDs have reviewed the continuing connected
transactions and confirmed that all continuing connected
transactions have been entered into:

(1) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(2)  on normal commercial terms or better; and

(3) according to the agreement governing them on terms
that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Shareholders as a whole.

Fully exempt continuing connected transactions
Investment Management Agreement

Pursuant to the investment management agreement dated 13
September 2022 (the “Investment Management Agreement”),
the Company appointed Fortune Asset Management Limited
(“Fortune Asset”) as its investment manager to provide
investment management services for a period commencing on 13
September 2022 to 12 September 2025. Under the Investment
Management Agreement, the Company will pay Fortune Asset
a management fee and performance fee. The management fee
for the first year of the Investment Management Agreement was
calculated at 0.012% per annum of the net asset value of the
Company. From the second year, the management fee will be
calculated at such other percentage figure as agreed between the
Company and Fortune Asset. The performance fee was calculated
by reference to the increase in the net asset value per share of
the Company.
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During the Year, the management fee paid/payable by the
Company under the Investment Management Agreement to
Fortune Asset was HK$915,000 (2023: HK$643,000).

Fortune Asset is regarded as a connected person of the
Company by virtue of Rule 14A.08 of the Listing Rules because
it is the investment manager of the Company. The Investment
Management Agreement constitutes a continuing connected
transaction of the Company. As all the applicable percentage
ratios with reference to the largest annual cap of the Investment
Management Agreement are less than 0.1%, the Investment
Management Agreement is fully exempt from shareholders’
approval, annual review and all disclosure requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Fortune Asset ceased to be the investment manager of the
Company on 29 December 2023.

New Investment Management Agreement

Pursuant to the investment management agreement dated
29 December 2023 (the “New Investment Management
Agreement”), the Company appointed Honor Capital (HK)
Limited (formerly known as Blue Carbon Taiyue Capital (HK)
Limited) (“Honor Capital”) as its investment manager to provide
investment management services for a period commencing on
1 January 2024 to 31 March 2025. Under the New Investment
Management Agreement, the Company will pay Honor Capital a
management fee. The management fee for the first and second
year of the New Investment Management Agreement will be
HK$960,000 for each year.

During the Year, the management fee paid/payable by the
Company under the New Investment Management Agreement to
Honor Capital was HK$240,000 (2023: nil).
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Honor Capital is regarded as a connected person of the Company
by virtue of Rule 14A.08 of the Listing Rules because it is the
investment manager of the Company. The New Investment
Management Agreement constitutes a continuing connected
transaction of the Company. As all the applicable percentage
ratios with reference to the largest annual cap of the New
Investment Management Agreement are less than 0.1%, the
New Investment Management Agreement is fully exempt
from shareholders’ approval, annual review and all disclosure
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

All of the connected transactions entered by the Group above
have complied with the applicable disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Fair review of the Company’s business and likely
future development

Please refer to the section headed “Investment Review"” under
Management Discussion and Analysis.

Principal risks and uncertainties
Please refer to the section headed “5. Financial Risk
Management” under Notes to the Consolidated Financial

Statements.

Important events after the end of the financial
year

Please refer to the section headed "EVENTS AFTER THE
REPORTING PERIOD” under Management Discussion and Analysis.

Environmental protection

Please refer to the section headed “Environmental Responsibility”
under the Environmental, Social and Governance Report.
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Compliance with laws and regulations

Please refer to the section headed “Compliance Operation”
under the Environmental, Social and Governance Report.

Operating policies

Please refer to the sections headed “Responsible Investment”
and “Social Responsibility” under the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report.

Company'’s key relationships with its employees

Please refer to the section headed “Human Resources
Responsibility” under the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report.

Community investment

Please refer to the section headed “Social Responsibility” under
the Environmental, Social and Governance Report.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

Details of the retirement benefit scheme of the Group are
set out in the sections headed “3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES”, “12. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR” and “13. DIRECTORS’,
CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS"” under Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) in accordance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing
Rules. Amongst other duties, the principal duties of the Audit
Committee are to review the interim and annual results and
internal control system of the Company.

The Audit Committee currently comprises three independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. Chen Yuming, Mr. Yan Xiaotian
and Mr. Zhao Kai. Mr. Chen Yuming is the chairman of the Audit
Committee.

The audited consolidated financial statements for the Year have
been reviewed by the Audit Committee.
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the Year have been
audited by ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited who retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming

annual general meeting.

A resolution to re-appoint the retiring auditor, ZHONGHUI ANDA
CPA Limited, will be submitted at the forthcoming annual general

meeting of the Company.

The consolidated financial statements for years ended 31 March
2022 and 2023 were audited by ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited.

On behalf of the Board
Wealthink Al-Innovation Capital Limited

WANG Qin
Chairman

Hong Kong SAR, 21 June 2024
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TRERME

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES AND
PRACTICES

Wealthink Al-Innovation Capital Limited (the “Company”) and
its board (the “Board”) of directors (“Director’) strongly believes
that strict adherence to the highest governance standards is vital
to fulfilling its corporate responsibilities as a listed company.
The Directors and employees all endeavor to uphold and
nurture accountability, transparency, fairness and integrity in all
aspects of the operations of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the "Group”). We are committed to the highest governance
standards by regularly reviewing and enhancing our governance
practices.

The principles set out in the Corporate Governance Code
("CG Code") in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules have been
adopted to shape our corporate governance structure. Except
otherwise stated in this corporate governance report (“Corporate
Governance Report”), the Company has complied with the
principles of the CG Code during the financial year ended 31
March 2024 (the “Year"). This report describes how the principles
of the CG Code were applied during the Year under different
aspects.

VALUES AND CULTURE

The primary purpose of the Company is to create value for our
shareholders. In recognition of the Company’s commitment to
corporate responsibility, the Company strives for maintaining
accountability to its employees, shareholders, investors and the
community. These purpose and values shape the Company’s
strategy and business model, which are geared towards building
a professional, market-oriented and international investment
platform whereby identifying opportunities and creating values
for shareholders.

The Company’s purpose, values and strategy form the
foundations of the Company's corporate culture. Our corporate
culture is based upon adherence to high ethical standards and
practices, and striving for sustainable corporate development.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

In an effort to uphold high ethical standards and practices
in all aspects of the operations of the Group whereby
promoting alignment of our purpose, values and strategy
with that of our culture, the Board approved the adoption
of the “"Whistleblowing, Anti-bribery and Corruption Policy”
in December 2022, embodying and replacing the “Policy on
Acceptance of Advantage and Handling of Conflict of Interest”
which had been implemented since 2011. With a view to creating
an anti-fraud culture and maintaining high ethical standards in
our operations, the Board approved the adoption of the “Policy
on Anti-Money Laundering, Counter-Terrorist Financing and
Counter-Proliferation Financing” in March 2024. Details of the
Company's “Whistleblowing, Anti-bribery and Corruption Policy”
are available on the Company's website.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND
ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL, AND
GOVERNANCE (“ESG")

The Company believes that a good corporate governance
system is the key to sustainable corporate development. As one
of the leading cross-border investors with its focus on China’s
fast-growing industries, the Company recognises its social
responsibilities to run a sustainable business that benefits its
stakeholders, namely its employees, shareholders, investors and
the community. To this end, the Company has been embracing
environmental, social, and governance concepts in its daily
operations and apply those concepts and considerations in
investment analysis (including evaluation of ESG risks) and
decision making.

The Company adheres to the principles of responsible investment
and strives to direct funds to solve urgent issues such as
environmental, social and governance issues while continuing
to explore green investment opportunities. During the Year,
the Company targeted its investments in “green” industries to
account for not less than 5% of the Company’s total investments.
In addition, the Company has paid particular attention to the
ESG-related risks associated with new investments and investment
targets, and is committed to leveraging its capital strength
to address the pressing ESG issues, including environmental
degradation and climate change. More information can be found
in the Company’s Environmental, Social, and Governance Report
2023/2024, which is available on the Company’s website.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE
COMPLIANCE

Except otherwise stated herein, none of the Directors is aware
of any information that would reasonably indicate that the
Company is not, or was not, at any time during the Year, in
compliance with the Corporate Governance Code.

Code Provision D.1.2

Under Code Provision D.1.2, management should provide all
members of the board with monthly updates which may include
monthly management accounts. During the Year, although
management accounts were not circulated to board members
on a monthly basis, regular verbal reports were given by
management to Directors from time to time, which Directors
consider to be sufficient and appropriate in the circumstances
in giving a balanced and understandable assessment of the
Company's performance to enable Directors to discharge their
duties.

DIRECTORS" SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a “Policy for Director and Employee
Dealings in the Company's Securities” the terms of which are
no less exacting than the required standard set out in the model
code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
("Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules. It is
also a regular practice of the Company to remind all Directors of
the black out period and the Model Code immediately before the

commencement of each black out period.

All Directors have confirmed that they have fully complied with
the Model Code and the aforesaid internal policy regarding
Directors’ securities transactions throughout the Year.

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s interests and/or short positions in
shares and underlying shares of the Company or any associated
corporation are disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ and
Chief Executive's Interests and/or Short Positions in the Shares
and Underlying Shares of the Company or Any Associated
Corporations” in the Directors’ Report.
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THE BOARD
Composition

The Board currently comprises seven members, namely one
executive Director, three non-executive Directors (“NEDs”) and
three independent non-executive Directors (“INEDs”). The INEDs
are either accounting or financial experts.

The Board's constitution is governed by (i) Article 105 of the
Articles of Association of the Company (the “Articles”) under
which the number of Directors shall not be less than two;
and (ii) Rules 3.10 and 3.10A of the Listing Rules under which
every board of Directors of a listed issuer must include at least
three independent non-executive Directors, at least one of the
independent non-executive Directors must have appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise, and an issuer must appoint independent
non-executive Directors representing at least one-third of the
board.

Guided by the principles laid down in the GC Codes, the Board
has a balanced composition of executive Director, NEDs and
INEDs to ensure that there is a balance of skills and experience
appropriate to the requirements of the business of the Group
and strong independent element on the Board, which can
effectively exercise independent judgement. There is no
relationship (including financial, business, family or other material
relationship) among members of the Board.

Executive Director

The executive Director of the Company is Dr. Liu Zhiwei. Dr. Liu
Zhiwei has been the chairman of the Board (“Chairman”) until 8
June 2023.

Non-executive Directors

The NEDs of the Company are Dr. Wang Qin, Dr. Fu Weigang
and Dr. Wang Shibin. Dr. Wang Qin was appointed the Chairman
on 8 June 2023. During the Year, Dr. Wang Qin, Dr. Fu Weigang
and Dr. Wang Shibin did not hold any management or executive
role in the Company other than holding the office of NEDs and
attending Board meetings.
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CRERRE

Independent Non-executive Directors

The INEDs of the Company are Mr. Chen Yuming, Mr. Yan
Xiaotian and Mr. Zhao Kai.

Mr. Chen Yuming has been re-designated from NED to INED with
effect from 15 July 2019. Mr. Yan Xiaotian and Mr. Zhao Kai
were appointed as INEDs since April 2022.

Independence of Independent Non-executive
Directors

To determine the independent non-executive Directors’
independence, assessments are carried out upon appointment,
annually and at any time where the circumstances warrant
reconsideration. The appointment of the INEDs are subject to
retirement by rotation of at least once every 3 years in accordance
with the Listing Rules and the Articles.

The Company confirms that it has received from each of the
INEDs an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company considers the
INEDs are independent in character and judgement, and fulfill
the independence guidelines.

Since the re-designation of Mr. Chen Yuming from NED to
INED and the appointment of Mr. Yan Xiaotian and Mr. Zhao
Kai as INED, they have not held any management or executive
role in the Company other than holding the office of INED
and attending Board meetings and committee meetings. They
and their immediate family members are not connected with
any Director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the
Company. They and their immediate family members did not have
any material interest in any business activity of or were involved
in any business dealings with the Company, its holding company
or any of their subsidiaries or with any core connected persons
of the Company. They and their immediate family members are
not financially dependent on the Company, its holding company
or any of their subsidiaries or core connected persons of the
Company. As at the date of this report and within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Mr. Chen
Yuming, Mr. Yan Xiaotian and Mr. Zhao Kai do not have any
interests in the shares of the Company.
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Other than the above, the Board is satisfied that none of the
factors set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules applies to their
redesignation or appointment as INEDs. Accordingly, the board
is satisfied and has demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Stock
Exchange that they are independent to act as INEDs pursuant to
Rule 3.14 of the Listing Rules.

The list of Directors identifying their roles and functions and
whether they are INEDs are available on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company.

Chairman and CEO

During the Year, Dr. Liu Zhiwei and Dr. Wang Qin served as
the Chairman of the Company, and Dr. Qiao Bingya served
as the CEO of the Company. There is a clear division of the
management of the Board and the day-to-day management of
business of the Group between the roles of the Chairman and
the CEO to ensure that power is not concentrated in any one
individual. The Chairman is mainly responsible for providing
leadership for the Board and ensuring that the Board works
effectively and performs its responsibilities, and that all key and
appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a timely manner.
The CEO is mainly responsible for implementing the strategies
and policies approved by the Board, monitoring the performance
and managing the day-to-day operation of the Group. There
is no relationship (including financial, business, family or other
material relationship) between the Chairman and the CEO.
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Board Diversity

The Board adopted its Board Diversity Policy in August 2013. A
summary of the policy is as follows:

Board diversity can be achieved through consideration of a
number of factors, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, or professional experience
appropriate to the Company’s business model and specific needs.
The Nomination Committee will: (i) discuss, agree and review
annually all measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the
Board and recommend them to the Board for adoption; (ii) report
annually, in the Corporate Governance Report of the Company’s
annual report, a summary of the policy, the measurable
objectives set for implementing the policy, and the progress made
towards achieving those objectives; and (iii) review the policy, as
appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the policy and discuss
any revisions that may be required, and recommend any such
revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.

The Board will review the effectiveness of the Board Diversity
Policy on an annual basis with a view to ensuring that the
Board will have a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the Company’s operation. The Board
is committed to gender diversity, and targets to appoint at least
one director of a different gender no later than 31 December
2024.

During the Year the gender ratio of the employees of the Group
was 15:17 and the gender ratio for senior management was
10:3. More information regarding the Group’s gender diversity at
workforce levels can be found in the Company’s Environmental,
Social, and Governance Report 2023/2024, which is available on
the Company's website.
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Responsibilities

The overall management of the Group’s business is vested in the
Board, which assumes responsibility for leadership and control
of the Group and is collectively responsible for promoting
success of the Group by directing and supervising its affairs. All
Directors make decisions objectively in the best interests of the
Group. The Board takes the responsibility for all major matters
of the Company including: the preparation of the accounts, the
approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies,
risk management and internal control systems, appointment
and retirement of Directors and other significant financial and
operational matters. It will regularly review the contribution
required from a Director to perform his responsibilities to the
Company, and whether he is spending sufficient time to perform
his duties. The executive Director is responsible for overseeing
the day-to-day management of the Group's operations and
implementation of the strategies set by the Board. The NEDs and
INEDs participate in board meetings bringing in their respective
expertise and experience to the Board. In addition, the INEDs
serve on the audit, remuneration, nomination and corporate
governance committees to bring an independent judgment on
issues of strategy, policy, performance, accountability, resources,
key appointments, standards of conduct and potential conflicts
of interests, if any. The management team, led by the CEO, is
delegated with the responsibilities of implementing the strategies
and policies approved by the Board, monitoring the performance
and managing the day-to-day operation of the Group. As the
Company is an investment company, investment management
services have been delegated to the investment manager; the
custodian services have been delegated to the custodian. The
delegated functions and performance are reviewed periodically
by the Board.

Independent Views

The Company has established the following mechanisms to
ensure that independent views and input are available to the
Board:

o When selecting and recommending candidates for
directorship, the Nomination Committee is required to
consider whether the candidates for INEDs satisfy the
independence requirements of the Listing Rules;
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o The chairman would hold meetings with the INEDs without
the presence of other directors at least annually; and

o the Board may seek independent professional advice, at the
Company’s expense, to ensure that they will have access to
accurate and relevant professional views in the performance
of their responsibilities.

During the reporting period, the Chairman has held 1 meeting
with the INEDs without the presence of other directors to discuss
the Company's strategy, director’s contributions, and their
independent view. The Board will review the implementation and
effectiveness of the above mechanisms on an annual basis.

Continuous Professional Development

All Directors should keep abreast of their responsibilities as
Directors and the Company’s business and activities. The secretary
of the Company (the “Company Secretary”) continuously
updates all Directors on the latest developments regarding Listing
Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure
compliance of the same by all Directors. All Directors are also
encouraged to attend relevant training courses and seminars
that may require keeping abreast with the latest changes in
laws, regulations and the business environment. Pursuant to
Code Provision C.1.4, Directors should participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to the Board
remains informed and relevant.

During the Year, all Directors participated in appropriate
continuous professional development activities either by
attending training courses or by reading materials relevant
to the Company’s business, corporate governance, the latest
development of the industry or the Directors’ duties and
responsibilities. Each Director has confirmed that he has
participated in continuous professional development by attending
training course or reading relevant materials on the topics related
to corporate governance and regulations. During the Year, Ms.
Ng Sau Lai, the Company Secretary, undertook no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training.
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Meetings

Each Director makes every effort to contribute to the formulation
of strategy, policy and decision-making by attending each
meeting, whether in person or by telephonic conference, and
each of them is prepared to contribute to the Group’s business.

All Directors are also encouraged to attend general meetings
and develop a balanced understanding of the views of the
Shareholders. Besides general meetings, regular Board and
committee meetings are held for reviewing, discussing,
considering and approving the financial and operating

performance, the overall strategies and policies of the Company.

There were 4 full Board meetings, 2 Audit Committee’s
meetings, 2 Remuneration Committee’s meetings, 2 Nomination
Committee’s meetings, 2 CG Committee's meetings and 2
general meetings for the Year. The attendance record of each

Director during the Year was as follows:
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Meetings attended/held
BHE/ET8E

Audit  Remuneration Nomination
Name of Directors EEpg General  Regular Board Committee Committee Committee  CG Committee
BRRAE Ezgflg ENEER FHzEe REZEE® OL¥EERZES
(Note) (Note) (Note) (Note) (Note) (Note)
(BEE) (Btzt) (BzE) (B &) (Bzt) (5E)
Executive Director HTES
Dr. Liu Zhiwei MEEBL 22 4/4 - - 17 -
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Dr. Wang Qin AHEL 22 44 - - 11 -
Dr. Fu Weigang BREEL 22 44 - - - -
Dr. Wang Shibin FHRE L 22 474 - - - -
Independent non-executive Directors BIFHTES
Mr. Chen Yuming RERLE 02 444 2 Wi ) 22
Mr. Yan Xiaotian BEALE 2/2 4/4 2/2 2/2 2/2 2/2
Mr. Zhao kai KA 212 4/4 212 212 212 212

Note: The attendance figure represents actual attendance/the number of
meetings a director is entitled to attend throughout the Year.
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Performance Evaluation

The executive Board conducts an evaluation of the Board’s
performance on an annual basis with the aim of ensuring
continuous improvement in the functioning of the Board. The
evaluation will focus on the Board structure, culture, decision-
making processes, proceedings of meetings as well as the
performance of the Board as a whole, with a view towards
recommending areas for further improvement. The results of the
evaluation will be presented to all Directors, including the INEDs,
for review. The executive Board has conducted an evaluation for
the Year which revealed that the Board performed well with a
strong composition. The Board continued to operate efficiently
and was well aligned with the Group's overall objectives.

BOARD COMMITTEES

A total of 4 Board Committees, namely the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee and
the CG Committee (collectively referred to as the “Committees”)
have been formed, each of which has specific roles and
responsibilities delegated by the Board.

The Committees’ terms of reference are reviewed and updated
regularly to ensure they continue to be at the forefront of best
practice, and they are available on the Company’s website. Each
Committee’s membership is also reviewed by the Board annually.

The member lists of the Committees are set out below in this
Corporate Governance Report.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently comprises three INEDs, namely,
Mr. Chen Yuming, Mr. Yan Xiaotian and Mr. Zhao Kai. Mr. Chen
Yuming is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The major role and function of the Audit Committee are to
review the interim and annual results and risk management and
internal control systems of the Company and perform other
duties under the CG Code. More details of its duties are set out
in its terms of reference.
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During the Year, the Audit Committee performed the following
duties:

o made recommendations to the Board on the reappointment
of the external auditor, the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditor;

o reviewed and monitored the external auditor’'s
independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of the
audit process in accordance with applicable standards;

o discussed with the external auditor the nature and scope of
the audit and reporting obligations;

o made recommendations on the engagement of the external
auditor to supply non-audit services;

o monitored integrity of the Company’s financial statements,
annual report and interim report and reviewed significant
financial reporting judgements contained in them;

. held two meetings with the external auditor;

° held one meeting with the internal auditors;

o reviewed and discussed the risk management and internal
control systems with the management to ensure that
management has performed its duty to have effective
systems; and

o reviewed and discussed the adequacy of resources, staff
qualification and experience of the Company’s accounting
and financial reporting function.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three INEDs,
namely, Mr. Chen Yuming, Mr. Yan Xiaotian and Mr. Zhao Kai.
Mr. Zhao Kai is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The major role and function of the Remuneration Committee
are to review and provide recommendations on the policy for
the remuneration of all Directors and senior management. It
will make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management. More details of its duties are set out in its terms of
reference.

The Remuneration Committee has determined the policy for the
remuneration of the executive director, assessed performance
of the executive director and approved the terms of the service
contract of the executive director.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises one NED, Dr.
Wang Qin and three INEDs, namely, Mr. Chen Yuming, Mr.
Yan Xiaotian and Mr. Zhao Kai. Dr. Liu Zhiwei has been the
chairman of the Nomination Committee until 8 June 2023 when
he resigned as the chairman and a member of the Nomination
Committee, and Dr. Wang Qin was appointed the chairman of
the Nomination Committee on the same date.

The major role and function of the Nomination Committee
are to review and provide recommendations on the policy for
the nomination of directors. The policy for the nomination of
directors during the Year is set out in the subsection headed
“Nomination Policy” under this Corporate Governance Report.
More details of its duties are set out in its terms of reference.

The Nomination Committee has also reviewed the structure,
size and composition of the Board, assessed the independence
of INEDs and made recommendations on the re-appointment
of retiring Directors to the Board. Re-appointments of Directors
were approved by the Shareholders at the AGM held on 25
August 2023.
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Corporate Governance Committee

The Corporate Governance Committee currently comprises
three INEDs, namely, Mr. Chen Yuming, Mr. Yan Xiaotian and
Mr. Zhao Kai. Mr. Yan Xiaotian is the chairman of the Corporate
Governance Committee.

The major role and function of the Corporate Governance
Committee are to review and provide recommendations on the
policy for the corporate governance of the Company. More
details of its duties are set out in its terms of reference.

During the Year, the Corporate Governance Committee developed
and reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance, reviewed and monitored training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management,
as well as compliance with the Corporate Governance Code.
Except for the Company’s non-compliance with Code Provisions
D.1.2 of the CG Code, which have been disclosed in this
Corporate Governance Report, the Corporate Governance
Committee concluded that the Company has complied with other
requirements of the Corporate Governance Code and all other
Directors have fully complied with the Model Code during the
Year. The disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report has also
been reviewed by the Corporate Governance Committee.
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NOMINATION POLICY

1. Criteria for the selection and recommendation
of candidates for directorship

The Nomination Committee should consider the following

criteria when selecting and recommending candidates for
directorship:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

Experience and expertise: whether the candidates
have the professional qualifications, skills, knowledge,
expertise and experience relevant to the business
development of the Company.

Integrity and character: whether the candidates
are a person of honesty, integrity and have a good
reputation.

Time commitment: whether the candidates can
provide sufficient time to discharge their duties
as a director, including attending board meetings,
participating in director training and other matters of
the Company.

Diversity policy: whether the candidates satisfy the
Board Diversity Policy of the Company, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background.
Independence: whether the candidates for
independent non-executive Director satisfy the
independence requirements of the Listing Rules,
have a conflict of interest with the Company, are
independent in character and judgment, and able
to act on behalf of and in the best interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.

Other factors that the Board or the Nomination
Committee may further consider from time to time.
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Nomination procedures

(1)

(2)

Appointment of new director or replacement of
director

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Upon receipt of the proposal on appointment
of new director or replacement of director,
the Nomination Committee identifies and
selects candidates through various channels,
including but not limited to shareholders,
Directors, management, the Company’s human
resources department and external headhunting
companies.

The Nomination Committee may evaluate
candidates in such manner as they think
fit, including but not limited to face-to-face
interviews, background checks, and third-party
verification.

The Nomination Committee submits the list
of shortlisted candidates to the Board for
consideration. The Board, after consideration,
makes the final decision on the appointment of
the candidate based on the recommendation by
the Nomination Committee.

Re-election of director and nomination by
shareholder

(i)

The Board should review the contribution of
the retiring director to the Company and his/
her level of participation and performance on
the Board. The independence and the year of
service should also be considered for the retiring
non-executive director. Where a retiring director,
being eligible, offers himself for re-election,
and the Board considers appropriate, the Board
shall recommend such retiring director to stand
for re-election at a general meeting. A circular
containing the information on such retiring
director will be sent to shareholders prior to a
general meeting in accordance with the Listing
Rules.
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(i) No person shall, unless recommended by the Board,
be eligible for election to the office of Director at any
general meeting unless, during a period, which shall
be at least seven days, commencing no earlier than
the day after the dispatch of the notice of the meeting
appointed for such election and ending no later than
seven days before the date of such meeting, there
has been given to the Company Secretary notice in
writing by a member of the Company (not being the
person to be proposed), entitled to attend and vote
at the meeting for which such notice is given, of his
intention to propose such person for election and also
notice in writing signed by the person to be proposed
of his willingness to be elected.

DIRECTORS" RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the Group’s
accounts for each financial period and to ensure that the financial
statements are in accordance with statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards. The Board also ensures the
timely publication of the consolidated financial statements. The
Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, confirm that they
are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the Year, the Audit Committee reviewed with the external
auditor, ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited, of the Group with regard
to their independence, their appointment, the scope of their
audit, their fees, and the scope and appropriate fees for any non-
audit services provided by them.

During the Year, the fees paid/payable to ZHONGHUI ANDA
CPA Limited in respect of audit services and non-audit services
amounted to HK$1,350,000 and HK$118,000 respectively.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report”.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary, Ms. NG Sau Lai, is responsible for
facilitating the Board process, as well as communication among
the Board members, with the Shareholders and management of
the Company.

SHAREHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT
Shareholder Communication Policy

The Board is accountable to the Shareholders for the Company’s
performance and activities. It recognizes the importance of
promoting mutual understanding between the Company and the
Shareholders through ongoing engagement and communication.

The Company maintains ongoing dialog with the Shareholders,
for example, through annual general meeting or other general
meetings to communicate with them and encourage their
participation. The Board always ensures that the Shareholders’
and other stakeholders’ views are heard and welcomes their
questions and concerns relating to the Group’s management and
governance.

The Shareholders and other stakeholders may at any time send
their enquiries and concerns to the Company by addressing
them to the Company Secretary or the Investor Relations Officer
by post or email at ir@1140.com.hk. The contact details of the
Investor Relations Officer are set out in the Company’s website.

Details of the Company’s “Shareholder Communication Policy”
are available on the Company’s website. The Board reviewed the
effectiveness of the policy and the results were satisfactory.

Dividend Policy

In considering whether to declare and/or recommend the
payment of dividends to the Shareholders, the Board will take
into account factors including but not limited to the Group’s
overall financial position; cash flow; future operating and
administrative expenses; future investment plans; the regional
and global economic conditions and other factors that may have
an impact on the investment market.
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Convening Extraordinary General Meeting (“EGM")

Pursuant to Article 79 of the Articles, the Board may, whenever
it thinks fit, convene an EGM. General meetings shall also be
convened on the written requisition of:

o Any two or more members of the Company; or

o Any one member of the Company which is a recognized
clearing house (or its nominee) deposited at the principal
office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event
the Company ceases to have such a principal office, the
registered office specifying the objects of the meeting and
signed by the requisitionist, and such requisitionist shall
hold as at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than 10% of the paid up capital of the Company which
carries the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company. If the Board does not within 21 days from the
date of deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene
the meeting, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of
them representing more than one-half of the total voting
rights of all of them, may convene the general meeting in
the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which
meetings may be convened by the Board provided that any
meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration
of three months from the date of deposit of the requisition,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to
them by the Company.

Pursuant to Article 80(a) of the Articles, subject to section 578
of the Companies Ordinance, an annual general meeting shall
be called by notice in writing of at least 21 clear days (or such
longer period as may be required by the Listing Rules), and a
general meeting other than an annual general meeting shall
be called by notice in writing of at least 14 clear days (or such
longer period as may be required by the Listing Rules), which
notice shall be given in the manner prescribed by these Articles
to all members, to the Directors and to the Auditor. Notice of
a general meeting shall be given to such persons as are, under
these Articles, entitled to receive such notices from the Company.
The notice shall be exclusive of the day on which it is served
or deemed to be served and of the day for which it is given,
and shall specify the time, place, and agenda of the meeting,
particulars of the resolutions to be considered at the meeting
and in the case of special business (as defined in Article 82) the
general nature of that business. The notice convening an annual
general meeting shall specify the meaning as such, and the notice
convening a meeting to pass a special resolution shall specify the
intention to propose the resolution as a special resolution.

Wealthink Al-Innovation Capital Limited / Annual Report 2023/24
ENERREBRAA / F302023/24

ARRRBFI ARG (TREEFR KX

g1

BEERMAUEIR EESEERR/E
ERARBRFEIA® - BRAEINA &I
TALTRHEZEMERER:

o

o ARAMEAMAILIA LR 3K

o ARFEFA-—EBRR (R HERAUHEHE
Pr(sEREBA) MINARNGHER
REZBFRAZENEDMERBEAZIAN
NARBENTEZLXEME N (HARQ
AYETIEERMH)EMMER A
PRFRARZERERZBBFENR
RARNDRI0% BB A (M A #
MARARABRRAEG LRERE) -HE
FEXLARANERNXRERZ B 21
ARARKE ABRARASKFAER
RKANEFHREEHMRERE_—_D 22—
EWERBERATEANRRELIES
SARKENHERTAARERAE
LRGN BRENENAETER
ERBRERESA=EAREBERERH
MAMTEREEEREARMARSHER
KAEEMEGERX  ARARF MK

EFEfT -

RIZEZR4MAIFE80(a) & A BEHIE5781%
REBFRESEEBEL KL E218 (s k£
MRBATRER TR ESRBE)NEBRNE
Fi MR RBEFERES AR A S BIBF
BER&EDE148 (K ETRBAT LR T W
REHBNEARMNAR WANEZRREH
AIFTETBN AR AR RB2EBRR BN
EMBEHBN -BRRASBEESARNEZEZM
BT HEREBRAARBEREMALED-
BABTEERESRGIEREZBREL Y
H BBEAFHRTASNEM R
ER BRATLEENRAERFABROA
FRlEE (T LERMANES21E) 817E7
PzEEN—MEE -BRREAFAEN
BHEITHACSAREBEFAS MABA
FRIR R T B 5 R K= /Y3 &0 Rl 28 7E RF 35

RERBR/FHIRZR



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Further details of the procedures for shareholders to convene
general meetings and put forward proposals at a general meeting
are set out in the Company’s Articles which is available on the
Company'’s website.

INVESTOR RELATIONS
Constitutional Documents

During the Year, the Company has amended the Amended
and Restated Memorandum and Articles of the Company, the
details of which are set out in the announcement dated 21 July
2023 and the circular dated 27 July 2023 of the Company. The
Shareholders have approved the amendments to the Amended
and Restated Memorandum and Articles of the Company at
the EGM of the Company held on 25 August 2023. The latest
version of the Amended and Restated Memorandum and Articles
of the Company is available for inspection on the websites of the
Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

The English name of the Company has been changed from
“Wealthking Investments Limited” to “Wealthink Al-Innovation
Capital Limited, and "ERIEEEEBER A A"
adopted as the Chinese name of the Company from 28 August
2023.

has been

Apart from the aforesaid, there was no other change in the
constitutional documents during the Year.

General Meetings

A general meeting is an important forum where communications
with the Shareholders can be effectively conducted. During the
Year, one annual general meeting and one EGM were held at the
principal place of business of the Company on 25 August 2023.
Both the AGM and the EGM took the form of a hybrid meeting
whereby Shareholders were able to attend the AGM and EGM
via the e-Meeting System from any location with access to the
internet via smartphone, tablet device or computer. Details of the
poll results of the general meetings were posted on the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Group is committed to set up and maintain an effective risk
management and internal control systems which is devised to
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss, and to manage and minimize rather than
eliminate the risks of failure in the Group’s operational systems.
The risk management and internal control systems are subject to
review on an annual basis.

The Board is responsible for maintaining a sound and effective
risk management and internal control systems particularly in
respect of the controls on financial, operational, compliance and
risk management, to achieve the Group’s business strategies and
business operations and safeguard the Shareholders’ investment
and the Group's assets.

During the Year, the outsourced internal auditor, Cheng & Cheng
Risk Advisory Services Limited, has reviewed and appraised
on the effectiveness of risk management and internal control
systems. The objective of this internal audit service was to assist
the Audit Committee and the Board of Directors in carrying
out their responsibilities in accordance with Code Provision
D.2.1 to conduct a review of the effectiveness of the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems and to report
the findings in the Corporate Governance Report. Such review
is based on the Integrated Framework of the Committee of
Sponsoring Organisation of the Treadway Commission (“COSO")
Framework and the Internal Control and Risk Management, and
covered all material controls, including financial, operational and
compliance controls and risk management functions. The internal
auditor’s reports concluded that there was no material defect and
mistake in risk management and internal control system.

The Audit Committee accepted the reports and then report to
the Board. After discussion with the Audit Committee, the Board
was of the view that the existing risk management and internal
control systems were generally effective and adequate, but the
Group should consider the internal auditor’s recommendations
regarding risk management and internal control to support the
growth of the Group.

During the Year, the Company adopted the “Policy on Anti-
Money Laundering, Counter-Terrorist Financing and Counter-
Proliferation Financing”.
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RIBE-HERERRE

PROFILE

Wealthink Al-Innovation Capital Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (the “Group”, "Wealthink Al", “we"”, "us”
or "our”) adhere to the operation principle of “cross-border,
cross-sector, cross-cycle, leverage networks, attract talent and
discover opportunities”,
market-oriented and international investment platform. Rooting
in Hong Kong and relying on the advantages of the offshore
capital market, the Group combines offshore financial strength
with China’s industrial development opportunities, empowers
industries with capital and incubates the future with its support,
while helping our investees to achieve greatness, we also create
substantial returns for our shareholders. Wealthink Al upholds

committed to building a professional,

the mission of “serving national strategies, creating social value
and making responsible investment” to promote industrial
upgrading and sustainable development, thus contributing to the
development of the economy and society.

OVERVIEW OF THE REPORT

The Group is pleased to present its Environmental, Social and
Governance (“ESG") Report for the year ended 31 March 2024
("FY2023/2024") (the "Report”), which demonstrates the
Group's approach and performance in terms of ESG management
and corporate sustainable development for FY2023/2024. For the
corporate governance section, please refer to the Group's annual
report for the year ended 31 March 2024 (the “2023/2024
Annual Report”) on pages 52 to 72.

As a responsible corporate citizen, the Group recognizes the
importance of prudent environmental and social management
in achieving sustainable economic growth, building strong
relationships with stakeholders and maintaining a good
reputation. In achieving our objectives and business goals, we are
committed to minimizing and managing the environmental and
social impacts arising from our daily operations and contributing
to the long-term prosperity of the communities in which we
operate.

LMy

EMEEREARAR (BRIARQA] R
HfBE R (BEIASE]  [EMEER
ﬁjiﬁﬁﬁﬂiﬁfﬁﬁ~%ﬂ%§@%’
BER-BT BEKINEERS RSTE
—fEEEE- rhi%fblﬁf’%{tﬁﬁxéfﬁfé ° AR
SEYRELE KEBRIEATENES
KRN EMOIBERTHEXEREESES
NEARBBEEZ B AR RE ERH
WIRBEORE b AREABIEEE D -

ERE IR E A IR B KBRS - A&
SEE RETREIOED BHEEXRAR

MABERE AREHNSRREERNE -

HBERE

AEERARSHE "S- MEZA=+—
AR ([ZE-=/-F-_mHF])
MBS G RER ([E5G))HE ([4HK

&) BERERAEEAR-_Z=_=/"Z=%
ZBFEESGE IE&&%T%”“?‘E&HE
m%%&ﬁ@ ﬁ@m%ﬁ/ EE2H
REBEZZ @¢ A= + amir
mﬁﬁﬁiﬂ_ =/ ZE_NEFE

&%J)%;ﬁzﬁiJzﬁo

ERABEZEERAR AKERAREZ
REMMEERHNERAIFELEER
HENGZEESGEREERIERRTBE
MEZU -EERRMANRE REXHKBERDH
R ZMBRHEERENEEREAEE
EBMSIBHRERHETEL RELEME
MR RAERERETR

Wealthink Al-Innovation Capital Limited / Annual Report 2023/24

ENERHEBRERRAT / F%H202324

73



74

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIS - g kERHmE

REPORTING PRINCIPLES & BOUNDARY
Basis for Preparation of the Report

The Report has been prepared in accordance with the Appendix
C2 Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the
"ESG Reporting Guide”) of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited issued
by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Stock
Exchange”), with reference to the Guide for Business Action on
the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) issued by the United
Nations, the Sustainability Reporting Standards (2021 Version)
of Global Reporting Initiative (“GRI Standards”), Guidelines on
Corporate Social Responsibility Reporting for Chinese Enterprises
(CASS-ESG 5.0) issued by Chinese Academy of Social Sciences,
China National Standards — Guidance on Social Responsibility
Reporting (GB/T 36001-2015) and SASB Standards issued by
Sustainability Accounting Standards Board. The Report is prepared
in accordance with the mandatory disclosure requirements and
“comply or explain” provisions in the ESG Reporting Guide,
and is prepared based on the four reporting principles, namely
materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency set out in the
ESG Reporting Guide:

Materiality
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The Group determines its material issues through materiality assessment. The

materiality assessment process includes identification of ESG issues, stakeholder

engagement, ranking and verification of material issues. Please refer to the sections
“Stakeholder Engagement” and “Analysis on Material Issues” in the Report for

further information.

B21%

HES2E ZREEUHTFRIRES

wHEESER] MEEUHEEIN]

Quantitative
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In order to fully assess the Group’s ESG performance for FY2023/2024, the Group

disclosed the applicable quantitative key performance indicators (“KPIs”) in the ESG
Reporting Guide and set out the criteria, methods, assumptions and references used
in the calculation of the quantitative KPIs, including the sources of the key conversion

factors.
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Consistency

RIR - Mg RERME

The methodologies used in the Report are consistent with those used in the reporting

period for the year ended 31 March 2023 (“FY2022/2023") to allow readers to make
meaningful comparisons of the Group’s ESG data.
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Balance The Report presents the Group's ESG performance in an objective manner, the
application of such principle is reflected in various sections of the Report.
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Description of Content

The sources of data used in the Report include the raw data of
actual operation of the Group, publicly available data from the
government, annual financial data, relevant internal statistical
reports, third-party questionnaires, etc. The financial data in
this Report are expressed in Hong Kong dollars. In addition, for
easy reference and reading, the Report presents information on
the Group’s fulfillment of its ESG responsibilities, with typical
examples from the enterprises under the Company. For the
specific list of subsidiaries, involved in the Report, please refer to
the Group's 2023/2024 Annual Report for details.

Reporting Boundary

Given the business nature of the Group, the boundary of the
Report remains the same as in previous years. The reporting
boundary has been determined based on the significance of the
businesses under the Group's direct operational control and their
impact on the Group's ESG performance, covering primarily the
performance and management policies of the Group's investment
business. Other than the specified environmental performance
disclosed which only focus on the operations based in Hong
Kong, other disclosures in this Report covers the operations of
the whole group.
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MESSAGE FROM THE BOARD

As an investment company with a strategic mission to “build
a professional, market-oriented and international investment
platform”, the Group aims to create superior returns for
shareholders and more value for the society. The Group follows
closely the development trend of Chinese economy, technology
and people’s livelihood in its investment, and capitalizes on
the national strategy by focusing on industries with great
development potential, including biotechnology, intelligent
manufacturing, new energy, financial technology and blockchain.
In FY2023/2024, the global economy slowed down for the
third consecutive year due to factors such as adjustments in
industrial chains, geopolitical conflicts and tightened monetary
policies. China's capital market also faced severe challenges and
investment risks were on the rise.

Against this backdrop, the Group flexibly adjusted its investment
strategy, adhered to its core investment philosophy of stability
and achieved relatively stable returns. In the face of the
complex macro environment, the Group persisted in promoting
its investment business and comprehensively optimized its
investment strategy, establishing four major strategies, namely
unlisted equity investment, debt investment, fund investment
and listed equity investment, with a focus on core shareholdings.
As a result of the adjustments to our strategy, our investment
portfolio has become more balanced and efficient, and our ability
to withstand risk has been significantly enhanced. We have
not only achieved a balance between short-term and long-term
investments, but also strengthened risk management and further
optimized our overall investment layout through diversified
investments. At the same time, the Group focused on sustainable
and long-term development and followed ESG concepts in its
daily investments to create positive environmental and social
impacts.
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ESG Strategy and Philosophy

To demonstrate our commitment to responsible investment in our
business activities, we not only pursue high-growth investment
opportunities, but also pay special attention to ESG factors
in our investment activities. Therefore, we incorporate ESG
performance in our selection criteria for investment projects to
prevent related risks and build a robust risk identification system.
The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) attaches
great importance to ESG management and is responsible for
supervising, reviewing and making decisions on the Group’s ESG
matters, and ensures that a meeting is convened at least once a
year to collectively discuss ESG-related issues. The Board has also
authorized an ESG Working Task Force to assist in the handling
of related matters. For details of the structure, please refer to
the section under “ESG Management Structure” in the Report.
Through these measures, we ensure that our investment strategy
is not only economically efficient, but also environmentally and
socially responsible and promotes sustainable development.

The Group acknowledges that the steady development of
its business is closely related to the support of its various
stakeholders, and therefore attaches great importance to
communication with internal and external stakeholders to
gain a deeper understanding of their needs. In formulating
our sustainable development strategy, we identify our business
priorities and focus our sustainability efforts to better fulfill
our mission. Stakeholder feedback will be fully discussed at the
Board and the actual work will be focused on responding to the
issues they are most concerned about. Through this interaction,
we not only enhance transparency and trust, but also ensure
that our strategies and actions truly reflect the expectations and
requirements of our stakeholders.
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During FY2023/2024, the Group continued to set environmental
targets to highlight its commitment to sustainable development,
and the Board was responsible for ensuring that these targets
would be achieved by holding regular meetings to discuss,
analyze and monitor the progress of their achievement.
Considering its potential impact on the environment and society
during the course of its operations, the Group has been actively
exploring green operations and encouraging its employees,
suppliers and other stakeholders to adopt green office practices
through internal and external incentives to promote low-carbon
lifestyles and work styles, comply with the concept of green and
low-carbon development, and work together to create a low-
carbon office environment.

In addition, the Group highly values the cultivation of talents
to ensure continuous innovation and steady development. The
Group strives to develop a team with cutting-edge technology
and innovative spirit to meet the needs of its stakeholders,
thereby building up a good corporate reputation and a
foundation for long-term development. The Group endeavors
to carefully screen suppliers in the selection process in a bid to
identify and build win-win relationships with qualified suppliers.
The Group also actively encourages its employees and suppliers
to fulfill their social responsibilities and contribute to the
community.

Looking into the Future

To demonstrate its strong commitment to corporate social
responsibility, the Group has set a clear target of investing at least
5% of its total investment in green industries. As we continue
to grow our core business, we are flexible and responsive to
market changes, with a particular focus on ESG governance. We
strictly adhere to ESG principles and pay attention to major issues
raised by our stakeholders. We firmly believe that sustainable
development can only be realized by striking a balance between
economic, environmental and social aspects. The Group
will continue to implement a prudent investment strategy,
make further layout in the smart technology sector, enhance
our strategic execution ability, promote the integration of
technological innovation and sustainable development, strive to
achieve a win-win situation in terms of economic benefits as well
as environmental and social benefits, and to further enrich our
investment portfolio. In our day-to-day operations, we integrate
ESG strategies into our business processes, continue to improve
our ESG management system, and enhance transparency and the
quality of information disclosure.
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Furthermore, we have set up a dedicated ESG Working Task Force
to regularly evaluate and update our ESG policies to ensure their
effectiveness and foresight, as well as to advocate a green and
low-carbon work and lifestyle to further promote the construction
of a green culture within the company. Through these initiatives,
we have not only achieved economic success, but also made
positive contributions to the environment and society, aiming
to bring long-term stable returns to all shareholders. Thanks
to these efforts, the Group has not only intensified its internal
green culture, but also ensured that its strategies and actions
are following the requirements of environmental and social
sustainability. We firmly believe that balanced economic,
environmental and social development is the key to long-term
and steady growth.

SUSTAINABLE MANAGEMENT
ESG Management Structure

The Group focuses on the responsibility management in the ESG
area and continuously strengthens its responsibility governance.
In addition, it cultivates a responsible corporate culture and
improves the construction of a responsibility management system
to enhance its ESG effort in a pragmatic manner. The Group
regards the Board as the highest authority for ESG management.
The Board leads and supervises the management of the
Company's ESG affairs and includes major responsibility issues
related to ESG issues in its meeting agenda. Under the leadership
of the Board, all departments and employees implement
relevant environmental, social and governance policies and
report on material matters in the performance of their duties.
Meanwhile, the Group has established up an ESG Working Task
Force, comprising staff from departments such as the Company
Secretary, Legal and Compliance Department, Investment Team,
Investor Relations Department, Human Resources Department
and Administration Department. Under the leadership of the
Board, the CEO is responsible for supervising and managing
the ESG Working Task Force. The ESG Working Task Force is
responsible for coordinating daily ESG management, developing
and implementing the annual ESG plan and organizing internal
ESG-related activities for the participation of all employees of the
Group, and reporting on significant matters in the performance
of its duties.
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Chart of ESG Management Structure
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In order to have a better assessment of its ESG-related risks
during business development, while the Group integrates ESG
considerations into operations including investment analysis,
due diligence, decision-making and investment portfolio
management, etc., its management framework and community
strategy enable timely identification, report, discussion, and
analysis of material ESG risks and opportunities faced by
different departments, which allows the Group to formulate and
implement effective countermeasures in an efficient manner.
The Group pays particular attention to the ESG-related risks
associated with new investments, and is committed to leveraging
its capital strength to address the pressing ESG issues, including
environmental degradation and climate change.

To manage the ESG-related risks in its investment portfolio, the
Group acquires relevant ESG information via regular reports
and feedback from various departments, and monitors and
measures the ESG performance and associated underlying risks
in the investees, so as to take appropriate measures to protect
investors’ interests and promote sustainable development.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group values communication and exchange with internal
and external stakeholders, and communicates with its
stakeholders through various channels to continuously listen to
and understand their expectations and demands. The Group is
committed to fulfilling its social responsibilities and earnestly
performing its duties by optimizing the relevant management

RIR - Mg RERME

Mz AHRE T BB

AEBEGEANINEFI S AR T BBMR
moBBTRRBENGMERE TR T
RELEEMANHEMFR AEEE S
BRECHBEETEREREL AL
WHEBITHBE -

work.
Stakeholders Communication and Response Expectations and Demands
MzmEES BEEEE B EFR
Government and e Supervision on the compliance with ®  Law and regulation compliance
regulatory authorities local laws and regulations e Adherence to the development policy
e Routine reports and tax payments of the government
e Anti-corruption policies
BT K EE S s EEFHMERIERNETER o ETERAENER
o PIFTHRE REH s ZREERERHEEK
s REFHE
Shareholders e Timely disclosures of information e  Corporate governance
e All-round risk management e law and regulation compliance
e Unhindered communication e Bonus policy
channels with investors e Investor relations management
* Improvement on integrity business ~ ®  Business ethics compliance
regulation
IR o KRIM{EEHE e BEEA
s ZEMAERER o EFEBENER
s BRNKREEZEBRRE o DHEGR
o NBERRULEEE s REEBEER
s HETHERER
Employees e  Performance appraisal e  Remuneration and benefits
e Diversified training courses e  Career development and training
e Unhindered and democratic e Health and safety in the workplace
communication channels
e Medical Insurance
BT o BHEHA o HEREAN

s ZILHIFIIRIE
s BENRIBERE
s BERE

o BIXBRENEY
s IREMMREREREZE
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Stakeholders

/I:l #&d:

Communication and Response

Expectations and Demands

Mz AEEH BB B O e HA 2 B 5 R
Environment ° Green office ° Low-carbon operations
*  Focus on environmental investment ®  Response to climate change
RIE s KEHRA o EKREE
s BIRBMEBMKRE s RIREMLEY
Suppliers e Supplier selection and examination e Honest and friendly cooperation
e Green supply chain management e Green procurement
HERS s MEMGEEED s WERIFEE
s KefiEEER s ERE
Community and People e Media conferences and responses e Involvement in communities
to enquiries ° Environmental, social and economic
e  Corporate website impacts of investments
e  Social media platforms e Employment opportunities
e Volunteer services
HEMAR e HEeRLMUWNHNEE s ZHEHEEFH

NGRS
MHREREF A
EH 8 R

ANALYSIS ON MATERIAL ISSUES

In order to make the Report more responsive to stakeholders’
expectations, the Group conducts materiality assessment on a
regular basis to identify ESG issues that have a significant impact
on the Group and its stakeholders as one of the references for
sustainability work planning. During FY2023/2024, the Group
invited internal and external stakeholders to participate in the
materiality assessment by completing an online questionnaire.
External stakeholders ranked materiality from the perspective of

“importance to stakeholders”

materiality from the perspective of

, while internal stakeholders ranked

“importance to the Group”.
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The following is the materiality matrix for FY2023/2024:

Materiality Matrix

RIR - Mg RERME

UTAR-ZE_= /" _NHENEE N
sErEE

EEMEREE
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Critical Incident Risk Responsiveness

H B RSB R B FERE D

Corporate Data Security

DEYERE

ot

>
>

Participation in Philanthropy

SREESK

Cultivation of Local Employment Imeuea;al‘\;;:éy Rights
RESHERS !
Support of Local Economic Development
XS RERRE
Stable Supplier Management
BENREREE

Responsible Marketing
BEFEH

Importance to Stakeholders
HRIHAAREHT MBS

BREEREIE

Green Procurement
RO ./‘ Opportunities from clean energy

Energy Management Climate Change Mitigation and Adaptation
Bl e e b 4 Tz
BRRERE RIRBCRER ERE
Water and Wastewater Management
IKELFKEE

Democratic Management
REEE

Business Ethics and Anti-corruption

BREERRES
Risk Management
RRER
Employee Development and Training
BT BREEY
Occupational Health and Safety
x\\\# BEREREE

Employee Remuneration and Benefits

BIHFMRER

Diversity and Inclusiveness
Employee’s rights ZHREEERY
BTIfn

Corporate Investment Business

DEREEH

Compliance Management
L
=

REE

- WAEBHESRY

Low
Importance to the Group

CHAPTER ONE — PRACTICING THE
PHILOSOPHY OF RESPONSIBLE INVESTMENT

As an influential investment company focusing on investment
opportunities in China’s high-growth industries, Wealthink
Al is gradually improving the organizational structure and
management, investment strategy and application, research
and communication of responsible investment. We incorporate
sustainable development concepts such as environmental
protection and social responsibility into our investment strategies
and objectives.

Recognizing that every investment decision has a profound
impact on the portfolio and on society as a whole, we take
responsibility for prudent assessment of the risks of all investment
decisions and are committed to making a meaningful contribution
to the allocation of capital in the future. At the same time, in
order to achieve a win-win situation for our stakeholders, we
continue to strengthen our efforts in anti-corruption, information
security protection and compliance operation, and assume
investment responsibilities.

A4

X
[
>

F-EBE-BTEIREED
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Section 1 - Responsible Investment

China is entering a new stage of development, with a
stronger foundation for development and profound changes
in development conditions. Given new opportunities and
challenges, it has formulated the 14th Five-Year Plan. Wealthink
Al has responded positively to this plan and is committed to
promoting the transformation of green finance. We recognize
that every investment decision may have a profound impact
on the portfolio and on society as a whole, and therefore, we
have the responsibility to make careful and meticulous risk
assessments on every investment decision and are committed to
making a positive contribution to the allocation of capital in the
future. We adhere to the principle of responsible investment,
fulfill our obligations to all stakeholders, prioritize investment in
areas that address ESG-related issues, and actively explore green
investment opportunities to promote sustainable development.
To support the development of green economy projects, the
Group has subscribed for the green term deposits launched by
Shanghai Pudong Development Bank. For details, please refer
to the section headed “Case Study: Investing in environmental
protection enterprises for promoting a green circle” in the
Report.

During operation, Wealthink Al attaches great importance to
the communication and collaboration with all stakeholders.
At the same time, we maintain the foresight and effectiveness
of our investment practices through regular risk assessment
and policy adjustments. Wealthink Al will continue to focus on
innovation and responsibility, actively explore new opportunities
in green finance, contribute its efforts to promote sustainable
development, and strive to achieve economic goals while bringing
about a lasting positive impact on society and the environment.

Responsible Investment Principles and Strategies

Wealthink Al adheres to the principles of responsible investment,
including but not limited to the principles of ESG integration,
prudence and information transparency. By taking ESG factors
into account in its investment decisions and practices, Wealthink
Al works to optimize the overall performance of its investment
portfolio and enhance investment returns to meet the needs of
its investors.
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After nearly two decades of accumulation, the Group has
again upgraded its investment strategy and established four
major investment strategies: unlisted equity investment, debt
investment, fund investment and listed equity investment. The
core of our unlisted equity investment strategy is to seek long-
term returns. We are committed to identifying and investing
in unlisted companies with great growth potential, providing
them with capital and resources and sharing the dividends of
their long-term development. Debt investment strategy aims
to achieve stable returns in a volatile market environment. The
fund investment strategy utilizes the industry experience and
market acumen of professional fund management companies
to broadly allocate assets and diversify risks while capturing
more investment opportunities. Listed equity investment strategy
focuses on seizing short-term investment opportunities in the
secondary market. These investments strategies are centered on
the context, industry and cycle and are allocated appropriately
according to background, industry and cycle.

Under the existing investment strategies, the Group actively
seizes ESG-related investment opportunities. Responding to
climate change has become a global consensus, and against the
backdrop of carbon neutrality, the new energy sector, which
focuses on photovoltaic, wind power and new energy vehicles,
has a broad development prospect. The Group plans to invest
more resources in the future in innovation technology companies
that can help mitigate the impact of climate change and in
companies exposed to risk of global warming, so as to contribute
to the fight against energy depletion and climate change, and to
create green returns for our shareholders.

In addition, the Group is committed to improving its internal
systems to support the investment team and to help the Group
understand the impact and process of sustainability through
the establishment of an ESG committee for ESG integration and
research. The Group is now actively promoting the establishment
of the ESG committee. In the future, it is hoped that through the
establishment of an independent and effective ESG committee,
we can realize our ESG investment goals and expand the
influence of the Group’s responsible investment, so as to ensure
that our investment strategies are in step with ESG principles
and at the same time promote the realization of sustainable
development.
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Responsible Investment Management Policy
Management System of the Investment Committee

The Investment Committee under the Board (the “Investment
Committee”) is authorized by the Board to be responsible for the
evaluation and decision-making on major investment projects of
the Group. Under the leadership of the Board, the Investment
Committee ensures that the Group’s responsible investment
practices meet the highest standards and are fully implemented,
reflecting the Group’s strong focus on ESG issues. The Board
stipulates two major decision-making authority standards and
four decision-making tasks for the Investment Committee:

Decision-making Authority 1)
Standards of the Investment

Committee
REGREEREE 2)
KREBEBRERHAER
Specific Decision-making tasks 1)
of the Investment Committee
REGEBRRES project

EEEREEENH

REZBGEEFE

EFEg NTERREZBE(UTHEBEIRZ
g YREHBEHAKENEARER
BETHHERR - RZEHEFENES
T ERAEENEIREERETA&SE
BYFHNEENT BRT AKEHESGH
BHNREER EZTER/RZERTTMA
IRBIERIZE - LR MIBRREBAR:

Threshold of investment amount linked to a specific percentage of
the total net asset value of the Group
HASEREEFESCLIEANKREBEME

Whether the investment project is a connected transaction

e

Decide whether to implement the investment project, and put
forward guiding opinions on the development direction of the

AEREEERESER UHEAZERSTARLESUEER

2)  Decide the major changes of the project after the investment
REBBERBENEAZE IR

3)  Decide whether to implement an exit plan
AEERERRIAR

4)  Propose investment decision-making suggestions to the Board

AEFTSRIBRERKEZ

The Group requires all members of the Investment Committee
to abide by the law, be diligent and honest, be professional
and responsible, strictly observe business confidentiality, avoid
conflicts of interest, and safeguard the Group's interests. They
should also conduct regular self-examination and proactively
make timely reports on conflicts of interest.
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New Project Introduction Management

In terms of responsible investment management, the Group has
adopted a two-way model of “top-down” and “bottom-up”.

RIR - Mg RERME

HMEESIAER

AEEEREERESTEEABT B LM T
MIEBTmE] WERBEETER-

Responsible Investment Models

BEAREEN

“Top-down” model: the management identifies
investment opportunities, conducts research and
due diligence with the investment team to form
an investment recommendation report that is then
submitted to the Company’s Investment Review
Committee for approval. If approved, it will be
submitted to the Board for approval based on the size
of the investment.

BEM MR EEERRRERS BREEK
—EHATNERAS PRREEZZRE RBRE
ARRREFEZESER - WRERFEB BRE
RESBRNN RERBRREFTEFM-

External Investment Manager Selection

In selecting and managing external investment managers, the
Group places great emphasis on the concept of responsible
investment and has therefore established three relevant standards
and regulations, and explicitly requires external investment
managers and candidates to have demonstrated responsible
investment practices before they are hired, with the aim of
minimizing the impact of potential ESG and climate-related risks

“Bottom-up” model: the investment team identifies
investment opportunities, conducts research and forms
report that is then submitted to the management for
approval. After obtaining management’s approval,
the investment team will conduct due diligence and
prepare an investment recommendation report, which
will be submitted to the Company’s Investment Review
Committee for approval. If approved, it will be submitted
to the Board for approval based on the size of the
investment.

BETmEIE: REEFERREM S ETHMAL
FEREmE BREEEESL BREEEEH AL AESR
BRE ERAREZZRE RRXEFARARETNEE
BEgFEHR -MREGSRE BRERESBA/N RER
RREEFGHER-

pill

I

IBRECEREE

AEETEEMERIINPIRELIRRT IR
ERBETREES BAMSIET =HEH
ZAEME RGO WA Z RINEP IR B I8
URBEEANBEAHEEBETRENERLE
T T ARAE B EREKEENESG MR IR
HERREAEEREAGNTE - HEE
EMEBEO T

on the Group's investment portfolio. Relevant standards and

regulations are set out below:

Selection and management of external investment managers:

(1)  Good investment management performance and no record (1)

of violation of laws and regulations;

(2) Compliance with anti-corruption, anti-money laundering

and other relevant laws and regulations;

ShEBIR B AT IR IR BRI TR

ABRFOREEEEE RELER
EEE

(2) TERBR RAEFHBERESR:

(3) Compliance with the labour laws in Hong Kong in terms of (3) EEEAMEEFTABEL TAM -

employment and management of employees.
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Investment Decision-Making Tool

The Group’s business goal is not only to pursue economic
returns, but also to focus on sustainable development and
social well-being. Therefore, the Group always insists on making
scientific and reasonable investment decisions with environmental
and social responsibilities, and ensuring that ESG factors are
taken into account in the investment process. In addition, we
are committed to ensuring that our investment portfolio meets
environmental and social standards through a rigorous and
comprehensive assessment of potential investment targets using

RERKIA

REBMEKBETMETRERKEERR:
FHEIAFHESEML R - At A%
EEREBRPHREFHERELSE
EEREMTEEANRERE URRY
ESGREZMB X - BMBAORKAILE
AMBEGEEREANSE HBEMNKRE
BT B2 E AT - AU R E M
MIEEEERARENMTRE.

a combination of positive and negative screening.

In addition, the Group has actively responded to the
peak and carbon neutral” dual-carbon goal proposed by the
PRC government by formulating a clear strategy and action
plan, aiming to contribute to the realization of the country’s
environmental protection goal while bringing long-term economic

benefits to investors through its efforts.

e S - AN 55 B FE AR 2 PR P B BT 4R A9 A
R TR AN BB R B AR - I E T B RE A B
MBS EERBE N ERREER

“carbon

RERLCENGANRR EEATRERN
RIREEZEERE-

Screening Methods
BEL*

Positive Screening: take new energy as one of the
key investment areas. Within this area, to conduct in-
depth research, evaluation and calculation of potential
investment targets to select investment projects with
environmental, social and economic benefits.

TEHSE: BHERERBEHBINRERAN I — &
ZAEA - HEEREFHETRABN  FHEFAE
NEEHBAARRAR T ERAE X ABREREN
®REER -
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Negative Screening: the Group strictly prohibits
investments in the following sectors: military, tobacco,
gaming, etc. We are also determined to stay away from
other sectors with significant ESG risks. Specifically,
these prohibited industries include but not limited to the
military industry which involves the manufacture and sale
of weapons, the industries that produce and sell tobacco
products, and the gambling-related gaming industry.
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Results of Full-chain Responsible Investment

The Group has formulated specific implementation methods
for each asset class based on its own investment philosophy,
characteristics of the subject and actual situation. Through ESG
quantitative evaluation, specialized risk assessment, prudent
principles, sustainable development thematic investment and
other responsible investment strategies, the Group promotes ESG
integration in the investment process through multiple methods
and channels, and adequately manages the ESG risks of each
type of investment target. The Group's internal management
framework and community strategies are capable of identifying,
reporting, discussing and analyzing major issues faced by
different departments in relation to ESG risks and opportunities,
and to efficiently formulate and implement responses.

In FY2023/2024, the Group invested in a total of 65 projects and
exited from 17 projects. The Group not only actively invested in a
number of projects, but also focused on the development of the
green finance sector, specifically participating in green finance
projects and actively exploring more related green opportunities.
At the same time, the Group actively seeks to cooperate with
relevant partners to further promote green economy and
sustainable development.

RIR - Mg RERME
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Case Study: Investing in environmental protection enterprises for promoting a green circle

The Group maintains its focus on investment in the field of hazardous waste management. Since 2019, it has
invested in Dexing Yifeng Recycled Nonferrous Metals Co., Ltd., which focuses on resource regeneration and
is committed to the development of circular economy and carrying out projects of harmless waste residue
and comprehensive recovery and recycling of polymetallic materials. Through this investment project, the
Group has promoted the green development of a physical enterprise with its capital power and made positive
contributions to the green circular economy. In FY2023/2024, Dexing Yifeng added 5 new invention patents on
the basis of the original 4 invention patents, 46 utility models patents and 1 engineering technology research
center, and obtained the qualifications and honors of Specialized and Sophisticated SME of Jiangxi Province (/T
POE EREEF R/ E), Little Giant Enterprise of Jiangxi Province GT P& /NE A E) , etc., and applied
for the qualification of Green Factory.

RASE REARRLK PESOER
AEEUATENERAANNERERBMT TR P NFRREERNHUBESELBAREL
AR REIRERBL BARBIMECE LEABERECNSLEEABARARNAZEL &
SEBBE-BRERE WEANNERDERCENGCEE YASEREBEAENKE THERS -2
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Case Study: Subscribing for green term deposits to take an active part in green finance

To support the development of green economy projects, the Group has subscribed for green term deposits
launched by Shanghai Pudong Development Bank. This aims to invest in eligible green economy projects in
areas such as renewable energy, energy efficiency improvement and pollution prevention. By subscribing for
time deposits, the Group has further seized the opportunities of green finance and actively contributed to the
sustainable development of the economy and the environment, demonstrating our strong commitment to a
greener future.

ROSE RBLKCEHREFRN BHRIHEHLZECEH

RXBFERERENER ARECRABBRRTHENZEEHFR LR EREAERNGERLE
HE G BRABLEER EMEAMSRDAFEE BRERBERFT AREE-—FIMERCTREE
BRAEENRENAFEZRMEER TRTHMHEREC RN T AR -

Case Study: Joint Establishment of BEFS to Promote Water Resource Protection
In 2017, the Group was in collaboration with Beijing Enterprises Water Group (“BEWG”) to jointly facilitate
the establishment of BE Financial Service (Beijing) Investment Holdings Limited (“BEFS”). The Group has
further emphasized the importance of improving recycling of water and the aquatic environment through the
establishment of BEFS, and strengthened its influence on water resources management and protection from
the perspective of capital, so as to continue to contribute to environmental protection.
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Case Study: Investing In Dagang Holding Group to Reduce the Negative Impact of Waste

In FY2019/2020, the Group acquired Dagang Holding Group Co. Ltd. (“Dagang Holding Group”) to strengthen
its investment layout in the area of sustainable development. The acquisition involved a total of 63,202,590
shares, representing 19.9% of the total share capital of Dagang Holding Group. As a comprehensive high-tech
enterprise, Dagang Holding Group focuses on the development and manufacture of high-end road equipment,
urban road smart operation and maintenance, and recycling of mixed hazardous waste and solid waste. In
addition, Dagang Holding Group has also been actively expanding its business presence and acquired 52% of the
total equity of Zhongde Environmental Science And Technology Co. Ltd. (FR{ERFERIF AR A A]), a company
engaged in non-ferrous metal recycling in Hunan Province, China, in 2019. Through the equity investment in
Dagang Holding Group, the Group has further consolidated its participation in the environmental protection field
and is committed to minimizing the negative impacts of waste and promoting the recycling of resources.
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Section 2 - Information Security

In the investment sector, corporate information data and network
security are of great importance as they are directly related to the
accuracy of investment decisions and the protection of investor
information. Wealthink Al recognizes that any data leakage or
network security bug may have a serious impact on its reputation
and investor trust. Therefore, we attach great importance
to information security management and have formulated a
series of policy documents, including the Employee Handbook,
Disclosure Policy and other data security policies, which clearly
stipulate the requirements for the protection and management
of confidential information including business secrets. In addition
to the formulation of relevant policies, the Group has adopted
multi-pronged management measures, including physical,
administrative and technical means. All staff and data users are
required to strictly comply with the requirements in all aspects
in terms of network, hardware, software, electronic information,
data backup, anti-virus, account password maintenance and user
responsibilities.

In terms of information security, the Group prohibits any
unauthorized person from accessing or logging into the Group's
information systems and reduces operational risks arising from
information technology system malfunctions through regular
data backups of its major data processing systems. This helps
to strengthen the management of confidential information
and confidentiality agreements. In addition, the Group
requires its employees not to disclose any critical information,
including investor information, departmental information,
office information and staff information, to external parties or
unrelated colleagues, and requires them to strictly perform the
Group’s internal system. Employees are required to properly
handle confidential information before leaving the office, such
as placing it in a dedicated filing cabinet and locking it up, and
all confidential documents that are no longer needed for use
must be shredded. In terms of information technology, to ensure
the security of confidential information storage, the Group has
encrypted computer terminals and record access to confidential
documents to prevent unauthorized access, thereby effectively
preventing data leakage and information tampering and
protecting the interests of the Group and its investors.
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RIS - g kERHmE

Moreover, to protect business secrets and prevent the risk of
information leakage, the Group enters into confidentiality
agreements with counterparties or incorporates confidentiality
clauses in commercial contracts in accordance with actual needs
during business operations. At the same time, we provide
information security training every year to all employees and
all third-party personnel who have access to information assets
to enhance information security awareness and information
protection capabilities. Through the above measures, we are not
only able to effectively minimize the risk of information leakage,
but also further enhance the overall level of information security
to ensure the robustness of our business operations and the
security of our data, and to safeguard our reputation and the
trust of our investors. In FY2023/2024, there was no incident of
confidential or sensitive data leakage of the Group.

Section 3 - Compliance Operation

Wealthink Al is committed to continually improving its internal
compliance levels, always upholding the core values of honesty,
integrity and fairness. To ensure that our operations meet the
highest standards, we constantly improve our internal compliance
level and enhance our employees’ compliance awareness and
capability through training. In our operations, we ensure strict
compliance with the laws and regulations of various countries
and regions, including but not limited to the Civil Code of the
People’s Republic of China, the Company Law of the People’s
Republic of China, as well as the Listing Rules, the Companies
Ordinance and the Securities and Futures Ordinance of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region. We firmly believe that
compliance operation is the basis for an enterprise to achieve
long-term and steady development and sustainable growth and
win the trust of investors and partners.

Management System

Wealthink Al is persistent in improving and perfecting its
compliance management system. In particular, the Legal Affairs,
Compliance and Risk Management Department (the “Legal
Department”) is the department primarily responsible for
compliance management, while various departments such as the
Finance Department, Human Resources Department, Investment
Department and Investor Relations Department assist in the
execution and implementation of compliance requirements within
their respective scope of responsibility. The Board is primarily
responsible for ensuring the soundness and effectiveness of the
Group's compliance management system.
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The Group understands that legal and compliant operation is
the cornerstone for sustainable development. To this end, we
have established a standing mechanism for the identification of
laws and regulations and have assigned the Legal Department
as the department primarily responsible for identifying,
coordinating and evaluating laws and regulations that may have
a significant impact on our operations. The Legal Department is
also required to report to the management in a timely manner
based on the extent of the impact of these laws and regulations
on our operations. Other departments are also expected to
assist the Legal Department in executing and implementing
compliance requirements within their respective scope of
responsibility. Meanwhile, to manage different compliance
issues, the Board, with the assistance of the Legal Department,
will formulate corresponding systems to strengthen internal
control management, ensure compliance operations and enhance
corporate reputation.

The Group keeps improving its compliance management system
to respond to regulatory changes in the future and has taken the
following measures:

o The Board has established the Group's purpose, value and
strategy, and disclosed the same in the Annual Report.
The Board believes these purpose, value and strategy are
aligned with the Group’s culture.

e The Group has formulated the Policy on Succession Planning
for Directors and Senior Management ( (AR ZE E M
BB ABHETIE ZEE) ) to facilitate the alignment
of the objectives of medium- and long-term talent
management planning and succession planning, so as to
insulate the Group’s daily operations from, and mitigate the
risks associated with, the potential negative impact of the
departure, temporary absences and personnel transitions of
directors, senior management or other key position holders.

RIR - Mg RERME

AEBRAGEZARELRAFBERNE
ARt WARY T ERICHDERIEM &
RIS W RIOERBIESTEZREEM
AR GEMFAGAUEERMALEES
BARENEZRER EHRABEFTREEL
ERERBAREELNTERE KR
EEERE - EMBMbERESANBESR
EAHBERDBATIEEAREZ R - R
REBTRAMNEREE EZGGEARE
FIEY 1% Bh T - %Il € 48 & &9 Il JZ LA b 58 P9 R 42
HIEE BRAMES RALEXERE-

AREREECEARELBE UMY HK
BT AL - I A A T AR BB H JE 06

s EFECMUAKRBEMNRE BELXK
B TERFHRARBEERAR -EF
EEMALERE BEMEKBREAE
B e

e AEEEHNE(AREZFRSRER
ANBHIFIZBR)  REFH ER
AFERREBEMEMNERELHR
— RAKENAREEREEE R
MEBRABLEMBARBUA LA
BoBRERUMABBERSRKEELR

TE WHEBBRAR-

Wealthink Al-Innovation Capital Limited / Annual Report 2023/24

ENEREREFRAT / FH202324



94

The Group has formulated the Declaration and Outline
for the Debt Investments Management System ( {{&#E#%
BEERHIEEE KAL) ) and in active response to the
concerns and requests of the Hong Kong Securities and
Futures Commission and the Accounting and Financial
Reporting Council which issued a joint statement in July
2023 in relation to loans, advances, prepayments and
similar arrangements, the Group plans to continue to review
and revise its existing effective policies and procedures
applicable to debt investments.

The Group has formulated the Policy on Anti-Money
Laundering, Counter-Terrorist Financing and Counter-
Proliferation Financing ( (3TE%E -Biin FELEE MK
BPEZHRFENESESBE) , the "New Anti-Money
Laundering Policy”) to ensure that the Group achieves
full legal compliance in its daily business and operations,
including but not limited to the aspects of combating
money laundering, terrorist financing and financing of
proliferation of weapons of mass destruction.

The Group adopted the “Whistleblowing, Anti-bribery and
Corruption Policy” that supported anti-corruption laws
and regulations. The “Whistleblowing, Anti-bribery and
Corruption Policy” embodied and replaced the “Policy
on Acceptance of Advantage and Handling of Conflict of
Interest” which had been implemented since 2011.

The Group has established a whistleblowing policy and
system for employees and those who deal with the Group.

The Group has established a policy to ensure that
independent views and input are available to the Board, and
disclosed the policy in its Corporate Governance Report.
The policy will be reviewed annually.

The Group has established a Board Diversity Policy. The
policy will be reviewed annually with a view to ensuring
that the Board will have a balance of skills, experience
and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the Group’s
operation. The Group is committed to Board diversity, and
targets to appoint at least one director of a different gender
on the Board no later than 31 December 2024.
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Business Ethics

The Group has a zero-tolerance approach to business ethics
compliance. In order to set an example, under the supervision
of the Board, the Group strictly abides by the Anti-Money
Laundering Law of the People’s Republic of China, Anti-
Monopoly Law of the People's Republic of China, Securities
and Futures Ordinance, Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-
Terrorist Financing Ordinance (Chapter 615 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) and Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Chapter 201 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) and other laws and regulations. By
implementing these stringent compliance measures, we not only
ensure the legality and compliance of our operations, but also
set an example for our employees, urging all of them to comply
with the relevant regulations more conscientiously and to work
together to safeguard the integrity and reputation of the Group.

We are fully aware that business ethics is the key to achieving
long-term and steady development of an enterprise. Therefore,
the Group continues to improve its internal control system and
constantly strengthens its control procedures and measures to
ensure that compliance requirements are effectively implemented.
At the same time, the Group attaches great importance to
business ethics and is committed to incorporating this concept
into the daily work of its employees. To ensure that employees
strictly comply with laws and regulations and adhere to business
ethics, the Group has formulated and implemented a series
of systems to address business ethics-related issues such as
conflict of interest and anti-corruption, and has ensured that
the requirements of the systems are strictly and effectively
implemented by employees through training. The systems related
to internal control and management of business ethics include
but not limited to the Reporting and Anti-corruption and Bribery
Policy, Anti-Corruption and Bribery Policy (Internal Use), Securities
Trading Policy for the Company’s Directors and Employees,
Employee Handbook, Investment Committee Management
System and others.
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Conflict of Interest

To avoid unethical behavior such as irregular operation or insider
trading, the Group sets requirements in the Employee Handbook,
that all employees are required to declare their interests in their
own accounts and those of their direct relations, and to report
transactions in their accounts for the current period. In addition,
in order to prevent the occurrence of transactions related to the
subject company, the Group has formulated the Declaration of
Relationship with Listed Companies and/or Listing Applicants And
Outside Directorships and/or Business Interests and other internal
management systems, requiring employees to report truthfully
and timely to the Legal and Compliance Department and to
update the relationship with the subject company at any time.
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Anti-Corruption

Anti-corruption is the key element for sound and compliant
operations. At the same time, maintaining business integrity not
only helps to enhance productivity, but also improves employee
morale and the overall work atmosphere. By strictly adhering to
business ethics, we are committed to fostering a transparent, fair
and positive working environment, thereby realizing sustainable
corporate development. To ensure strict compliance by our
employees, the Group not only sets out clear requirements to
prevent bribery, acceptance of advantages, offer of advantages,
abuse of authority and improper use of company information,
but also provides training to employees from time to time. The
main purpose of these trainings is to strengthen the compliance
awareness of our employees, ensure their strict compliance
with the requirements and to effectively prevent the risk of law
breakers taking advantages of our employees for illegal activities.
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To ensure that the Group's zero-tolerance approach to bribery
and corruption is implemented among its employees, it has
formulated and implemented a series of measures, including
investment compliance assessment form, relationship declaration
with listed companies and/or listing applicants, anti-money
laundering risk assessment form, investment management form
and anti-corruption training, etc., to prevent any misconduct or
negligence in duties, and to raise the awareness of employees
on the relevant rule of law and compliance. Through these
measures, we are committed to safeguarding the integrity and
reputation of the Company and ensuring sound and compliant
business operations. In FY2023/2024, there were no internal staff
violations or corruption lawsuits in the Group.
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Case Study: Actively Promoting Anti-Corruption Training and Education

On 27 March 2024, the Company invited an external consultant body along with a law firm to provide
compliance and anti-corruption training to all directors and employees for FY2023/2024, which was held in the
form of an online conference to fully facilitate the participation of directors and employees who are located
in different areas of the world. The training covered topics related to enforcement and sanctions, directors’

RS E BBEDRAEARBHZIELE

responsibilities, continuous professional development and anti-corruption case studies.
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Whistleblowing Mechanism

While upholding corporate ethics, we attach great importance
to the rights and interests of whistleblowers. Our Reporting and
Anti-Corruption and Bribery Policy aims to protect the rights of
employees or any third-party whistleblowers by ensuring that the
identity of the whistleblower will not be disclosed without his/her
consent or relevant legal requirements, and that confidentiality
requirements are strictly enforced, so that whistleblowers can
safeguard our ethical standards without any worries. The Group
provides a variety of reporting channels, including written reports,
postal mail and e-mail, to ensure that whistleblowers can submit
their reporting information conveniently and securely, and to
further enhance transparency and integrity within the enterprise.
Regardless of the outcome of the report, we highly value the
protection of whistleblowers to ensure that their legitimate rights
and interests will not be infringed upon.
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Reporting Channels

Reporting in person to
the Audit Committee
Ham
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Written report
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H

Reporting by post
et Reciit

Correspondence address:
Rooms 3910-13, 39/F,
Cosco Tower, Grand
Millennium Plaza,

183 Queen’s Road Central,
Hong Kong

WML
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Reporting by email

EIMER

Email address of the
Audit Committee:
audit.committee@
wealthking.com.hk

FEREZEREHIIU
audit.committee@
wealthking.com.hk

Reporting Procedure

Reporting to the
Audit Committee
MEZEEE
TR R

Accepting the report
and responding to
the whistleblower
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Investor Services and Marketing

In FY2023/2024, the Group abided by the applicable relevant
rules, regulations and standards that have a significant impact

Starting an
9 investigation
FEAE

* The form of the investigation and
the time required to be
determined by the audit
committee with reference to the
circumstances
HAERARMFER - BERZE
BERERME

on the Group with regard to health and safety, advertising,
labelling and privacy matters with respect to its operations and
services and methods of redress, including but not limited to the

following:

° Main Board Listing Rules;

o Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited;

o Code on Takeovers and Mergers and Share Buy-backs;
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o The Whistleblower should
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. Companies Act (2021 Revision), Laws of Cayman Islands;

o Company Law of the People’s Republic of China;

o Securities Law of the People’s Republic of China;

o Trust Law of the People’s Republic of China;

o Contract Law of the People's Republic of China;

o Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong);

° Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong);

° Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Cap. 486 of the Laws of
Hong Kong); and

° Consumer Council Ordinance (Cap. 216 of the Laws of
Hong Kong).

As an investment company within the meaning under Chapter
21 of the Listing Rules, the Group does not provide services
or products to any investors during its business operations.
Therefore, issues such as “Percentage of total products sold or
shipped subject to recalls for safety and health reasons” and
“number of products and service related complaints received”

are not applicable to the Group.

The Group firmly believes that integrity is the cornerstone of
building investor trust and maintaining the reputation of a
company. Therefore, we strictly comply with the Advertising Law
of the People’s Republic of China and other laws and regulations
relating to advertising, and any form of false or exaggerated
publicity is strictly prohibited. All promotional materials are
subject to the approval of the Legal and Compliance Department
before release to check for potential misrepresentation or
exaggeration so that timely corrections can be made. Through
this stringent review mechanism, we ensure the truthfulness and
compliance of our promotional content to further enhance the
credibility of our company.
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To better take into account the expectations and needs of
investors in our decision-making process, the Group has set up
a dedicated feedback channel to ensure that they can easily
express their concerns and expectations. To this end, in addition
to establishing various channels to maintain close communication
with our stakeholders, the Group also actively participates in
industry forums and roadshows through which we engage in in-
depth dialogues with our stakeholders on issues of concern to
them and the latest industry trends. At the same time, these
activities not only enable us to understand the real needs and
concerns of our stakeholders in a timely manner, but also
enhance transparency and their trust in us.

Section 4 - Intellectual Property Rights

Wealthink Al attaches great importance to the application
and protection of intellectual property rights, and manages
intellectual property rights throughout the entire process of
its business and strictly complies with all relevant laws and
regulations. The Group has investment activities as its principal
business operation. The major intellectual property rights involved
in the Group’s operation process include its trademarks, research
reports produced by the Group and similar works, and do not
involve intellectual property rights such as invention and utility
model patents.

Intellectual Property Rights Management

We are well aware of the importance of effective intellectual
property rights management to the security of business
operations. The Group strictly complies with the Patent Law of
the People’s Republic of China, Trademark Law of the People’s
Republic of China and other relevant laws and regulations, and
continuously improves its internal control system. The Group is
committed to standardizing and sorting out the processes of
application, approval, management and use of various types of
intellectual property rights, improving the intellectual property
rights management system and enhancing the level of intellectual
property rights management.
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Regarding the Group's copyright, we will attach a copyright
description to the independently produced research reports,
industry analysis, and other materials of similar works to clarify
the ownership. Apart from protecting our own intellectual
property rights, the Group also highly respects and protects
the copyright of every work and material. Therefore, to
avoid infringement and other negative incidents, we require
our employees to cite the source or obtain the consent and
authorization of the original copyright owner when quoting
materials such as text, statements, pictures and films, etc. This
ensures that we respect and protect intellectual property rights,
prevents legal disputes, and enhances the reputation. Respecting
the intellectual property rights of others helps to build good
industry relations and promotes the innovation and healthy
development of the entire industry.

In FY2023/2024, the Group’s trademarks, including words,
graphics, and collections of pictures and texts, have been
registered at the Trademark Registry of the Intellectual Property
Rights Department of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region, effectively protecting the Group’s technological
innovations and enhancing its intellectual property advantages.
These trademarks remain in force under the applicable trademark
classes to meet the Group’s actual business needs. In addition,
the Group will regularly review, and apply for and/or change
trademark registration as needed according to the development
of new business.

The Group has established a daily monitoring and rights defense
mechanism for intellectual property rights such as trademarks and
copyrights. When the Group’s rights and interests are infringed
upon, such as when external organizations reproduce or publish
the Group's research reports for profit without permission, the
Group will refer the matter to the relevant department for action,
and safeguard the Group’s legitimate rights and interests in
accordance with relevant laws and regulations.
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CHAPTER TWO — ENVIRONMENTAL
RESPONSIBILITY

Wealthink Al advocates the concept of low-carbon and
environmental protection, pays attention to the impact of its own
development on the environment and society, and endeavors
to integrate the concept of green and low carbon development
into the whole process of daily operation and management,
and strives to reduce the impact of various business activities
on the environment. In daily operation, employees’ awareness
of environmental protection are enhanced through the
implementation of relevant energy-saving and emission reduction
measures, and resource-saving plans in regulating energy
consumption, use of water resources, waste management, etc.,
are established to further build a green operating environment.

Section 1 - Environmental Management

As the Group is principally engaged in investment management,
it does not have any direct effect on the environment. However,
the environmental management concept and strategy of the
Group put emphasis on improving energy efficiency, reducing
resources usage, promoting the green development, formulating
a sustainable development mechanism for operation and
enhancing the environmental awareness and code of conduct
of all employees. In addition, the Group’s business strategy has
included the concept of sustainable development and ESG system
to create a green workplace with sustainable development
elements.
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Green Office

The Group has always been committed to sustainable
development and aims to create a green office and
environmentally friendly workplace. The Group was awarded
the Green Office and Eco-Healthy Workplace Awards for the
years 2019 and 2020 by the World Green Organization in
recognition of our continuous efforts and excellent performance
in sustainable development. We not only aim to realize our
own green transformation, but also contribute to the global
achievement of the Sustainable Development Goals. The Group
has also adopted relevant green office initiatives, including but
not limited to:

e Set up recycling box next to photocopiers to facilitate waste
recycling;

° Encourage electronic means as a principal means for
communication to reduce the use of paper;

e  Replace energy-intensive lights with LED lights; and

e Post stickers with environmental-friendly slogan such as
saving paper, green office, saving water, reducing use of
plastics, etc., in prominent places.

Section 2 - Energy Use

Given the nature of the Group’s business, the major resources
and energy consumed by the Group during the FY2023/2024
were unleaded gasoline, electricity, water and paper. For data
and details of specific consumption, please refer to Table 2 in
the section "Appendix | — Key Performance”, which discloses
the year-on-year data of the Group's resource consumption for
FY2023/2024 and FY2022/2023.
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Unleaded Gasoline

Due to its business nature, the Group needs vehicles for
research and travel, and the major energy for transportation is
unleaded gasoline. In FY2023/2024, the gasoline consumption
of the Group was 580.15 liters, representing a decrease of
approximately 89.26% as compared with FY2022/2023. This
achievement was mainly due to the expected effect of the
gasoline consumption control measures implemented by the
Group, as well as the increase in the use of public transportation
and other vehicles by the Group, which significantly reduced the
use of company vehicles.

Gasoline Consumption (Unit: liter)
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To reduce the consumption of gasoline resources, the Group has
implemented specific measures to save gasoline consumption
and at the same time control Scope 1 (Direct Greenhouse Gas
("GHG") Emissions) emissions, which include but not limited to:

* Promote low-carbon travel and encourage public
transportation such as subways;

. Turn off the engine when the vehicle is idle;

e Make regular vehicle inspection and maintenance to ensure
optimum engine performance and fuel usage;

e  (Coordinate employee travel plans and carpool as much as
possible; and

e Use technological applications such as online visualization
to organize more online conferences.
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Electricity Consumption

The Group is committed to conserving electricity resources,
reducing electricity consumption and at the same time lowering
Scope 2 (Energy Indirect GHG Emissions) emissions. The Group
has taken “power saving” as an important consideration in its
business strategies and operations. In FY2023/2024, the Group
actively promoted energy-efficient office operation and, coupled
with the relocation to smaller offices, electricity consumption was
reduced by approximately 50.00% as compared to FY2022/2023.

Electricity Consumption (Unit: kWh)
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To reduce energy consumption, the Group has implemented
a series of specific energy saving measures, including but not
limited to:

e  Encourage employees to set their computers to energy-
saving modes to reduce energy consumption;

e Enhance employees’ environmental awareness and

consciously reduce unnecessary energy and resource

consumption by posting slogans and organizing

environmental activities;

e Turn off all lights, electronic equipment and other power-
consuming equipment at the end of work and when
working from home;

e Switch off all idle electrical appliances including lights and
air conditioners;

e Use energy-efficient electrical systems, replace high-energy-
consuming lamps with LED lights, and utilize energy-saving
equipment;

e Maintain indoor temperature at 25 degrees, and adjust the
usage of lights and air conditioners in the office properly
during non-full hours;

FY2023/2024
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e Appoint a representative to coordinate the energy saving
plan; and

e Cooperate with the property management company to
clean the dust filter and fan coil unit regularly.

Use of Water Resources

Recognizing that water is a precious natural resource, the Group
has put in place a series of practical measures to help employees
better understand their water footprint and achieve water
conservation. In FY2023/2024, the Group consumed 214.00 m?
of water!, representing a decrease of approximately 3.03% as
compared with FY2022/2023. The water used by the Group was
mainly for office use, which did not exceed within scope of daily
use. In FY2023/2024, the Group did not face any problem in
sourcing water fit for its purpose.

Water Consumption (Unit: m?)
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The Group has formulated policies and raised recommendations
to guide its employees to use water smartly. Committed to
improving its efficiency and performance in water consumption,
the Group will continue its efforts on monitoring and
benchmarking the water usage in its operations, and realize
water conservation by implementing a series of practicable
measures, including by not limited to:

e  Educate employees on a daily basis for them to understand
the concept of water conservation;

e  Make timely report on dripping faucets for repair and
maintenance;

e  (Cooperate with external parties to promote employees’
active participation in water conservation actions;
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e Set up water quotas and targets, and procure employees to
save water;

° Use water-saving sanitary ware to save water consumption;

e  Adjust the water supply according to the season and non-
business hours;

e Make full use of the rainwater recycling system to maximize
the use of water resources by collecting rainwater in the
rainy season and irrigating greenery in the dry season;

° Install water filters and advocate water reuse; and

° Post water-saving slogans next to faucets and in pantries in
the office to raise employees’ awareness.

Note:

1. Given that the water consumption of the Group was provided and
managed by the property management company of the building
where it was located, it is difficult to obtain accurate figures of water
consumption and, therefore, water consumption data was obtained by
estimating the daily water consumption per person.

Paper Consumption

Given the Group's business nature, paper is one of the
primary resources consumed throughout its operation. During
FY2023/2024, the Group consumed 54,000 pieces of paper
and the corresponding weight was approximately 269.44 kg
(approximately 0.269 tonnes), which dropped by approximately
20.09% in consumption as compared to that in FY2022/2023.

Paper Consumption (Unit: kg)
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The Group has long been promoting the concept of “Paperless
Office” and "Office Automation” and encouraging its employees
to use less paper in the workplace while strengthening their
efforts to recycle the wastepaper. The Group has implemented
specific paper-saving measures at its offices, including but not

limited to:
° Post paper conservation slogans on office equipment;

e  Promote office automation and communicate by electronic
means online as much as possible;

e Collect single-sided paper for reuse, with double-sided
printing set as default;

e  Put a single-sided paper collection box and paper-recycling
box near the photocopiers;

e Encourage all staff to reuse one-side printed papers as
drafts; and

e Give priority to recycled paper instead of virgin paper
during procurement to promote the recycled paper industry.

Environmental Targets

We are committed to taking a holistic approach to environmental,
social and economic benefits, and are proactive in assuming
our responsibilities in our operations. The Group has set
environmental targets and reviews progress on ESG targets
annually to optimize the management of the Group’s material
issues and sustainability performance. The following table
summarizes the Group's environmental targets, its progress in
achieving them and the related measures to address them:
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Resource Target
Category Description of Target Progress Solutions
ERER B ZE BREE R e
Electricity Taking FY2021/2022 as the baseline year, Under progress * Increase employees’ awareness of
the Group targets to keep its power power saving
consumption intensity within the same e Power saving equipment
range under the same boundary in the e Switch off when not necessary
next 5 years. e Reduce energy consumption by fully
utilizing natural light to decrease light
intensity
N N2 /"2 _HMERARFE HETP o WHBTIHEEH
AEENBBRRRARRSFARNKREE o HIBR
NNREERERFER —KFe o FUERHBHED
o ARAMABAXARDEIREE  #il
B R #E
Water Since the data of water consumption N/A e Increase employees’ awareness of
of the Group is collected and processed water conservation
in the building collectively, accurate e Report leaking equipment for repair
consumption data is not available. and maintenance
Therefore, specific water consumption e Install water filter
reduction targets cannot be formulated. e Rainwater recycling system
7K TRASERKEHBTFAER —KE TER o RBBTEKER

IR BELERERAE  Fi 8%
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Resource Target
Category Description of Target Progress Solutions
ERER BEH BREE ORI e
Paper Taking FY2021/2022 as the baseline Under progress e Office automation
year, the Group targets to keep its paper e Paper recycling bin
consumption within the same range e Double-sided paper
under the same boundary in the next 5 e Paper saving slogan
years.
il NWZZBZ— /ZT__HEREEFE - HEITH o WMRAEFH
AEENERRARAKSFAKAHLE o HRMUAE
NE R REEBRIFER —KF - o HEAK
o WRENIZE
Unleaded Taking FY2021/2022 as the baseline year, Under progress e Encourage the use of public transportation
Gasoline the Group targets to keep its gasoline *  Online conference
consumption under the same boundary e Reduce unnecessary business trip
in the next 5 years.
Eo i WZZZ— /T _MFEREEFE . #TH o WEIAKRB
AEBENAERRRAKSFANERRE s JiwaE
B R REETHERE - o RBATUEBBEIR
Air Emissions Taking FY2021/2022 as the baseline Under progress e Public transportation
year, the Group targets to keep its air e Improve usage efficiency in office space
emissions under the same boundary in and minimize idle space
the next 5 years. e Regular vehicle maintenance to
improve fuel efficiency
ERBEN WZZBZ— /ZT__MEREEFE . #TH o NHARBHT

AEENERANKRKSFANERRE
ERRFBEERENE-

s RENRLZEEAME HHHEZM
o TEHETAEAE RSHERE

GHG Emissions

Taking FY2021/2022 as the baseline
year, the Group targets to keep its GHG
emissions under the same boundary in
the next 5 years.

W~ /T _MERERFE
AEENBERRRRKSFANEERE
BERRFERERBHMRE-

Under progress

e Purchase emission-reducing furniture
for new offices

e Control energy consumption in energy-
saving office
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Resource Target
Category Description of Target Progress Solutions
ERER B ZE BREE R e
Waste and Due to its business nature, all wastes are  N/A e Strengthen daily environmental
Sewage domestic wastes which are collected and protection promotion
processed in the building collectively. e Increase data collection and further
Therefore, accurate emission data is effective supervision in the future
not available. Specific waste reduction
targets cannot be formulated.
BEYLEK BEEBLE HREEEY HBFAKE TEA o MEAFRREE

B ERRE BEAERERENE
REARNEFRERR

Section 3 - Climate Action

As a leading investment company, we understand that the impact
of climate change has extended to all sectors. Promoting green
transformation is not only a social responsibility, but also the
only way for achieving sustainable development. Therefore, we
actively promote green initiatives in our internal management
and operations to support the cause of environmental protection.
In our daily operations, we actively take measures to reduce our
carbon footprint and energy consumption, such as implementing
an energy management system and promoting green offices. In
addition, in terms of our investment strategy, we are committed
to supporting the development of green business by actively
seeking out and investing in companies and projects with
sustainable development potential.

To ensure the effectiveness and transparency of our green
investments, we have put in place a well-established ESG
assessment system and incorporated ESG factors into the
investment decision-making process, and regularly assess the
environmental and social impact of our investment projects and
monitor their sustainable development performance. We firmly
believe that green investment not only creates economic value,
but also brings positive environmental benefits to the society
and contributes to the combat against climate change and the
realization of sustainable development. In FY2023/2024, the
Group was not aware of any violations of laws and regulations
related to air and GHG emissions, discharge to water and land,
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste, and noise
that would have a significant impact on the Group.
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Emissions

Due to its business nature, the Group does not generate
significant air emissions during its business operations. Air
emissions were mainly generated from fuel combustion of
vehicles. In FY2023/2024, the air emissions of nitrogen oxides
("S0O,"), sulfur oxides (“NO,”) and particulate matter (“PM")
were approximately 0.01 kg, 0.46 kg and 0.03 kg respectively. In
response to China’s commitment to the “Dual-Carbon Strategic
Goal”, the Group has been striving to reduce its carbon footprint
during business operations. In FY2023/2024, the Group's GHG
emissions were mainly generated from the burning of gasoline
by vehicles and electricity consumption. Specifically, the Group's
total amount of GHG emissions was approximately 17.74
tonnes carbon dioxide equivalent, representing a decrease of
approximately 66.93% as compared with FY2022/2023.

Since the solid waste and sewage generated by the Group were
collected and managed collectively by the building property
management company where the Group operates, the Group had
no detailed records of the amount of waste in FY2023/2024. Due
to its business nature, the Group did not generate any hazardous
waste in FY2023/2024. The Group’'s emissions for FY2023/2024
are summarized in Table 1 in the section “Appendix | — Key
Performance”.

Risk of Climate Change

Although the principal business of the Group is not directly
linked to climate or environment, global climate change and the
increase in extreme weather will indirectly affect the operations
of the Group's investees, which may lead to capital expenditures,
capital reallocation or allocation, acquisitions and asset
divestitures, among other things. In the face of escalating climate
challenges, the Group has established a climate risk identification
framework, which identifies and evaluates climate risks in terms
of both the impact of the risk and the probability of occurrence.
The following lists the potential risks that may be brought by
climate change:
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Risk Degree

Category Current Status of Impact  Solutions

[ B g A Bk FEEE BRER

Transition Policy Risk The government may increase ESG  Low to Focus on the promulgation

Risks report disclosure requirements and medium and update of relevant laws

standards, resulting in increased and regulations, and the Legal
operating costs Department will follow up
Existing businesses may be and make improvements
adjusted due to policy changes
which may result in diminished
gains

BE R 2640 BT aE @ IEMESG R ERE EEH ERABERERNEMAM

ZRMBHBFEE - EPE LK

B ORRER IR MR

Brand Risk

an i

ATt
REEHTRRREEDAE
Wk %18

Environmental pollution or Low

product quality problems exist
in the production process of
the investee

High carbon emissions in

the production process of

the investee lead to a risk of
stranded assets

REMQRAERBETHFAER K
Bs Rk mE 8 R A
RENRREEBREPIRHER

m EEFEBERR

The Group will take climate
change into consideration
when investing in new
projects, and actively pay
attention to investment
opportunities in areas

such as clean energy and
environmental protection
Support public relations
policies to address social
issues related to climate
change
AEBERENERER 6
RIFZICMAEBHE 2R
BREIERER BRREE
HHREKS
THEHREZCEBLE
GEEPNEES

Wealthink Al-Innovation Capital Limited / Annual Report 2023/24

ENEREREFRAT / FH202324

113



114

ENVIRONI\/IENTAL SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

oo 4= = g4
RIE - T2 RERHRE
Risk Degree
Category Current Status of Impact  Solutions
[ B g A Bk FERE BRER
Market Risk e Climate change may lead to Low e Regular industry analysis

SRR

rising prices and fluctuations in
the supply chain

AR & AT BE
e N B

EYMELR K

e Focus on the follow-up action
of climate-related indicators
and target information

o TEHITENM

o ERREMBERAMERZRE
B R

Risk of Extreme
Weather

Physical Risks

it
fig
5
B

13 K SRR R

Damage the business of Low
investees

Affect the safety and health of
employees

Damage office equipment

Communication failure

LEMRRRBRE &
FEBRBRRE

e Work from home when necessary
to reduce commuting risks

e Reserve additional communication
time

e Strengthen the disaster-resistant
construction of the office

e (Carry out responsible investment
and diversify investment

o UNEREERWR FHIBY
e B

. 755-’3’%59\\L5ﬂ5%ﬁ

o MBPAEMAEZE

e BEMEKRE Eaa&ﬁgfg

Responding in conjunction with the Group’s enterprise risk
management and implementation of related solutions is an
ongoing direction for the Group in the future. Our management
will adapt to the risks posed by climate change and capitalize on

the potential opportunities it presents.
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CHAPTER 3 — HUMAN RESOURCES
RESPONSIBILITY

The Group firmly believes that employees are an important
asset of the Company. We care for our employees and value
their health and safety. We not only provide our employees with
market competitive benefits package, but also endeavor to create
a healthy and safe working environment. At the same time, we
cultivate our employees to give full play to their strengths and
help them to enhance their professional skills, adhering to the
talent development concept of "“T.E.A.M=Together, Everyone
Achieves More", to achieve the common growth of the enterprise
and its employees, and to realize the sustainable development of
the Group.

Section 1 - Employee Rights

The Group adheres to a people-oriented approach, respects
every employee and actively protects the rights and interests of
every employee. It strictly complies with labor and employment
laws and regulations such as The Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China, The Labour Contract Law of the People’s
Republic of China, and Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57 of
the Laws of Hong Kong). The Group manages the recruitment
process, including recruitment requirements, interview screening
and approval of offers, to ensure that employees can meet the
Group's cultural and development needs. The Group has also
formulated the Annual Recruitment Plan, which concludes the
position vacancies of each department, and the Human Resources
Department is responsible for selecting talents for the Group’s
business development. The Group treats all candidates equally,
eliminates discrimination in gender, race, religion or any other
aspects, and resolutely prohibits the employment of child labor
and involuntary labor. During FY2023/2024, the Group did not
experience any significant violations of labor and employment
laws and regulations.
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F=BE-ANEE

AEERE BEIRMENEEZEE KM
AEEL ERMMNEREEZEZ - KMT
ELREIRMHAEAMSHF NHRANGE.
BEATE—EAREL 2N ITERE B
BMeEsaI8EmMEk EOMMREASE
¥ {88 & [TE.A.M=Together* Everyone
Achieves More | F) A ZERIES - M2 b %
HETHRAKE BERASENAIFHEER -

F-H-ETER

REFEBEFUARER BEEFNUET HEKE
HEEVEINEDR WEAKEST (FEA
RAEMBLEBE) - (FEARXFMESHE
BE) KEBEIED) (BBZEMET7TE)SE
EEHRERNEREIR ASEERBESR
FoMEER FHEAFHERRE  UER
BETRAMEAKEXMERFR XK
BEEIET CFEREE) Y5
B EHETRE BANERIBMAEBER
REBNEBERKEAS AEEHMA
REAN—BREC HBER - ER - R E
MR 5 E RS BAE FERETMIE
BRI -R-ZT=-=/"T_MHF A&
BARBEAMNERERSBDEREZEEZRN
4o

Wealthink Al-Innovation Capital Limited / Annual Report 2023/24

EREHRREBRAT / F5H2023/24

115



116

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIE - tEREBHRE

The Group enters into employment contracts with employees,
strengthens the compliance management of employee
employment, protects the basic rights and interests of employees
in accordance with the law, realizes fair and compliant
employment and recruitment, and establishes a stable and

sound labor relationship between the Group and employees. In

AEBHETIHRILSHER MBHETE
BHEHRERE KEREETIHELESZ
ERATERNERERE 2@UHEETETE
RIFMEEHEER- N T == /-G
FOAEEMNETIAREIER/I00% BT

MAERI8.75% ASEBE TBER32A

FY2023/2024, the employee contract signing rate of the Group EH29AMRFBEHESE SAMLRFE KD
was 100% and the employee turnover rate was 18.75%. The &Jlle
total number of employees of the Group was 32, 29 of which
were based in Hong Kong and 3 were based in Shenzhen,
Mainland China.

Employee Percentage by Gender Employee Percentage by Age

LRI 8 B Tl RFEEIDEE T

Aged 30 or below
o B oo

ot 34% 0BBIAT
53% 15%
Aged 51 or above
FY2023/2024 L 2(1) ?&ML
—_——— g e ‘o
i) —Bo=RF —m——
= uEs 52%. Fy2022/2023 Vale * :;E
Hit FY2023/2024 F2022/2023

12%

47% —Z=-=
—2 g

Aged between 41 and 50
4157 2505%

Aged between 31 and 40
31RE405%
44%

Aged between 31 and 40
315 E405%
43%

Aged between 41 and 50

Diversity and Anti-Discrimination

The Group promotes an equal and inclusive corporate culture
internally and strictly prohibits any discrimination and promotes
equality in the workplace. The Group actively encourages its
employees to report any incidents involving discrimination to the
Human Resources Department of the Group, which takes the
responsibility for assessing, dealing with,
any necessary disciplinary actions. Meanwhile, the Group attaches
great importance to the diversity of its employees and makes its
decisions in the recruitment, employment, salary and promotion

recording and taking

and development of employees based on factors irrespective of
its employees’ gender, age, nationality, religion, belief, color,
race, ethnicity, sexual orientation, political affiliation, family and
health status, etc. The Group continues to be committed to
promoting gender equality and equal pay for employees, and
continues to increase the proportion of female employees in the
senior management, with women accounting for approximately
23.08% of senior management in FY2023/2024.
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Compensation and Benefits

The Group adheres to the principles of fairness, equity and
transparency in remuneration and performance, and offers
competitive remuneration to its employees to fully mobilize
their motivation and create a positive and progressive workplace
environment. The Group will offer fair and competitive
remuneration and development opportunities to applicants
based on their educational background, personal attributes, job
experience and career aspirations. Furthermore, the Group has
also established a comprehensive welfare protection system in
accordance with national and regional laws and regulations.

In order to continuously improve the welfare of our employees
and to care for employees in need and their families, the Group
actively introduces various non-salary benefits and extends them
to all employees to create a corporate culture of respect and
responsibility, including but not limited to:

Statutory benefits
VETE 48 A
leave, etc.

RIR - Mg RERME

FHEER

REBRFAF AL BHABOH SRR
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Leave entitlements: statutory holidays, rest days, annual leave, sick leave, maternity
leave, paternity leave, marriage leave, funeral leave, examination leave, personal

Social insurance: basic pension insurance, medical insurance, unemployment
insurance, work injury insurance, maternity insurance, and housing fund

KBz ZEHBRA-KER - FARR BR - ER BER &R BR THAR:

ERE

HaRl: EXAEEZRE BERRE XERRE IEHRER LERREEEQESR

Health insurance

2 FRE (R =

Medical insurance, health check-ups
BERR - ERER

Women's Care

gk

Provide adequate supporting mechanisms to achieve best breastfeeding practice and
create a breastfeeding friendly workplace
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Caring for Employees

The Group attaches great importance to communication
and exchanges with employees, respects their opinions and
suggestions, actively listens to their voices, and provides all
employees with a variety of complaint and feedback channels.
The Group encourages employees to actively put forward
suggestions and report complaints in their real names or
anonymously, and they can contact the relevant departments
through channels such as emails, bulletin boards, telephone calls,
weekly company meetings, weekly reports, quarterly reports and
team building activities, etc., so as to safeguard the employees’
rights to freedom of speech and expression. Upon receipt of
employee feedback or complaints, the department concerned will
send feedback to the business unit by email for investigation and
follow-up, and effectively respond to and help employees solve
their problems.

Section 2 - Employee Safety

Every employee is an important part of the Group. The Group
strives to create and maintain a healthy and safe workplace
for its employees, and in particular, commits to addressing any
exposures of its employees to occupational health and safety
risks. The Group strictly abides by relevant laws and regulations
in relation to health and safety protection, such as the Law
of the People's Republic of China on Prevention and Control
of Occupational Diseases and Occupational Safety and Health
Ordinance (Cap 509 of the Laws of Hong Kong), implements
the ISO 45001 occupational health and safety management
system, and carry out relevant measures to protect the safety of
employees:

®  Ensured employees’ desk setup is ergonomic;
e Encouraged employees to take regular breaks and lower
overall sedentary exposure;

e Arranged emergency response drills and safety meetings
regularly;
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e Maintained and cleaned the air-conditioning systems
regularly;

e  Promoted the “5S” concept in workplace management;

e Ensured the ventilation in the offices complies with the
guidelines and standards of the building;

e Organised professional disinfection of carpets; and

° Prohibited smoking and drinking liquor in the workplace.
The Group regularly organizes fire evacuation drills and
fire safety education and training to popularize fire safety
knowledge, enhance employees’ awareness of fire safety
and improve their emergency self-rescue capabilities.

The Group attaches great importance to the health of its
employees, and thus all full-time employees of the Group are
entitled to medical plans covering out-patient clinical visits,
hospitalisation, dental checkups and surgical treatment. Besides,
the Group had upgraded the medical plan to provide wider
coverage, such as body check-ups, vaccinations, and vision
care, and increased the upper limit of each claim of dental
consultation. The Group has also partnered with the insurance
service provider to adopt an e-claim mobile application. The
Group has developed a response mechanism to deal with any
emergency, by providing immediate support for the injured,
launching investigations to examine root causes and taking
corrective actions to avoid recurrence. In FY2023/2024, the
Group invested HKD338,000 in occupational health and safety
for employees in medical and labor insurance, and invested
HKD15,500 in work safety for office insurance. The Group had
zero work-related fatalities and work-related injuries (work-
related fatality rate was zero) and zero work-related injuries lost
days in the past three years (including FY2023/2024).
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Section 3 - Employee Training

The Group emphasizes in-house talent development, based
on the long-term development of the enterprise, invests
large amount of resources to build a staff training system,
and continuously builds a talent team to adapt to business
development. It provides its employees with transparent
promotion channels and career growth space and formulates
training programmes to strengthen its employees’ capability and
competitiveness. To address the deficiency in knowledge and
professional skillsets of its employees, the Group encourages and
supports its employees to further improve and develop their job-
related skills and knowledge for career development through
taking courses with recognised institutions.

Professional team is the core competence of the Group. In order
to enhance its employees’ professional competence to further
strengthen the Group’s core competitiveness in the market, the
Group has been committed to designing and providing suitable
training programmes to its employees in accordance with their
job nature. The Group has covered the introduction to industry
background, professional knowledge and skillsets, laws and
regulation in its training programmes.

Given the business nature of the Group, it is crucial for
its employees to keep updated with the latest regulatory
requirements and significant changes to the economic market.
The employees of the Group are highly encouraged to take
professional qualification examinations and enroll in external
training programmes to further equip themselves with
professional knowledge. Employees who have taken professional
qualification examinations and obtained vocational qualification
certificates relevant to their roles in the Group will receive
reimbursements from the Group. A copy of the “Examination &
Training Reimbursement Form” can be obtained from the Human
Resources Manager with a list of pre-approved examinations
and procedures of reimbursement. In FY2023/2024, the Group
provided a total of 33 hours of training for its employees. The
breakdown of the Group’s training information in terms of
gender, employee category and training hours is detailed in
Tables 5 in the section “Appendix | — Key Performance”.
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CHAPTER 4 — SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

The Group upholds the principle of corporate social responsibility
and constantly strives to create sustainable value for the
community. We strictly screen suppliers and maintain stable
cooperations with them, while actively participating in improving
the well-being of community groups in difficult times and
continuously exploring more opportunities to create value for
society.

Section 1 - Supplier Management

Given the nature of the Group’s business, suppliers play an
integral role in its operations. The Group has established good
business relationships with a number of suppliers of office
supplies and technical support and prioritizes green office
supplies during selection, such as the use of recycled paper
as much as possible. In order to effectively identify and avoid
potential social and environmental risks in the supply chain and
promote the sustainable development of the entire supply chain,
the Group is committed to establishing a standardized system
for supplier management, which is applied to supplier screening
and review process. In FY2023/2024, the Group had 20 suppliers
from Hong Kong, China.
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Supplier Screening and Review

The Group takes great care in selecting suppliers and the
Administration Department is responsible for the overall
supervising of the selection of suppliers and the procurement
process. In the process of selecting a supplier, the Administration
Department considers a range of criteria and conducts a detailed
assessment of suppliers’ compliance before entering into an
agreement. The Group adheres to the principle of “comparing
three or more relevant suppliers” by collecting and requesting
quotations from three or more relevant suppliers. We conduct a
comprehensive assessment from multiple dimensions, including
social, environmental and governmental regulations and
standards, and ultimately select the most suitable suppliers for
contracting to ensure a stable cooperation. Through a rigorous
screening and assessment process, we strive to not only build
long-term cooperation relations with our suppliers, but also
promote the sustainable development of the supply chain.

Six Factors for Evaluating Suppliers

Reputation
BE

01

Environmental Management Performance
RIZEEER

03

Track Record for the Past Three Years
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05
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Supplier Quality Control

The Group attaches great importance to quality control of
our suppliers to ensure the sustainability of our supply chain.
We are fully aware that the behavior of our suppliers has far-
reaching impacts on our overall business and the environment,
and have therefore put in place a stringent supplier evaluation
and monitoring mechanism to ensure their compliance with
our sustainability criteria. During our cooperation, we regularly
review and evaluate our suppliers, focusing on monitoring their
performance in areas such as environmental management, labor
conditions and business ethics. If a supplier is found to have
failed to meet the Group’s criteria or contractual requirements,
we will terminate our cooperation with it and blacklist it.
We have set up various feedback channels to encourage our
employees and stakeholders to report any identified violations
so that corrective actions can be taken in a timely manner. At
the same time, we maintain close communication with our
suppliers and provide the necessary support to encourage them
to improve their ESG management. Through these measures, we
not only ensure the quality and reliability of our supply chain, but
also promote the improvement of our suppliers’ environmental
and social responsibility, ultimately realizing the sustainable
development of the entire supply chain.

Green Supply Chain

The Group integrates the concept of “green procurement” into
the construction of the supplier system, giving priority to local
suppliers and giving preference to purchase of environmentally
friendly products under the same conditions. By doing so, we
hope to reduce the carbon footprint and environmental impact
caused by procurement, while at the same time promoting
the development of the local economy and creating more job
opportunities.

RIR - Mg RERME

HEPmEEET

REB+HESREMEEHAOE S EE U
REEROAFETR - BIMRAEERD
TRAHEREKLEEBEFAEVE BHitdl
E T BRI AL R AT A B e ) - MR A
FARMOAIBEREZE - EAERREP
BMEHYHERNETEEMT G SN
THARSBEEE BHBKENNEEES

EHERR BRAHEIRERFELAEERN
BEFARER BRMBREILERZAE T
BEHIARZZE RMELTZERERE
BENE TAF =AM |E I RAER
TR LAE R EFER VAU IE 48 46 - B B - FfFg e
HEFRFEEZER RELENIR &
BYEIRFTESG B IEKTF o5 im 5 L3 i - B
MTERREEEOEEMA i BH
THENECREMTEEAFENNE &
KEREEHEENIFERE-

refiEs
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Section 2 - Social Investment F-_H-LERE

Based on social development, the Group endeavors to give back ZAEBENAESERE AER BHERTEHME
to the society through practical actions and opportunities to L& B HALEMEEROKE - F 1B
contribute to the society. Through the formulation of relevant #IEHBEE AEEEGHBHEE T2 H
policies, the Group actively encourages its employees to &EEH UEMHENEFTE AL 1M
participate in various activities to help those in need in society. BBFAFFTHIEEITIER BREREXA
By making donations to specific organizations, we protect the BR ABEIEE Z ot HEL g HEFE
environment and create more possibilities for the poor, thus #FIZRE -

contributing to the common progress and development of

society.

Case Study: Computer Donation Public Welfare Activities

On 27 March 2024, in responding to the call for environmental protection and reuse of resources, the Group
decided to donate computer equipment to Caritas Computer Workshop. The donated computer equipment
totaled 1 desktop computer, 9 LCD monitors and 3 laptops. The refurbished computers will be distributed
to poor people or non-profit organizations. We hope the donations can be used to the greatest extent and
transferred to those in need. This initiative will not only help reduce the waste of resources and the burden on
the environment, but also provide more opportunities and possibilities for the beneficiaries and promote social
equity and development. The Group will continue to pay attention to social needs and actively promote similar
environmental and social responsibility initiatives.

ROIDE BRBEEAFID

“ECMF=ZA-t+tER AKEREGEEZRRENERBNANTR RESBRERRBEATEKRIS-
ERBRNEMREENBEREEN IBLICDBRTRIBHBFREN BN ERS SRS HEERARX
FENAK - BPFEZBBERBVWETAREHEEFR SEXIELFENATFH - t BETERD
REDERORENRBEEE ERAXSERETSHENAEE RELENAFEER AEEKFHE
I edm R TREEESHRUNRERNMLEEETH-

[Clclwl___ CreL+2 .,

|azmEsTS|
[RR——

apr 2020
Cantas Computer Returbish projecs

senvcsimprovement

deprived groups andbe ourvounteers.
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APPENDIX | — KEY PERFORMANCE MY 8% — — BESRIE R

Table 1 - The Group’s Emissions by Category in FY2023/2024
and FY2022/2023"

RI-AEER-_SE-= “E-_NBER
CECC /CEC=HMERENERERE

Key Performance Amount in  Intensity® in Amount in Intensity® in
Indicator (KPI) Unit FY2023/2024 FY2023/2024 FY2022/2023*  FY2022/2023
—EBC= —EC-= —ZE-= g
—E-Mm —Z-Nn —E-= -
Emission BTER BEN HEMN HE
Category HRER BRERER B UnE HHEBRES Mg HMERES
Air Emissions  ZER K SO, Kg 0.01 0.00031 0.079 0.0024
TR
NO, Kg 0.46 0.014 2.33 0.0706
T
PM Kg 0.03 0.00094 0.17 0.0052
TR
GHG Emissions 8 % % 88 B Scope 1 Tonnes of 1.54 0.0481 14.36 0.4352
(Direct GHG Emissions)? COe
&[EN B_SliEe
(EZRERBHR)
Scope 2 Tonnes of 16.20 0.5063 39.28 1.1903
(Energy Indirect GHG CO,e
Emissions)*
[E2 B_EliEs
(B M
RERBHR)
Total (Scope 1 & 2)  Tonnes of CO,e 17.74 0.5544 53.64 1.6255
@5t BRI RES
(8E1%k2)
Non-Hazardous f&EBEEY Wastewater® m? 214.00 6.6875 220.6875 6.6875
Waste
LS K
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Notes:

The data of GHG emissions is expressed in “Tonnes of CO,e” and
is calculated with reference to, including but not limited to, “How
to Prepare an ESG Report? — Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on
Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange, Guidelines to
Account for and Report on Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Removals
for Buildings (Commercial, Residential or Institutional Purposes) in Hong
Kong and the 2006 IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change)
Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories.

The amount and intensity in FY2022/2023 were extracted from the ESG
report set out in the Group’s annual report for FY2022/2023.

The Group's Scope 1 (Direct GHG Emissions) included only the
consumption of unleaded gasoline in motor vehicles.

The Group's Scope 2 (Energy Indirect GHG Emissions) only included only
electricity consumption.

Given no record of water consumption was provided by the property
management company of the building during the year under review,
the amount of water withdrawal was based on the estimation of water
consumption per capita per day.

Intensity for FY2023/2024 and FY2022/2023 were calculated by dividing
the Group's emissions in that year by the number of employees in that
year. During FY2023/2024 and FY2022/2023, the number of employees
was 32 and 33, respectively.
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o =z =r
I=i= 75': KZ == #& (=]
Table 2 - The Group’s Resource Consumption in R2-—ZE-=Z /-—ZE-_NHER=-F
FY2023/2024 and FY2022/2023 _/_g—_ﬁﬂfﬁﬂs%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁgﬁﬁ
Amount of Intensity? Amount of Intensity?
Resource of Resource Resource of Resource
Key Performance Consumption in Consumptionin  Consumption in ~ Consumption in
Indicator (KPI) Unit FY2023/2024 FY2023/2024  FY2022/2023' FY2022/2023
—EC-= —EC-= —E-=/ —E--
—E-Q —E-@ —E-= —Fz=
HEN BENER HEM HENER
Use of Resources EREA BRENEE Bfy ERFEAE 5 2R BRERE PRERE
Energy R Electricity kWh'000 24.55 0.7672 49.10 1.4879
B TETRE
Unleaded Gasoline® L 580.15 18.1297 5,400.38 163.6479
& N
Total kWh'000 30.17 0.9428 101.44 3.0739
el TETRE
Water* ke Water m’ 214.00 6.6875 220.6875 6.6875
X K
Paper &R Paper tonnes 0.2694 0.0084 03372 0.0102
R i
Packaging Materials ~ BEH## Cartons tonnes - - 02 0.0061
it i
Notes: et
! The amount in FY2022/2023 were extracted from the ESG report set ' ZE /R CCUENEREREEET

out in the Group’s annual report for FY2022/2023.

Intensity for FY2023/2024 and FY2022/2023 was calculated by dividing
the Group ‘s emissions in that year by the number of employees in that
year. During FY2023/2024 and FY2022/2023, the number of employees
was 32 and 33, respectively.

For the convenience of readers to make comparisons, the Group
also expresses the data related to the use of unleaded gasoline in
the unit of kWh'000, and the unit conversion calculation is based on
the conversion factors in “Energy Statistics Manual” issued by the
International Energy Agency. During FY2023/2024, the use of unleaded
gasoline was approximately 5.62 kWh'000. During FY2023/2024,
the intensity of use of unleaded gasoline was approximately 0.1756
kWh'000 per employee. During FY2022/2023, the use of unleaded

RAEB -_ZT-— /— T =B FFEHREP
HIRE HEREARS -

ZE = /T _NBER=ZE == /Z=%
CCHFNRERBABBASEREFNF
mmﬁﬁﬁﬁ§@u$ﬁl*¢%¢MEI

AB(ZZ == /T NP FANA =
TR =M FA33A)REHE -
BHEEEETLRE AEERETUTET

B A B i B 3R 0 )00 62 A A Fﬁ%ﬂf v

B R RIEE R REAEM CGREIRATET 3
) NEER A E — T*:/:ZT:E

BEMESDREREN RS Q2TETRE
ZE =/ N FNERTRERAE
WEMHAITS6TET RN /BIAK(ZE
“ECCHFENENRATERAENAR
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gasoline was approximately 52.34 kWh'000. FY2022/2023, the intensity 52 UFEFEN —T=-= /T _=Z0UFK
of use of unleaded gasoline was approximately 1.5861 kWh'000 per EIURERAERELHR. 5861:F1I:FE51/
employee. ;I/\%()

4 Given no record of water consumption was provided by the property — * ERREYMEEE QRN BIEFE NI EE M
management company of the building during the year under review, KEAELH KERERBAHEERKE
the amount of water withdrawal was based on the estimation of water fl&to
consumption per capita per day.

Table 3 - Employees of the Group as at 31 March 2024 and R3-BZ-_Z_NE=A=+—HEREZ

31 March 2023 —EC_=HF=ZA=+—-HAAXKEEIHE
As at As at
31 March 31 March
2024 2023"
Bz BHE

—E-NE —E-=F
=A=+—-H =ZA=+—H

Number of employees ET AH Total AR 32 33
By gender &R Male S 15 16
Female it 17 17
By region it & Hong Kong s 29 30
Mainland China B K B 3 3
By age RER Aged 51 or above SRR &AL 1 10
Aged between 41 and 50 41250737 3 4
Aged between 31 and 40 31Z405 14 14
Aged 30 or below 30m R 4 5
By type BEETIER Senior Management BREEE 13 11
Middle Management HREEE 10 8
Entry level employee EEET 9 14
By professional REEER Investment Management X & &2 21.88% 27.27%
category Operations Management BEERE 25.00% 24.24%
Financial officer MBAR 15.63% 12.12%
Director = 21.88% 21.21%
Internal control personnel ~ RIEA & 12.50% 12.12%
Human Resources ANER 3.13% 3.03%
Note: (S
1 The data of employee as at 31 March 2023 were extracted from the ' HE-_Z-_=#=-A=1+—HWEIHKEEM
ESG report set out in the Group’s annual report for FY2022/2023. BEHIRNAEE S - T -_—GFFE

BERHRE e RERME -
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Table 4 - Employee Turnover of the Group in FY2023/2024
and FY2022/2023

k4a-—F

I%i% %ié& /El#&l:

=S/ ZE-ONBERS

—:/zgzzyiﬁiaﬁlﬁm%ﬁ

FY2023/2024 FY2022/2023'
—E-= —ZE==/
“ECMBE —T=BF
Number of BRET AZ Total BAY 6 8
Employee Turnover
Employee BTIRAZE Percentage ERasd 18.75% 24.24%
turnover rate?
By gender (%)? BHER(%)> Male BE 2 (13.33%) 3(18.75%)
Female peg 4 (23.53%) 5(29.41%)
By region (%)? RibE(%)® Hong Kong &% 6 (20.69%) 7 (23.33%)
Mainland China K BE - 1(33.33%)
By age (%) BE#(%)®  Aged 51 or above 515 M A £ - 3(30.00%)
Aged between 41 and 50 412505 1(33.33%) 1(25.00%)
Aged between 31 and 40 31 £ 405, 4 (28.57%) 2 (14.29%)
Aged 30 or below 30 AT 1 (25.00%) 2 (40.00%)
Notes: st

The data of employee turnover in FY2022/2023 were extracted from
the ESG report set out in the Group's annual report for FY2022/2023.
For the purpose of making comparison with FY2023/2024, the Group
updates the presentation method of employee turnover rate by type for
FY2022/2023.

Employee turnover rate is calculated by dividing the total number
of employee turnover for the financial year by the total number of
employees for the financial year and multiplying by 100%.

Employee turnover rate by type is calculated by dividing the total
number of employee turnover of such type for the financial year by
the total number of employees of such type for the financial year and
multiplying by 100%.

R /T CHFNEIRBEERER
BHIRAEBR T /T -=8FFE
MEPHRB HERERARE ATEH-T
Z= /T MR AREEN T =
T /T =FRERNESHNERRE
EHRAFTH -

BEIRARMAELARN AR TR SHBE
AN ZHFNREEBBAE X100% °

HEREPHMBEIRAENHEARNARZYF
ZERNESEBAAS ZUFZERNE
A X100% °

Wealthink Al-Innovation Capital Limited / Annual Report 2023/24

ENERHEBRERRAT / F%H202324

129



ENVIRONI\/IENTAL SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

=

Table 5 - Employees Trained of the Group in FY2023/2024

and FY2022/2023

HERE

/l:l #&d:

®"5--—B=-=/=

ZE_MNBEFER=

—EC_-HEAREEEIZIEE

FY2023/2024 FY2022/2023!
—E-= —E=-=/
“ECEME T oA
Number of employees  EZEHN  Total LAY 32 32
trained BETAEY
By gender BB Male St 15 16
Percentage of employees trained? S FI1E & & 5 f2 46.87% 50.00%
Female g 17 16
Percentage of RilEEB DL 53.13% 50.00%
employees trained?
By type BETHEH  Senior Management BREERE 13 10
Percentage of employees trained? ZFIEES & 2 2 40.63% 31.25%
Middle Management hREEE 10 8
Percentage of employees trained? 5 3|1E & & 5 £2 31.25% 25.00%
Entry level employee HEET 9 14
Percentage of employees trained? ZFIEEE 2 tt?2 28.12% 43.75%
Total training hours? BI#ZHEIN  Hours N 33 146
HERR
Average training hours* BI 3333l Hours N 1.03 4.56
8
By gender BB Training hours for male SHEER 16 9%
Average training hours® Sclarilie g 1.1 6.0
Training hours for female 7R 17 50
Average training hours® T8 3| o £ 1.0 3.125
By type BEIEAE  Training hours for Senior RRERERIIRR 13 124
Management
Average training hours® T8 3| o £ 1.0 124
Training hours for Middle RRERESEER 10 8
Management
Average training hours® TR IR 2 1.0 1.0
Training hours for Entry level EEETIHIRR 10 14
employee
Average training hours® TR Es 1.1 1.0
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The data of employee training in FY2022/2023 were extracted from the
ESG report set out in the Group's annual report for FY2022/2023.

Percentage of employees trained by type is calculated by dividing the
number of employees trained of such type for the financial year by the
total number of employees trained for the financial year and multiplying
by 100%.

During FY2023/2024, the Group recorded a significant decrease in
training demand of employees, mainly attributable to the training of
new employees. Therefore, training hours decreased as compared to
FY2022/2023.

Average training hours are calculated by dividing the total training
hours of employees for the financial year by the total number of
employees trained for the financial year.

Average training hours by type are calculated by dividing the training
hours of employees of such type for the financial year by the number of
employees trained of such type for the financial year.

Table 6 — Employees Safety of the Group in FY2023/2024,

I%ﬁ% ﬁ&?§BZ #&m

R /T CUFNEBEIEIISERR
BEIINAEB T ZT_=UFFE
WMEFHRE HERERARE -

RERNESHZIEEESLENFAEAR BZ
MEZERESEINETASR ZHFESZ
Hl B THEAZ X100% °

RIB-_= /T _NHF AEEETHE
IFEREZERD FTEEREMMAEINE
I EHHESER B - /T - =8 F-
FIRFREMRD -

?iI?i’Jiﬁ*l\Eﬁ%lE’]quiﬁ AR BT FR T
FHlMER R RV FREIEINETEA
gyo

BENIN B TFHEISHNFAEIAS
ZWFEZER B THIN KL FZERE
BN E T AR

Rk6——B-= "“EBE-_MOHF-=ZB=-Z

FY2022/2023 and FY2021/2022 —E-CHER-—B-— —E-—BEX
EEEIZRZHE
FY2023/2024 FY2022/2023" FY2021/2022'
—EC-= —E=-=/ —E2=—/
Unit e e e S
Employee Occupational Health EIBERER2RA HK$'000  FiTiE 338.00 324.10 198.99
and Safety commitment
Safety production commitment REEERA HK$'000  FrA¥ 15.5 145 145
Number of work-related injuries BIZERRTAY People - - -
or fatalities
Rate of injuries or fatalities ZERARTLE(BEEAIA) % - - -
(per hundred workers)
Lost days due to work injury BIZEMERNBRRE Day = - -
Note: 5
1 The data of employee safety in FY2022/2023 and FY2021/2022 were ' S /T CZHMER=ZT=—/=
extracted from the ESG report set out in the Group’s annual report for ToMFNEIREHERRBERI ZK%
FY2022/2023. I /T _CUEFEREPHERE

HERERRS -
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Table 7 - Corporate Governance of the Group in X7--“f-=/-"ZFZ-_0OHEK=
FY2023/2024 and FY2022/2023 T ZECZREAKERD 1/512%135

FY2023/2024 FY2022/2023'
—E2-=/ —ZE==/
“E_NBE T =EF

Times of Board Meetings EZEAEEH  Times N 4 4
Held RE
Board size EZgAY People A 7 6
By gender &1 B Male S 7 6
Female feqkd - -
By type RER Independent director &= 3
Non-independent BV EE
director
Directors’ average ESTHEHMH HK$'000 FAE 285.71/year 250/year
remuneration 285.71/ % 250,/
Number of trademarks and ~ HBEEZEFEHFZ  Number & 4 3
word registration rights A 3 7k
held by Intellectual s

Property Rights

Note: et
! The data of corporate governance in FY2022/2023 were extracted from ' ZEC /T CUFENARREHIERER
the ESG report set out in the Group’s annual report for FY2022/2023. BRI AEE S =/ — T - FFE

BERHNRE HERERME -
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Table 8 - Anti-corruption of the Group in FY2023/2024 and
FY2022/2023

RIR - Mg RERME

K- —_B-_=/-—"FE-_NHER=-ZF
T CECHEAEERESHE

FY2023/2024 FY2022/2023"
—Eg-=/ —E-=
—E_NBE T =BF

Number of anti-corruption RESREBER Number {5 - -
and anti-corruption E4"
reporting incidents

Average hours of employees EIEZREGSTK Hours  /[\E§ 1 1
receiving anti-corruption & B 3E S
training FHRE

Number of employees E¥RESTREHR People A 28 26
receiving anti-corruption FIWE T A"
training

Average hours of directors EZEEZIRERBEH Hours /) 1 1
receiving anti-corruption N F IR B
training

Number of directors receiving EEEZRES People A 7 6
anti-corruption training RIBBIEINAE

Note: Bt

! The data of anti-corruption in FY2022/2023 were extracted from the
ESG report set out in the Group's annual report for FY2022/2023.

Table 9 - Suppliers of the Group in FY2023/2024 and
FY2022/2023

! R /R CUFNRESEERHA
BN AEE T T _—HFFER

EREIEE B REARE o
RI-ZEB-Z/ZEBE-_QNHEFR=-ZT
T CECCHREASEHERRE

FY2023/2024 FY2022/2023'

—Eg-=/ —ET=-=
—E_NBE T =BE

Number of Suppliers HEBHE Total BEH B 20 22
By region BihE Hong Kong, China A EI&EE 20 21

Mainland China P K B - 1
Note: e

! The data of suppliers in FY2022/2023 were extracted from the ESG
report set out in the Group’s annual report for FY2022/2023.

1 R /R CHEMHEREREREA
HINAKE T == T =—HFFER

EHERE HERERRE-
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APPENDIX Il — CONTENT INDEX OF ESG fif$k — -ESG ¥R EHESINE R 5
REPORTING GUIDE

Indicators Description Relevant GRI Standards Relevant Section
EEAR it HEFE GRIZE R HEEEH

A. Environmental Categories

AREEHE
Aspect A1: Emissions
EEAT B
General Disclosure Information on: GRI 2: General Disclosures 2021 1.3 Climate Action
(@)  the policies; and GRI 3: Material Topics 2021
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations GRI 305: Emissions 2016
that have a significant impact on the issuer GRI 306: Waste 2020
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges
into water and land, and generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous waste.
—RBE BEERRZERBHA MRS BE  GRI2: —RBE2021 13R1E1TE
LREEBEENNELFN: GRI3 : EAE #2021
(@ R R GRI 305 : # #2016
b) BTHETAREATYEMEBERRAL  GRI306 : EEY2020
BB -
KPI'A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. GRI' 305: Emissions 2016 1.3 Climate Action,
Appendix | - Key
Performance Table 1
BRERIERALY HEHBE AR R EE - GRI 305 : #£12016 13RE1TE)  Migk——
BB R
KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) GRI305: Emissions 2016 1.3 Climate Action,
greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where Appendix | - Key
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production Performance Table 1
volume, per facility).
BB RUERAL2 BEE (SRR REEZ (BE)RZREHME  GRI305: HH2016 13RETE  Misk——
(MEHE) R (WER)RE (WABESENL & B A TR
HRIBEE)
KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where GRI 306: Waste 2020 1.3 Climate Action,
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production Appendix | - Key
volume, per facility). Performance Table 1
BRERIRIRALS MELRERENRE (MEE) L (MER)E  GRI306 : BEEY2020 1381178 Misk——
B (WABESEN BERENE) B A TR
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Indicators Description Relevant GRI Standards Relevant Section
EERA it HFEGRIZER HEZE
KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, GRI 306: Waste 2020 1.3 Climate Action,

WREIIRIZAI4

KPIAT.5

BRBMIEIRALS

KPI'AT1.6

MEMIEEZEALE

where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

MESEEEENAE (VIEE)R
E(WAGEREN BERMHE) -
Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to

(@ f) =

achieve them.

HLFET UMM B B R R AEDE LR BHMRN
MEE-

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes are handled, and a description of reduction
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
WIRBEERBERENN LA REMMAE L
FRERERAEEL R BRI

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

BEA2 - ERER

General Disclosure

—REE

KPI A2.1

BRENIRRA

KPI'A2.2

MREMIEIEZA22

KPIA2.3

BB IRIRAL3

KPI'A2.4

BREMIERA2L

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including
energy, water and other raw materials.

BRERER (BER KREMRMH) OBK -

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g.
electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in ‘000s) and intensity
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
RENEAPNERR/SAEELR(NE Gkm)
BREUTETARAE)REE (WABEES
fii - BERIEE) o

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit
of production volume, per facility).

BRKEREE (WABESEN BEREHE)
Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and
steps taken to achieve them.

BT UM RERNRERRAENELAR
FRERERE) 78R -

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing
water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s)
set and steps taken to achieve them.

18 30K EUE R KO | B ] TR DA R P AT SR
ARG EERAENELARARRA SR

GRI 306 : EE£ 112020

GRI 3: Material Topics 2021
GRI' 305: Emissions 2016
GRI 3 : ERE 82021

GRI 305 : #2016

GRI 3: Material Topics 2021
GRI 306: Waste 2020

GRI3 : EAFE2021
GRI 306 : EE 5212020

GRI 2: General Disclosures 2021

GRI 3: Material Topics 2021
GRI2 : — 182021
GRI3 : EAE #2021
GRI'302: Energy 2016

GRI 302 : 8272016

GRI 303: Water and Effluents

2018

GRI 303 : 7K B 7K2018

GRI 3: Material Topics 2021
GRI'302: Energy 2016

GRI 3 : ERE 82021

GRI 302 : §£/52016

GRI 3: Material Topics 2021

GRI 303: Water and Effluents

2018
GRI3 : EAFE2021
GRI 303 : JK R k2018

Appendix | - Key
Performance Table 1
13R1E1TE)  Misk——
e

1.3 Climate Action

13RETH

1.3 Climate Action

13RE1TH

1.2 Energy Use

1.28 R A

1.2 Energy Use,
Appendix | - Key
Performance Table 2

280 REA Mg ——
@%fU M*k2

1.2 Energy Use,

Appendix | - Key

Performance Table 2
28R B A - Mgr——

@aﬁi%ﬂxﬁ@

1.2 Energy Use

1. 288 IR F3

1.2 Energy Use

1.28E R H
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Relevant GRI Standards
HEGRIEE]

Relevant Section

REEH

m g & H

IRIEE - HERERME

Indicators Description

EEAR g

KPI' A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in

MIREMIRIZALS

tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per unit

produced.
HEmAAeEMRNES (DAEE) R (ER)
BEEEMGE-

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

EHA3:
General Disclosure

—REE

KPI' A3.1

BRENRRA

BRERXAER

Policies on minimising the issuer's significant impacts on
the environment and natural resources.

BOEBEDHRARRAERNEAZERERK
RERRBTENTE-

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the
environment and natural resources and the actions taken
to manage them.

WACERAEEHETAELVENEARKR
BEE REHTH-

Aspect A4: Climate Change

EEA4: RIREL

General Disclosure

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant
climate-related issues which have impacted, and those
which may impact, the issuer.

—RBE AAREHEL R GHBETAELYENERX
RIRMEEEENORER

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues
which have impacted, and those which may impact, the
issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.

BRSENUERA WREER TR eHETAELYENEARKE
BEH REHTH-
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GRI 301: Materials 2016

GRI 301 : #2016

GRI 2: General Disclosures 2021
GRI 3: Material Topics 2021

GRI 2 : —#i552021

GRI 3 : EAFE2021

GRI 3: Material Topics 2021
GRI 303: Water and
Effluents 2018

GRI 305: Emissions 2016
GRI 306 Waste 2020
GRI3 : EXRFE2021

GRI 303 : K HL AR 7k2018
GRI 305 : ¥ 712016

GRI 306 : BE 12020

GRI 2: General Disclosures 2021
GRI 3: Material Topics 2021

GRI 2 : —#% 1852021

GRI 3 : EAF 82021

GRI 201: Economic Performance
2016

GRI 201 : & EE #2016

1.2 Energy Use

1.288 R % A

1.1 Environmental
Management,
1.2 Energy Use
LIRBER
128855
1.1 Environmental
Management,
1.2 Energy Use,
1.3 Climate Action

1.3 Climate Action

13R1E1TE

1.3 Climate Action

13878
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RE - HERERRE

Indicators Description
EEAR it

Relevant GRI Standards
HEGRIEE]

Relevant Section

REEH

B. Social Categories

BABER

Aspect B1: Employment

BEB1 ER

General Disclosure Information on:

(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment

and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal

opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other

benefits and welfare.

—RRE FHEMEEE REREE TESE RE T
Se il REVRUEREMFERENN:
@ HE:k
b) BIHETABEAYENRRZERAN
&K o

KPI'B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for

example, full-or part-time), age group and geographical
region.

BRENIEIRBI IR BEEL  FRAMN RIS NES L -

KPIB1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and

geographical region.

BREYIRIRBI.2 RIER FRANRBRADNERREALE

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

EEB REHER2

General Disclosure Information on:

(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to providing a safe working environment and

protecting employees from occupational hazards.

—RKE ARRELZETIHERARREREERAB R LS
)
(@ BUR: R
(b) ETHETAREAYENRERAZRREN
R

GRI 2: General Disclosures 2021
GRI 3: Material Topics 2021

GRI 406: Non-discrimination 2016

GRI2 : — 41852021
GRI3 : EAFE2021
GRI 406 : 71182016

GRI 2: General Disclosures 2021
GRI 405: Diversity and

Equal Opportunity 2016

GRI2 : — 182021

GRI 405:BI% it BEZE
#2016

GRI 401: Employment 2016

GRI401 : & {ERZ2016

GRI 2: General Disclosures 2021
GRI 3: Material Topics 2021

GRI 403: Occupational Health and

Safety 2018

GRI2 : — 41852021
GRI3 : EAE 82021
GRI 403 : BREZ 2 E£2018

3.1 Employee Rights,
3.2 Employee Trainings

3B TR
328 T

3.1 Employee Rights,
Appendix | - Key
Performance Table 3
3B TR Msk——
BRENRS

Appendix | - Key

Performance Table 4

Mk —— B RAB R4

3.3 Employees’ Safety
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Relevant GRI Standards
HEGRIEE]

Relevant Section

REEH

oo 4= = g4
IRE - 2 RERRE
Indicators Description
EBRA g
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities.

MR B IRIER2.1

KPI'B2.2

BB IRIER2.2

KPIB2.3

BRENIRIER23

THEBERETHARRLE -

Lost days due to work injury.

IGRATHEBH:

Description of occupational health and safety measures
adopted, and how they are implemented and monitored.

BRI £ ERE
RERF .

2 A REERT

Aspect B3: Development and Training

EmEB3 : ¥ ERES

General Disclosure

—REE

KPI B3.1

AR B 1R1% 831

KPI B3.2

MR IRIZR3.2

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills
for discharging duties at work. Description of training
activities.

FRRNMEERT IERANAS RREORE-
WEIES -

The percentage of employees trained by gender and
employee category (e.g. senior management, middle
management).
RUFIRESEN (WEK
PORIEEBAL

The average training hours completed per employee by

ERE PREEE)S

gender and employee category.
BRI REEERNE D BHES
538

TR E ¥
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GRI'403: Occupational Health
and Safety 2018

GRI 403 : BYEZ 242018

GRI'403: Occupational Health
and Safety 2018

GRI 403 : BiEZ 2542018

GRI 3: Material Topics 2021
GRI 403: Occupational Health
and Safety 2018

GRI3 : EAE 2021
GRI403 : BLEL 2 /42018

GRI 2: General Disclosures 2021

GRI 3: Material Topics 2021
GRI 404: Training and
Education 2016

GRI2 : — 1852021

GRI3 : EXE #2021
GRI404 : FIREHF 2016
Not directly covered under GRI
Standards

GRIZERIIY & E &A=
GRI 404: Training and

Education 2016
GRI 404 : HIR L E2016

3.3 Employees’ Safety,
Appendix | - Key
Performance Table 6
338I%% Misk——
[ e

3.3 Employees’ Safety,
Appendix | - Key
Performance Table 6
338I%% Misx——
B R ERe

3.3 Employees’ Safety,
Appendix | - Key
Performance Table 6
338I%% Ms——
BB NRE

3.2 Employee Trainings

3285

Appendix | - Key
Performance Table 5
M8k —— B RE RS
Appendix | - Key

Performance Table 5

% — — BB RS
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RE - HERERRE

Indicators Description Relevant GRI Standards Relevant Section
BERE it HEGRI%ER] HEES

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
BEB4: & TEA

General Disclosure Information on: GRI 2: General Disclosures 2021 3.1 Employee Rights
(@)  the policies; and GRI 3: Material Topics 2021
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations GRI 407: Freedom of Association
that have a significant impact on the issuer and Collective Bargaining 2016
relating to preventing child and forced labour.
—REE BRNEETHARHSETH: GRI2 : —#R15HE2021 318 TH#x
(@ HE: K& GRI3 : EAE #2021
b) BFHETABBEAZENEBREERRN GRI 407 : EH EHEBEER
HE R o #2016
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices GRI 3: Material Topics 2021 3.1 Employee Rights
to avoid child and forced labour. GRI 408: Child Labour 2016
GRI'409: Forced or
Compulsory Labour 2016
BRSHEUIE1TBA Hi AR e N AR R R ET ARSI - GRI3 : EAEE2021 318 THH

GRI 408 : 12016
GRI 409 : 38 55 5 & &)

2016
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices GRI 3: Material Topics 2021 3.1 Employee Rights
when discovered. GRI 408: Child Labour 2016
GRI 409: Forced or
Compulsory Labour 2016
BSENUERBA.2 RAEERERBAREREBBERMRRNSE  GRI3: EXEE2021 ERI=RR: 3

GRI 408 : £T12016
GRI 409 : %38 5 5 ] & &)

2016
Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
[EmEBS : ftEEERE
General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of GRI 2: General Disclosures 2021 4.1 Supplier
the supply chain. GRI 3: Material Topics 2021 Management
—REE ERHREENRE R GRBEE GRI 2 - —fxiE5E2021 4IERER
GRI 3 : ERE 2021
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. GRI 2: General Disclosures 2021 4.1 Supplier
Management, Appendix |
- Key Performance
Table 9
B R A AR5 BRBNMHEEHHE - GRI 2 : — 1552021 4IEREERE M
——BRERRI
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RIE - tEREBHRE

Indicators Description Relevant GRI Standards Relevant Section
EEAR it i FEGRIZE B HEER
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, GRI 2: General Disclosures 2021 4.1 Supplier
number of suppliers where the practices are being GRI 3: Material Topics 2021 Management
implemented, and how they are implemented and GRI 308: Supplier Environmental
monitored. Assessment 2016
GRI 414: Supplier Social
Assessment 2016
RS AEMIEIRB5.2 HRARERGERNESN WERTARENS  GRI2:—RIEE02 4IfEREE
HERHE  AREERTRER A GRI 3 : ERE 2021
GRI 308 : B RIFT &
2016
GRI 414 : ftE B T
2016
KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental GRI 2: General Disclosures 2021 4.1 Supplier
and social risks along the supply chain, and how they GRI 3: Material Topics 2021 Management
are implemented and monitored. GRI 308: Supplier Environmental
Assessment 2016
GRI 414: Supplier Social
Assessment 2016
BRENIRIZBS.3 HAABAA R ERESERGNRARMGAR GRI2 : —#% 1852021 4IAHERER
B AT RER A GRI 3 : ERF 2021
GRI 308 - HHEBERFF
2016
GRI 414t EFEL &
2016
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally GRI 3: Material Topics 2021 4.1 Supplier
preferable products and services when selecting Management
suppliers, and how they are implemented and
monitored.
BB BIRIZBE.4 HRERERERSREZARRERRRBNE  GRI3: EXEE2021 4IHERER
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RE  HERERRE

Indicators Description Relevant GRI Standards Relevant Section
BERE it HEGRI%ER] HEES

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
EMEB6 : EmE

General Disclosure Information on: GRI 2: General Disclosures 2021 2.1 Responsible
(@)  the policies; and GRI 3: Material Topics 2021 Investment,
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations GRI 416: Customer Health 2.3 Compliance

that have a significant impact on the issuer and Safety 2016 Operation,

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling GRI417: Marketing and 2.4 Intellectual Property
and privacy matters relating to products and services Labeling 2016 Rights
provided and methods of redress. GRI 418: Customer Privacy 2016

—RBE FHMREHERNRBNREEZS ES BER  GRI2: —RBE2021 L1BEARE
REEEARBRA AN GRI 3 : ERE 2021 230HEE
(@ BE: R GRI 416 BERFEER 2 24A3ER
b) BTHETAREATENEBERRAM 2016
HEH o GRI 417 - 1T E12 72016

GRI418 : TP EH.2016

KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to Not directly covered under 2.3 Compliance
recalls for safety and health reasons. GRI Standards Operation

RS E RIE 12 B6.1 EEIEERERBYTRL 2 BRFEAMAN GREMTEERRE 235HES
GoER

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints GRI 2: General Disclosures 2021 2.3 Compliance
received and how they are dealt with. GRI 3: Material Topics 2021 Operation

GRI' 418: Customer Privacy 2016
R B RIRBE.2 REENERRRBORFHEARELE L GRI 2 - — i 5 52021 235HEE

GRI3 : EAEE2021
GRI 418 : B FEF.2016

KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and Not directly covered under GRl 2.4 Intellectual Property
protecting intellectual property rights. Standards Rights

BAR B RIEIRBE.3 HmRgEERRENREEABOE- GRIERITEEZERE QUM ERE

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall Not directly covered under GRl 2.3 Compliance
procedures. Standards Operation

BRENIEEB64 HUEERTBREREREKIER - GRIZA T EEERE 23518

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy GRI 3: Material Topics 2021 2.2 Information Security
policies, and how they are implemented and monitored.

B EMIRIZB6.5 HEBEARRERALBEE UREEHRITR  GRI3: EXEE2021 22ER%®
BRI
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IRIE - £ RERWRE
Indicators Description
EEAR g

Relevant GRI Standards
HEGRIEE]

Relevant Section

REEH

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

EmEB7 : RES

General Disclosure

—RBE

KPIB7.1

BARE B AN R1RBT .

KPI B7.2

AR B 1R1RBT 2

KPIB7.3

AR BN EIRBT 3

Information on:

(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money

laundering.
AEDLEER B BFREREN:
@ HBE: R

(b) BTFHETAREAYENEBERERRAD

R

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt

practices brought against the issuer or its employees

during the reporting period and the outcomes of the

cases.

RERANHETARARERETEELENES
FARMNEE RFAER

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing

procedures, and how they are implemented and

monitored.

HmSERREREF UREBRTREER

Ee

Description of anti-corruption training provided to
directors and staff.

WEAESERE TRHENRERE-

Wealthink Al-Innovation Capital Limited / Annual Report 2023/24
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GRI 2: General Disclosures 2021
GRI 3: Material Topics 2021

GRI 205: Anti-corruption 2016
GRI 415: Public Policy 2016

GRI 2 : — 15582021

GRI3 : ERFE2021

GRI 205 : R E /52016

GRI 415 : A2k K2016

GRI 205: Anti-corruption 2016

GRI 205 : R EJ®2016

GRI 2: General Disclosures 2021
GRI 3: Material Topics 2021
GRI'205: Anti-corruption 2016
GRI2 : —#R18HE2021

GRI 3 : ERF 2021

GRI 205 : R &[E2016

GRI 205: Anti-corruption 2016

GRI 205 : R /#2016

2.3 Compliance
Operation

235 BEL

2.3 Compliance
Operation

235 RBEE

2.3 Compliance
Operation, Appendix | -
Key Performance Table 8
2I6REE Mix——
BRENRS

2.3 Compliance
Operation, Appendix | -
Key Performance Table 8
230KREE ME——
BRENRS
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EERR

Description
it

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIR - Mg RERME

Relevant GRI Standards
HEGRIEE]

Relevant Section

REEH

Aspect B8: Community Investment

EEB  HERE

General Disclosure

—RBE

KPI'B8.1

BB AE A E1RB.

KPI B8.2

AR EMIEIRB8.2

Policies on community engagement to understand the
needs of the communities where the issuer operates
and to ensure its activities take into consideration the
communities” interests.
BRNME2ERBREEMEHERENRRE
EREHEERMBNROBE -

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education,
environmental concerns, labour needs, health, culture,
sport).
LIERER (B BEFE AIFR R
X -8F) -

Resources contributed (e.g. Money or time) to the focus
area.

EZIERMPAER (MEBXER) -

Wealthink Al-Innovation Capital Limited / Annual Report 2023/24

GRI 2: General Disclosures 2021
GRI 3: Material Topics 2021

GRI2 : — 182021

GRI 3 : A F 82021
GRI'203: Indirect Economic
Impacts 2016

GRI 203 : E#Z L B E %2016
GRI'201: Economic Performance

2016
GRI 201 : &8 FEE #2016

4.2 Social Investment

4 eRE

4.2 Social Investment

4t eRE

4.2 Social Investment

4 ERE

ENEREREFRAT / FH202324

143



144

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

B A% AR

i) =R L

J
ZHONGHUI
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF WEALTHINK AI-INNOVATION
CAPITAL LIMITED
(formerly known as WEALTHKING INVESTMENTS LIMITED)
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Wealthink Al-Innovation Capital Limited (formerly known as
Wealthking Investments Limited) (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 149 to 259, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2024, and consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 March 2024, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss
using level 3 fair value measurement

Refer to Notes 6 and 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group measured its investments at fair value through
profit or loss with the changes in fair value recognised in the
consolidated profit or loss. This fair value measurement is
significant to our audit because the balance of investments at fair
value through profit or loss using level 3 fair value measurement
of HK$5,995,996,000 as at 31 March 2024 is material to the
consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group's fair
value measurement involves application of judgement and is
based on assumptions and estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

- Assessing the competence, independence and integrity of
the external valuers engaged by the Company;

- Obtaining the external valuation reports and meeting with
the external valuers to discuss and challenge the valuation
process, methodologies used and market evidence to
support significant judgements and assumptions applied in
the valuation model;

- Checking key assumptions and input data in the valuation
model to supporting evidence;

- Checking arithmetical accuracy of the valuation model; and

- Assessing the disclosure of the fair value measurement in
the consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group's fair value measurement of the
investments at fair value through profit or loss using level 3 fair
value measurement is supported by the available evidence.

B2 BEN RS

kT shyE

RRETSEASREBERMNEXRHE KA
BARHGRAMBHRERNEITRREENSER-
FEUEFHEAERMBFERFEMHRE
EHEBRBREN RATSHELER
RHEEBHNER -

EAE=RAFENRNEATE
HAREEZ RS

FE2RERA M WA M T M21 -

EEBENERATFTEFABREZRE A
BAFTEZEHRNGAERERER Z2AFE
AEHRMNETMEBEERN FARE
—HFE=ZA=+—HERE=fAFEF
EMNZAFTEFTABRREZEEEREE
5,995,996,000 T ¥ 45 & B S Wk 5 B RN
ERPIN BEEENAFEFESRE
FAFIEr - RERBRER Kbt e

BAMEFIEFEE (HPeKE) -

- ifh BERARMEZEIEMGESS T
1ERE 1~ LM Rl 1E

- BEIESEERS REIBEEMS
| A mRERARA 2 EERF
TAERTISBREAFEHERI PR
P2 ERH T R R&

- HEXHEE REMGAEELTZEE
SIS UN ¢
- REGHEREGZEMERE R

- AERAMBRERANATEFEZA
B -

RMRA REECRE-RATEGED
BATESABNEZRE L ATES B
T EER-
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B\ 2 BT R &

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Debt investments

Refer to Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group tested the amount of debt investments for
impairment. This impairment test is significant to our audit
because the balance of debt investments of HK$3,749,489,000
as at 31 March 2024 is material to the consolidated financial
statements. In addition, the Group’s impairment test involves
application of judgement and is based on assumptions and
estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

- Evaluating the Group’s impairment assessment;

-  Assessing the financial information of the debt investments;

- Obtaining and checking to evidence to support the Group’s
impairment assessment;

- Checking subsequent settlements from the debtors;
- Assessing the value of the collateral for the debts;

- Assessing the disclosure of the Group's exposure to credit
risk in the consolidated financial statements;

- Assessing the competence, independence and integrity of
the external valuer engaged by the Company;

- Obtaining the external valuation reports and meeting with
the external valuer to discuss and challenge the valuation
process, methodologies used and market evidence to
support significant judgments and assumptions applied in
the valuation model;

- Checking key assumptions and input data in the valuation
model to supporting evidence; and

- Checking arithmetical accuracy of the valuation model.

We consider that the Group's impairment test for debt
investments is supported by the available evidence.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information in the Company's
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirement of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B\ 2 BT R &

AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report
our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA's
website at:

https://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/Standards-setting/Standards/Our-
views/auditre

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Yeung Hong Chun

Audit Engagement Director
Practising Certificate Number P07374

Hong Kong, 21 June 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COI\/IPREHENSIVE INCOME
Hitb 2 H W aE &

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 ﬁi:;:mi:ﬂ:wL—EJtifﬁ

= N7/

E/\

%/T/\

2024 2023
—E_ME TEC=F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt &E BETT BT
Turnover EER 7 522,006 469,589
Revenue Uk &= 7 308,329 192,741
Other income and gains/(losses), net HiaW AR (F8) F5E 9 77.664 (1,285)
Net change in unrealised gain/(loss) BUATSEEENEAFE
on investments at fair value through ‘+)\T%mEE25Kme&§
profit or loss arising from m/ (B8 FaE
— listed investments —J: mig& 3,771 (220,907)
— unlisted investments —JELEMEE (42,572) 142,300
(38,801) (78,607)
Net realised loss on disposal &3] LXTRIE?EE’\] HEKREZ
of investments arising from 2 # IR EEFE
— listed investments —J: M & (14,247) (2,451)
— unlisted investments —JFELFEmERE (27,671) (5,734)
(41,918) (8,185)
Net change in unrealised gain BRATEFABREZRE
on financial liabilities at fair value MBaERmEEFE
through profit or loss 692 611
(Provision)/reversal of provision for TEHEEEIE (BHE) BHE
expected credit losses el (3,956) 108,967
Operating and administrative expenses &8 1T X (61,939) (77,229)
Operating profit EERA 240,071 137,013
Finance costs b E AR 10 (86,366) (75,031)
Share of (losses)/profits of associates BEBE RN REEE
and joint ventures (E1|) /BH 20 (99,097) 87,541
Profit before tax Bt A0 2 R 54,608 149,523
Income tax expense Fris®i &2 11 (955) (3,140)
Profit for the year attributable to KATEEABRERFERA
owners of the Company 12 53,653 146,383
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSNE INCOME
mEBRTERHEMATE KRG R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 i Z2 - T - WFE=-A=+—HItFE

2024 2023
ZEREIWE T o=F
Notes HK$'000 HK$°000
Bt & BT T BT T
Other comprehensive (expense)/ Hib2mE (Bk) s
income:
Items that may be reclassified to profit BEEM PR B oA -
or loss:
Exchange differences on translating MERBINER  EREZHE
foreign operations (183,677) (117,719)
Realisation of foreign currency ~  # BRHENB AR ZINEE T
translation reserve from disposal Gk
of subsidiaries 36(b) 31,939 -
Share of associate’s AN
— Exchange differences on translating  — BB BN EH 2 EK =5
foreign operations 20 (50) (1,733)
Other comprehensive expense for AEEHME2MEAX
the year, net of income tax HBRFT BB (151,788) (119,452)
Total comprehensive (expense)/ EAREEABEERFEE
income for the year attributable 2E(BX) W88
to owners of the Company (98,135) 26,931
Earnings per share (HK cents) BREFRN (BWL) 15
- Basic —H R 0.51 1.80
- Diluted —#8 0.51 1.80
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

nv—F

BRI 2R

AS AT 31 MARCH 2024 R=—Z-MFE=A=+—H

2024 2023
—E-mFE —T-=F
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
B 5 BET T BT
ASSETS EE
Non-current assets IRBEE
Equipment B 16 4,585 4,178
Right-of-use assets TREEE 17 8,654 11,409
Intangible assets BILEE 18 71 782
Investments in associates and REERRINEELEZERE
joint ventures 20 656,500 921,863
Investments at fair value through EAFEFABRERERE
profit or loss 21 4,143,757 4,600,522
Debt investments BEBEE 22 72,097 199,865
4,885,664 5,738,619
Current assets REBEE
Investments at fair value through ERAVEFABRECRE
profit or loss 21 2,091,663 2,057,701
Debt investments BBRE 22 3,677,392 3,167,597
Accounts and loans receivables JEWER A N E K 23 89,610 114,516
Interest receivables JrE U 7 8, 255,591 121,854
Prepayments, deposits and TR RUA - RS R H M E I
other receivables B 32,527 57,558
Bank and cash balances SRTEBESEF 24 45,006 108,360
6,191,789 5,627,586
Non-current assets held for sale FIEMEZIEREBEE 25 344,944 -
TOTAL ASSETS HEE 11,422,397 11,366,205
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EzkEaE
Equity =
Share capital [N 31 1,052,032 1,052,032
Reserves ] 33 8,860,588 8,958,723
Total equity ERE 9,912,620 10,010,755
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
R a AR AR

AS AT 31 MARCH 2024 R=—ZE W& =/=+—H

2024 2023
—E-mFE T =F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000

B &£ BT T BETIT

Liabilities aE
Current liabilities SRR
Accounts payables FERTER SR 26 50 50
Other payables H b JE SRR 27 60,805 39,926
Financial liabilities at fair value through ZAFEFABZEZ
profit or loss B amE 28 1,400 2,225
Borrowings B 29 1,417,414 1,280,393
Lease liabilities HEBE 30 5,861 7,056
Current tax liabilities BIEATR I B & 18,774 17,818
1,504,304 1,347,468
Net current assets REEEFE 5,032,429 4,280,118
Non-current liabilities el I B=R
Financial liabilities at fair value through & A F{ET AR R 2 B 7
profit or loss afE 28 1,542 1,667
Lease liabilities HEBE 30 3,931 6,315
5,473 7,982
Total liabilities waes 1,509,777 1,355,450
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES BMEZREE 11,422,397 11,366,205
NET ASSETS EEFE 9,912,620 10,010,755
Net asset value per share BREEFE 34 HK$0.94 HK$0.95

The consolidated financial statements on pages 149 to 259 were  ZF149ZE259B Y AW BHREN T _HF X
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on AZ-+—H&EZESgHERKETIZE WHT

21 June 2024 and signed on its behalf by: FIEEREREE
LIU Zhiwei WANG Qin
MEE A
Director Director
EF EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
SEmEFEHR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 2 — T - F=A=+—HItFE

nVT\

Attributable to owners of the Company

ANREEAER
Share
capital Reserves
BRA it
Share- (Accumulated
based losses)/
Issued Share  payment Surplus  Exchange retained Total
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve profits equity
R % (R E1E)
BERTRE RHRE FERE BHHE ERRE  REEN BER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT AT AT AETr BETx BETT AETR
At 1 April 2022 RZFE-—FMWA—H 406,132 5,301,407 14,969 465 60,356 (255,085) 5,528,244
Total comprehensive (expense)  AFE2E (B¥) /
income for the year et - - - - (119,452) 146,383 26,931
Issue of shares (note 31) BRI (MFE31) 645,900 3,809,680 - - - - 4,455,580
Forfeiture of share options BREERE - - (14,969) - - 14,969 -
Changes in equity for the year ~ FREZE 645,900 3,809,680 (14,969 - (119,452 161,352 4,482,511
At 31 March 2023 R_E-=F=A
=+—8 1,052,032 9,111,087 - 465 (59,096) (93,733) 10,010,755
At 1 April 2023 RZB-=fMA—-A 1,052,032 9,111,087 - 465 (59,096) (93,733) 10,010,755
Total comprehensive (expense)) AEE2E (Hx) /
income for the year eyt - - - - (151,788) 53,653 (98,135)
Changes in equity for the year ~ FRERE - - - - (151,788) 53,653  (98,135)
At 31 March 2024 R-ZE-QmE
ZA=+-H 1,052,032 9,111,087 - 465  (210,884) (40,080) 9,912,620
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

n‘/-.r\/\IﬁrﬁlﬂbE'lj—%

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 i Z2 - T - WFE=-A=+—HItFE

2024 2023
—E_NE @ —ET-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT
Cash flows from operating activities RETBHHERE
Profit before tax BT & F 54,608 149,523
Adjustments for: PATIEB fEL R
Dividend income g B WA = (1,038)
Interest revenue M B = (308,329) (191,703)
Finance costs & A 86,366 75,031
Net foreign exchange losses M 5B 18 5 5 146 257
Depreciation e 9,281 27,777
Net (gain)/loss on disposal of subsidiaries TEMBARZ (W)
B8 (84,308) 1,540
Net realised loss on disposal of investments HERE 2B EIRERFE 41,918 8,185
Net change in unrealised loss on investments EAFEFABRERERE
at fair value through profit or loss BIEBIEB8)F5E 38,801 78,607
Net change in unrealised gain on financial BRAFETABREZRE
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss R BEERE 2
R (692) (611)
Provision/(reversal of provision) BHEEEERE
for expected credit losses (B fE#rEmE) 3,956 (108,967)
Share of losses/(profits) of associates and JEEEE AR RAEEY
joint ventures B8, (&) 99,097 (87,541)
Impairment loss of goodwill arising from R—EBEARIZREEE
investment in an associate L EEREEE 6,214 -
Impairment loss of intangible assets ERAEE CREERE 711 -
Operating loss before changes in BEESEHAIKEEE
working capital (52,231) (48,940)
Change in accounts and loans receivables JFE s BR 3 N B R 2,048 (836)
Change in prepayments, deposits and AR Ze REME
other receivables W skIE & &) 439 (41,557)
Change in accounts and other payables JE 1<% BR K B HL Ath & A< FRIE
2 E) 2,738 (4,917)
Net cash used in operating activities KETEFTRARESFES (47,006) (96,250)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
BHREMER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 2 — T - F=A=+—HItFE

nv'ﬁ

2024 2023
—E-NE T =4
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
Cash flows from investing activities RETHZHERE
Purchase of investments at fair value through ~ B EH A F(EF ABZEEZ
profit or loss w& (659,780)  (1,401,378)
Subscription of debt investments REBEFEE (1,412,364) (2,857,750)
Purchases of equipment BERE (2,476) (3,742)
Net proceeds on disposal of listed securities HE LMESFMERIAFE 54,817 162,617
Proceeds on settlement of debt investments HEREBIRERGENRIE 1,044,761 177,770
Disposal and distribution from unlisted HERSEIELTRERE
equity investments 90,572 25,936
Disposal and distribution from unlisted HERSEIFFTEBKRE
debt investments - 781
Repayments of loans from third parties E=ZFEBEX - 134,270
Interest received 2 ¥ A B 160,959 123,518
Dividends received B UL 8 46,918 47,772
Distribution and redemption of unlisted NERERFELITEEES
investment funds 2,126 45,979
Acquisition of an associate/a joint venture WE—MBEAn/ —HE%
E (900) (199,000)
Proceeds received from disposal of subsidiaries i & Mf /& X 5] F115 5008 16,248 1,600
Payment to investment partners TR E B (219) -
Repayment from an associate —MEE g AR 2 EENIEA 415 -
Net cash used in investing activities RETBFARSFESRE (658,923)  (3,741,627)
Cash flows from financing activities RMETBH2RERE
Decrease in pledged bank deposits B RIRITIE FOR - 20,000
Repayment of borrowings EBEER (1,066,843) (236,701)
Drawdown of borrowings REVE R 1,781,492 1,093,141
Payment for principal portion of lease liabilities EZEHEBEAEIH (8,309) (24,415)
Lease interests paid ENHEERNE (965) (885)
Loan interests paid BENERFE (62,800) (46,879)
Proceeds from issue of shares BTG ﬁﬁ?%?ﬁ - 3,055,580
Net cash generated from financing activities Bl E EB TS H & FHE 642,575 3,859,841

Wealthink Al-Innovation Capital Limited / Annual Report 2023/24
ERNERHEREFRDT / F72023/24

155



156

CONSOUDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
v/T\ Iﬁlﬁ/}”’i%

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 i Z2 - T - WFE=-A=+—HItFE

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and ﬁﬁ&%ﬁiﬁﬁlﬁ B
cash equivalents W) S hFE (63,354) 21,964
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning E%ﬂiﬁﬁ RERBESIEE
of the year 108,360 86,396
Cash and cash equivalents at the end FREEGREFHREEE
of the year 45,006 108,360
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents RERERABRESEE M
Bank and cash balances RITRREET 45,006 108,360
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 2 — T - F=A=+—HItFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Wealthink Al-Innovation Capital Limited (formerly known
as Wealthking Investments Limited) (the "Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability. The address of its registered
office is P.O. Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-
1104, Cayman Islands. The address of its principal place
of business is Room 3910-13, 39/F, COSCO Tower, Grand
Millennium Plaza, 183 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong.
The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of the subsidiaries of the Company is set
out in note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

In the current year, the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “"Group”) has adopted all the
new and revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") that are relevant to its
operations and effective for its accounting year beginning
on 1 April 2023. HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRS"); Hong Kong Accounting
Standards; and Interpretations. The adoption of these new
and revised HKFRSs did not result in significant changes to
the Group's accounting policies, presentation of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements and amounts reported for
the current year and prior years.

The Group has not applied the new and revised HKFRSs
that have been issued but are not yet effective. The Group
has already commenced an assessment of the impact of
these new and revised HKFRSs but is not yet in a position
to state whether these new and revised HKFRSs would have
a material impact on its results of operations and financial
position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n‘/T\

BB MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 i Z2 - T - WFE=-A=+—HItFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA,
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and
the applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, as modified by
investments and derivative which are carried at their fair

values.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain key
assumptions and estimates.
to exercise its judgements in the process of applying the

It also requires the directors

accounting policies. The areas involving critical judgements
and areas where assumptions and estimates are significant
to these consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in
note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made
up to 31 March. Subsidiaries are entities over which the
Group has control. The Group controls an entity when
it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the entity. The Group
has power over an entity when the Group has existing
rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’s
returns.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 2 — T - F=A=+—HItFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. (Continued)

Consolidation (Continued)

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other
parties, to determine whether it has control. A potential
voting right is considered only if the holder has the practical
ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are de-
consolidated from the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results
in a loss of control represents the difference between (i) the
fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value
of any investment retained in that subsidiary and (ii) the
Company’s share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus
any remaining goodwill relating to that subsidiary and any
related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate
in the financial and operating policy decisions of an entity
but is not control or joint control over those policies. The
existence and effect of potential voting rights that are
currently exercisable or convertible, including potential
voting rights held by other entities, are considered when
assessing whether the Group has significant influence. In
assessing whether a potential voting right contributes to
significant influence, the holder’s intention and financial
ability to exercise or convert that right is not considered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A R AR M A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 i Z2 - T - WFE=-A=+—HItFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. (Continued)

Associates (Continued)

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements by the equity method and
is initially recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities
of the associate in an acquisition are measured at their fair
values at the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of
acquisition over the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as
goodwill. The goodwill is included in the carrying amount of
the investment and is tested for impairment together with
the investment at the end of each reporting period when
there is objective evidence that the investment is impaired.
Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is
recognised in consolidated profit or loss.

The Group's share of an associate’s post-acquisition profits
or losses is recognised in consolidated profit or loss, and
its share of the post-acquisition movements in reserves is
recognised in the consolidated reserves. The cumulative post-
acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying
amount of the investment. When the Group’s share of losses
in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate,
including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does
not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate. If the associate
subsequently reports profits, the Group resumes recognising
its share of those profits only after its share of the profits
equals the share of losses not recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that results
in a loss of significant influence represents the difference
between (i) the fair value of the consideration of the
sale plus the fair value of any investment retained in that
associate and (i) the Group's share of the net assets of
that associate plus any remaining goodwill relating to that
associate and any related accumulated foreign currency
translation reserve. If an investment in an associate becomes
an investment in a joint venture, the Group continues
to apply the equity method and does not remeasure the
retained interest.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A SRR MY EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 2 — T - F=A=+—HItFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. (Continued)

Associates (Continued)

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and
its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
associates have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Joint arrangements

A joint arrangement is an arrangement of which two
or more parties have joint control. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant
activities require the unanimous consent of the parties
sharing control. Relevant activities are activities that
significantly affect the returns of the arrangement. When
assessing joint control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by
other parties, to determine whether it has joint control. A
potential voting right is considered only if the holder has
the practical ability to exercise that right.

A joint arrangement is either a joint operation or a joint
venture. A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities,
relating to the arrangement. A joint venture is a joint
arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control
of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
arrangement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A R AR M A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 i Z2 - T - WFE=-A=+—HItFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. (Continued)

Joint arrangements (Continued)

Investment in a joint venture is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements by the equity method
and is initially recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and
liabilities of the joint venture in an acquisition are measured
at their fair values at the acquisition date. The excess of
the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the joint venture's identifiable assets and
liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The goodwill is included
in the carrying amount of the investment and is tested for
impairment together with the investment at the end of
each reporting period when there is objective evidence that
the investment is impaired. Any excess of the Group's share
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities
over the cost of acquisition is recognised in consolidated
profit or loss.

The Group’s share of a joint venture's post-acquisition
profits or losses is recognised in consolidated profit or loss,
and its share of the post-acquisition movements in reserves
is recognised in the consolidated reserves. The cumulative
post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the
carrying amount of the investment. When the Group's share
of losses in a joint venture equals or exceeds its interest in
the joint venture, including any other unsecured receivables,
the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the
joint venture. If the joint venture subsequently reports
profits, the Group resumes recognising its share of those
profits only after its share of the profits equals the share of
losses not recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 2 — T - F=A=+—HItFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. (Continued)

Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group's entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is the Company’s
functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial
statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
values in foreign currencies are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates when the fair values are
determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in other comprehensive income, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised
in other comprehensive income. When a gain or loss
on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or
loss, any exchange component of that gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B W IR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 i Z2 - T - WFE=-A=+—HItFE

n‘/T\

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. (Continued)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c)

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different from
the Company's presentation currency are translated
into the Company’s presentation currency as follows:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;

Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates,
are translated at the exchange rates on the
transaction dates); and

in which case income and expenses

All resulting exchange differences are recognised
in the exchange reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of the net investment in foreign entities
and of borrowings are recognised in the exchange

reserve. When a foreign operation is sold,

such

exchange differences are recognised in consolidated
profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A SRR MY EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 2 — T - F=A=+—HItFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. (Continued)

Equipment

Equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs
and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during the
period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of equipment is calculated at rates sufficient
to write off their cost less their residual values over the
estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal
annual rates are as follows:

Motor vehicle 33':%
Computer equipment 25%
Office equipment 25%
Furniture 25%
Leasehold improvements 33'3%

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period.

The gain or loss on disposal of equipment is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n‘/T\

BB MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 i Z2 - T - WFE=-A=+—HItFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. (Continued)

Leases

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and
corresponding lease liabilities when the leased assets are
available for use by the Group. Right-of-use assets are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses. Depreciation of right-of-use assets is calculated at
rates to write off their cost over the shorter of the asset’s
useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. The
principal annual rate of buildings is 25% to 33'/3%.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
amount of the initial measurement of the lease liabilities,
lease payments prepaid, initial direct costs and the
restoration costs. Lease liabilities include the net present
value of the lease payments discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease if that rate can be determined, or
otherwise the Group's incremental borrowing rate. Each
lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the
lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expenses in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the lease terms. Short-term
leases are leases with an initial lease term of 12 months
or less. Low-value assets are assets of value below United
States dollars (“US$") 5,000.

Intangible assets

Cryptocurrencies with indefinite useful life is stated at cost
less any impairment losses. Impairment is reviewed annually
or when there is any indication that cryptocurrencies has
suffered an impairment loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A SRR MY EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 2 — T - F=A=+—HItFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. (Continued)

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
statement of financial position when the Group becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual
rights to receive cash flows from the assets expire; the
Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets; or the Group neither transfers nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the assets but has not retained control on the assets.
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference
between the asset's carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis where the purchase or sale of an asset is under
a contract whose terms require delivery of the asset within
the timeframe established by the market concerned, and
are initially recognised at fair value, plus directly attributable
transaction costs except in the case of investments at
fair value through profit or loss. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of investments at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit
or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A R AR M A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 i Z2 - T - WFE=-A=+—HItFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets of the Group are classified as under the
following categories:

- Financial assets at amortised cost; and
- Investments at fair value through profit or loss.
(a) Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets (including accounts and other
receivables and debt investments) are classified under
this category if they satisfy both of the following
conditions:

- the assets are held within a business model
whose objective is to hold assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows; and

- the contractual terms of the assets give rise
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method less loss allowance
for expected credit losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 2 — T - F=A=+—HItFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
(b) Investments at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets are classified under this category if
they do not meet the conditions to be measured at
amortised cost and the conditions of debt investments
at fair value through other comprehensive income
unless the Group designates an equity investment that
is not held for trading as at fair value through other
comprehensive income on initial recognition.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss are
subsequently measured at fair value with any gains or
losses arising from changes in fair values recognised in
profit or loss. The fair value gains or losses recognised
in profit or loss are net of any interest income and
dividend income. Interest income and dividend income
are recognised in profit or loss.

Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses on financial assets at amortised cost. Expected credit
losses are the weighted average of credit losses with the
respective risks of a default occurring as the weights.

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a
financial instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance
for that financial instrument at an amount equal to the
portion of lifetime expected credit losses that represents
the expected credit losses that result from default events on
that financial instrument that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting period.

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to adjust
the loss allowance at the end of the reporting period to
the required amount is recognised in profit or loss as an
impairment gain or loss.

3.

BEREETHEE 2

R EFEAMBRREERZE
SETEEREINNT - (&)

MBEE (&)
(b) HATFEIABBRORE

BR IR AR5 B A 1) 2 W R B 5 E 9F
REEBBENRARER/EAFE
REAE M 2w W - & B B 55
BEY NG REHKATED
&t RATREAFEFAR
fib 2 T W a5 1 B 75 1R B B IR 1
A AL D IR

BAVPEAABGERCRERR
BATEFE MATEZHE
R AR R kB RN R R -
RERBEIANQFERRHEE
Ty BRI A B A R AL B A -
A B UA BB B WA B 2 FERR o

AHFEFRZEBRRE

AREERBHEHKAERMBEEZR
HEEERZEBRREG BHEEER
REEBRZNEFOE HEEQR
BB BINEEBRAE-

HRBEPRRBABHTAZEER
B B 9] 20 HE R A R & K0 48 h0 - AN &
BizEER2BBRMEEEREY 2
TR EXMBIAZEREE X
Mg TAMERREHRI2EA R
ERNEMMER 2 EREEER-

EMEERRSBAEERBEHR
ZEEBREAREMFSEMBR 2
THENESERRRERSHER-

Wealthink Al-Innovation Capital Limited / Annual Report 2023/24

EREHRREBRAT / F5H2023/24

169



170

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n‘/T\

BB MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 i Z2 - T - WFE=-A=+—HItFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term highly liquid investments which
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. Bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group's cash management are also
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and
an equity instrument under HKFRSs. An equity instrument
is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the
assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The
accounting policies adopted for specific financial liabilities
and equity instruments are set out below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

Accounts and other payables

Accounts and other payables are initially recognised at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 2 — T - F=A=+—HItFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. (Continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
initially recognised and subsequently measured at fair value
with any gains or losses arising from changes in fair values
recognised in profit or loss.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Revenue

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities.

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that future
economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount
of revenue can be measured reliably, on the following
bases:

(i)  Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’
rights to receive payment are established.

(i) Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion
basis using the effective interest method. When a
loan and receivable is impaired, the Group reduces
the carrying amount to its recoverable amount,
being the estimated future cash flow discounted at
the original effective interest of the instrument, and
continues unwinding the discount as interest income.
Interest income on impaired loan and receivables are
recognised using the original effective interest rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 i Z2 - T - WFE=-A=+—HItFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. (Continued)

Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

(c)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service leave as a
result of services rendered by employees up to the end
of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group participates in a mandatory provident fund
scheme in Hong Kong which is a defined contribution
retirement scheme available to all employees, generally
funded through payments to trustee-administered
funds. Contributions to the schemes by the Group
and employees are calculated as a percentage of
employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit
scheme cost charged to profit or loss represents

contributions payable by the Group to the funds.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw
the offer of those benefits and when the Group
recognises restructuring costs and involves the
payment of termination benefits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 2 — T - F=A=+—HItFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. (Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)
(d) Bonus

The expected costs of bonus payments are recognised
as a liability when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation as a result of services
rendered by employees and a reliable estimate of the
obligations can be made.

Liabilities for bonus are measured at the amounts
expected to be paid when they are settled.

Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to
certain director and employees.

Equity-settled share-based payments to director and
employees are measured at the fair value (excluding the
effect of non market-based vesting conditions) of the
equity instruments at the date of grant. The fair value
determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-
based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, based on the Group'’s estimate of shares
that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect of non
market-based vesting conditions.

When the share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share-based payment reserve will
be transferred to share capital and share premium. When
the share options are forfeited or lapsed after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share-based payment reserve will
be transferred to retained profits/accumulated losses.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 i Z2 - T - WFE=-A=+—HItFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. (Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised
as part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used
for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount
of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined
by applying a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on
that asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted average
of the borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the
Group that are outstanding during the period, other than
borrowings made specifically for the purpose of obtaining a
qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit
or loss because it excludes items of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further
excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A SRR MY EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 2 — T - F=A=+—HItFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses
or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the
asset is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends
to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements are
identified from the financial information provided regularly
to the Group’s most senior executive management for
the purpose of allocating resources and assessing the
performance of the Group's various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect
of the nature of products and services, the nature of
productions processes, the type or class of customers, the
methods used to distribute the products or provide the
services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material may
be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 2 — T - F=A=+—HItFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. (Continued)

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the
Group.

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Company or of a parent of the Company.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the Company are members of
the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is
a member).

(iii)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group. If the Group is
itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are
also related to the Group.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 i Z2 - T - WFE=-A=+—HItFE

3. EX®

3.

BB MR

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies: (Continued)

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Company or to a parent of the
Company.

Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets
except investments and receivables to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order
to determine the extent of any impairment loss. Where
it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of
an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 2 — T - F=A=+—HItFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. (Continued)

Impairment of assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating
unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined (net
of amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset or cash-generating unit in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is
carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of
the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets or disposal group are classified as held
for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing
use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale
is highly probable and the assets or disposal group are
available for immediate sale in their present condition.
The Group must be committed to the sale, which should
be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale
within one year from the date of classification.

Non-current assets or disposal group classified as held for
sale are measured at the lower of the assets’ or disposal
group’s previous carrying amount and fair value less costs
to sell.

3.

BEREETHEE 2

KRB EFEAMBRREERZE
REFTEEEINNT - (&)

BEERME (#)

Wb EEXREELEM Z A KE
SRENEEREE MEEXRSES
B zRmEREEAKE S BE
BRIV EBRAER  HEHAREE
NEHEESIR EER T RERERE
BIEE[BEERDEE-

WHEBRERERD EEXREELE
BUZEREDNEEELEN Gt
A mERE DI NREENSEB
RBAFEVERIAEEIRSEE
BOREBRMNET < KREE (R
B E) BEBBERENERE
SmNER - HEHAREEENEEEED
B EUIER TR ERBERERIEERL
BEEMNEIRE -

RFELHEZFRBEE

HWIFRBEEXHEAR ZREET
RBBHEEXZFMIEBBREERK
B AEBSBRRBIELE - ERHE
HEeREsREESRLEANANER
SUT BIES B B AR AR R E
PR o 75 55 [ 04 78 Y th 6 1 R R - T
ERHEAR S BEABRFT —FAF
EHEARDEHNHEZER-

DRERBELEZERDEEXLE
ARl EERHEEN Z BEREE
2N BB B AR 2 B A B A

=

E-°

Wealthink Al-Innovation Capital Limited / Annual Report 2023/24

EREHRREBRAT / F5H2023/24

179



180

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 i Z2 - T - WFE=-A=+—HItFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. (Continued)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material, provisions are
stated at the present value of the expenditures expected to
settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent
liability, unless the probability of outflow is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events
after the reporting period that are not adjusting events
are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements when material.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 2 — T - F=A=+—HItFE

CRITICAL JUDGEMENT AND KEY ESTIMATES 4.

Critical judgement in applying accounting
policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the
Directors have made the following judgement that has the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements:

Assessment of the Company’s status as an investment
entity under HKFRS 10

In preparing the consolidated financial statements,
significant judgment has been applied by the management
in the determination of the Company’s status as an
investment entity under Amendments to HKFRS 10
“Consolidated Financial Statements”. Management have
assessed the definition of an investment entity under HKFRS
10 and given that the performance of the investments
in associates are not measured on a fair value basis,
management have concluded that the Company does not
fall within the definition of an investment entity under
HKFRS 10.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 i Z2 - T - WFE=-A=+—HItFE

4.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENT AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(a)

(b)

Fair value of investments at fair value through
profit or loss not quoted in an active market
and underlying investments of investment in an
associate

In the absence of quoted market prices in an active
market, the directors estimate the fair value of the
Group’s investments at fair value through profit or
loss and underlying investments of investment in an
associate, details of which are set out in notes 21 and
20 to the consolidated financial statements respectively,
by considering information from a variety of sources,
including the latest published financial information, the
historical data on market volatility as well as the price
and industry and sector performance of the Group's
investments at fair value through profit or loss and
underlying investments of investment in an associate.

Expected credit losses (“ECL") of debt investments
and bad and doubtful debts

The Group makes impairment loss for debt
investments and bad and doubtful debts based on
assessments of the recoverability of debt investments
and receivables, including the current creditworthiness
and the past collection history of each debtor.
Impairments arise where events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the balances may not be
collectible. The identification of debt investments and
bad and doubtful debts requires the use of judgement
and estimates. Where the actual result is different
from the original estimate, such difference will impact
the carrying value of debt investments and receivables
and doubtful debt expenses in the year in which such
estimate has been changed.

Wealthink Al-Innovation Capital Limited / Annual Report 2023/24
ERBHREFRDAE / F02023/24

4.

BERHE M ERAE (2)

HE T RERZENEEZRR

TXHFARBERARBEEBRNER
BREEF I EERZNEMEER

R-mEEBRRE T EEEERS

ERT

—EFREFENEERBBEREAER

BRRIEFRERHREZERNER -

(a) WHMEFERMBSHENEAFEG
ABRBRZRERRBELTZ
REZHBARENTE

(b)

ERZERMEHRENBRT
EREBRERRBZERENE
B (BRSNS ER
MERHHELBEUARRNER
BAFEFABZEZRERR
BENRZIREZHBRENE
METERDBPRR)GTAE
EiZAFEFABZRZRER
ﬂW““TZ&ézmﬁhﬁm
RFE BEBEFBEINERNGA
B SRR M 521 %20 ©

BEERERRBERNENREES
B(EBEERBRA]D

AEBERBEBRE R EKRA
(BEREEEGABAMEERBTE
W) M lEiEEitEE
BIRERRIZRBEBE- - BE
REHXBERNEBERA [ L
AW ESRBEREL B EHR
BRREREHZEMHE &G
B ERGEREZIGE TR
H%ﬁ%%%?%ﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬁ
“““““ EPMEANANFEEBEERE R
JE W R IR A B RIE AR P S WO BR T
BEXEE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A SRR MY EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 2 — T - F=A=+—HItFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign currency risk, price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk
and interest rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on
the Group’s financial performance.

(@) Foreign currency risk

The Group has certain exposure to foreign currency
risk as certain investments at fair value through
profit or loss, other receivables, bank balances, other
payables and borrowings are denominated in Renminbi
(“RMB"). The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy in respect of foreign currency
transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group will
monitor its foreign currency exposure closely and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.

As at 31 March 2024, if RMB had strengthened/
weakened 0.5% against HK$ with all other variables
held constant, profit after tax for the year would
have been HK$14,187,000 (2023: HK$10,197,000)
higher/lower, arising mainly as a result of the foreign
exchange gains/losses on translation of certain
investments at fair value through profit or loss,
other receivables, bank balances, other payables and
borrowings denominated in RMB.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
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n‘/T\
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 i Z2 - T - WFE=-A=+—HItFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b) Price risk

(c)

The Group’s investments at fair value through profit
or loss are measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Therefore, the Group is exposed to
equity security price risk. The Directors manage this
exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments
with difference risk profiles.
As at 31 March 2024, if the fair value of the
investments increase/decrease by 10%, profit before
tax would have been HK$658,036,000 (2023:
HK$665,822,000) higher/lower, arising as a result of
the fair value gain/loss of the investments.

Credit risk

As at 31 March 2024, the Group's maximum exposure
to credit risk in the event of the counterparties fail to
perform their obligations in relation to each class of
recognised financial assets is the carrying amount of
these assets as stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position.

The credit risk on bank balances is limited because
most of the counterparties are banks with investment-
grade credit-ratings assigned by international credit-
rating agencies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A SRR MY EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 2 — T - F=A=+—HItFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c) Credit risk (continued)

The Group exposed to the credit risk if the
counterparty to a financial instrument would fail
to perform its obligation. The Group considers its
exposure to credit risk increased because of the
higher investment amount in debt securities. The
directors have overall responsibility for overseeing
the credit quality of the debt portfolio. The
management delegated investment teams responsible
for monitoring processes to ensure that follow-up
actions are taken to recover doubtful debts. Financial
positions of the underlying companies are closely
monitored by regularly reviewing their financial and
operation results and assessing their abilities to fulfill
the repayment obligations.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group reviews
the recoverable amount of each loan, dividend,
interest and other receivables at the end of the
reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment
losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.

The Group uses three categories for debt investments,
accounts, loan receivables and others which reflect
their credit risk and how the provision for ECL is
determined for each of those categories. The credit
loss allowance includes ECL for financial instruments
that may default in the next 12-month period
for financial instruments that have not observed
a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition (“Stage 1”) or over a lifetime period for
financial instruments that have observed a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition (”Stage
2"). The allowance also includes lifetime ECL for
financial instruments where there is objective evidence
of credit-impairment at the end of the reporting
period (“Stage 3").
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 i Z2 - T - WFE=-A=+—HItFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5.

(c) Credit risk (Continued)

The gross carrying amount of debt investments,

s E R E IR (#)

() FERR (&)

accounts, loan receivables and others, and thus the

maximum exposure to loss, is as follows:

BHRE

JE W BR TR B B R BA B
H Aty 2 B T 48 (B A B [ i ACHE
BRBAZKERENAT

2024 2023
—E-OE ZE=F
HKS$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Debt investments BERE
Stage 1 — Unimpaired and without FPEE-KRBEREE
significant increase in credit risk [ B I £ 28 2 3N 3,743,325 3,366,809
Stage 2 - Significant increase F_BE-FERAREE
in credit risk N 52,636 45,528
Total gross debt investments BERREHATE 3,795,961 3,412,337
Less: provision for ECL B TEHEEEERE (46,472) (44,875)
Debt investments, BERE
net of provision for ECL (NBREHEEEERE) 3,749,489 3,367,462

Stage 1:

They are debt investments,

interest

bearing at 7.00% to 10.00% per annum

("p.a.”

) and with 9 months to 2-year term.

They were secured by financial support
commitments provided by the business
partner of the debt investees. The Group
did not observe a significant increase in

credit risk since initial recognition and
provided 12-month ECL with the assistance
of an independent valuer on the Group's
ECL assessments at the end of the reporting

period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 2 — T - F=A=+—HItFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c) Credit risk (continued)

The gross carrying amount of debt investments,

accounts,

loan receivables and others, and thus the

maximum exposure to loss, is as follows: (Continued)

Stage 2:

It is debt investment, interest bearing at
9.00% p.a. and with 1-year term. The
Group observed a significant increase in
credit risk due to the financial difficulties
encountered by the debt investees during
the year and assessed the lifetime ECL
of these debt investments based on the
difference between (i) estimated recoverable
amounts from the debt investees and
(ii) gross carrying amount of the debt
investments.

5. I RAREIRE#)
(c) EERB (&)

BEHEEE BRERLERUAKL
H b 2 BRE B (E DA & A itk A& & &S
BRBOEAKSEOT: (&)

FERE: HABBKERE RF
FZEI.00% :H 8 B
H1F -AREB W
BEFRAFEE
BE ISR E - A SE
ExREERRKA
& AN - m@%@%
EREWIRE FEE
A Y Bl /) < 58 A (i)
EHIEERERAEAE
2 TE B = 88Tl 5%
EEBERENZH
TEHEEEB-

2024 2023
—E_ME —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Accounts, loan receivables and EBURERRRERUARHAM
others
Stage 1 — Unimpaired and without —fEER — RRBEER
significant increase in credit risk Eféfﬂ oz I fe% R 2 12 7]1] 376,858 291,929
Stage 2 - Significant increase F_RR —FERRRE
in credit risk N 4,257 6,915
Total gross accounts, loan EWERRER AR M
receivables and others i 381,115 298,844
Less: provision for ECL W TEHEEEBRE (4,529) (5,852)
Accounts, loan receivables and EWERRER AR M
others, net of provision for ECL (MBRFEHEEERERSE) 376,586 292,992
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 i Z2 - T - WFE=-A=+—HItFE

R EIRE#®)
(c) EERB (&)

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5.
(c) Credit risk (Continued)
EBERE BRERMEZUAR

H Aty 2 B T 48 (B A B [ i ACHE
BRENSRKESBEOT: (&)

The gross carrying amount of debt investments,
accounts, loan receivables and others, and thus the
maximum exposure to loss, is as follows: (Continued)

Stage 1: They are interest receivables from debt F—BER: ZENEREBR
investments, loans provided to an B EWHE - m—
associate and independent third parties BN /NECIDNE AV
and others. The Group did not observe FoHARENER
a significant increase in credit risk since R HAth o REE B )
initial recognition and provided 12-month 5 i 3R LA JR 0 f 3%
ECL with the assistance of an independent iﬁ@% N
valuer on the Group's ECL assessments at o IR R & HR
the end of the reporting period. N #E EJJ?’U”_L%TEEW

HAEBEHREE
& 18 77 1 &9 % B &1
RI2EAAEHEE
EERE-

Stage 2: They are interest receivables from debt F_BE: ZERBEBREBR
investments. The Group observed a BRI YA E - B R
significant increase in credit risk due to BEHHEREFTNRAE
the financial difficulties encountered by FEEBY R

the debt investees during the year and
assessed the lifetime ECL of these interest
receivables from debt investments based
on the difference between (i) estimated
recoverable amounts from the debt
investees and (ii) gross carrying amount of
the debt investments.
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F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 2 — T - F=A=+—HItFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(c) Credit risk (Continued)

The gross carrying amount of debt investments,
accounts, loan receivables and others, and thus the
maximum exposure to loss, is as follows: (Continued)

5. I RAREIRE#)
(c) EER (&)

BHERE FBRERRERAR
H oz REAEANMRE L AEES
BRENKAKSEWT: (&)

Stage 1 Stage 2
12-month ECL Lifetime ECL Total
E-Ra e -3214
12188 2HEH
BHEEEFR FEFR @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETL BETL BETL
Debt investments BERE
Exposure at 1 April 2022 RZZEZZFNA—-HZRR 563,664 195,169 758,833
Addition Giip 2,857,750 - 2,857,750
Settlement e (28,000) (149,770) (177,770)
Transfer B 1,800 - 1,800
Exchange difference EHES (28,405) 129 (28,276)
Exposure at 31 March 2023 R-Z-Z=f=A=t+-HR
and 1 April 2023 “E_ZEMA-AZAR 3,366,809 45,528 3,412,337
Addition ik 1,412,364 - 1,412,364
Settlement HE (1,044,761) = (1,044,761)
Transfer B 52,306 7,282 59,588
Exchange difference BN ER (43,393) (174) (43,567)
Exposure at 31 March 2024 R-Z-ME=A=+-HAZERB 3,743,325 52,636 3,795,961
Accounts, loan receivables EREZREFUAKEM
and others
Exposure at 1 April 2022 RZZE-Z-FNA—-HZRER 334,697 14,459 349,156
Addition ik 275,813 11,147 286,960
Settlement HE (299,259) (18,704) (317,963)
Transfer -3 (1,800) - (1,800
Exchange difference IE X =% (17,522) 13 (17,509)
Exposure at 31 March 2023 RZ-ZE-=f=A=+-HR
and 1 April 2023 “E_=fMA-AZAR 291,929 6,915 298,844
Addition Fiip 455,010 4,625 459,635
Settlement ®g (265,881) = (265,881)
Transfer Ez 82 (52,306) (7,282) (59,588)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMNB AT (47,666) - (47,666)
Exchange difference =% (4,228) (1) (4,229)
Exposure at 31 March 2024 R-Z-ME=A=+-HAZERB 376,858 4,257 381,115
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A R AR M A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 i Z2 - T - WFE=-A=+—HItFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea) 5.
(c) Credit risk (Continued)

TR EIR %)
() EERK (&)
TR ABBEEERNMBEERE

The following table reconciles the movement in ECL

between the beginning and the end of the financial MEFRNEE 2 R
year:
Stage 1 Stage 2
12-month ECL Lifetime ECL Total
F-IRE FIRE
12188 2HEH
BHEEER EEE#R @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT
Debt investments BERE
ECL at 1 April 2022 R-Z-—FMNA—-HZ
BHEEBR 28,403 114,337 142,740
Addition Hig 16,053 - 16,053
Settlement e (1,411) (109,368) (110,779)
Remeasurement BHiE (1,431) - (1,431)
Exchange difference ERER (1,711) 3 (1,708)
ECLat31 March2023and R-ZE-=F=A=+-HR
1 April 2023 “E-=FMA-ARZ
BHEEFE 39,903 4,972 44,875
Addition i 1,529 - 1,529
Settlement ©“g (5,560) - (5,560)
Remeasurement B E 6,061 28 6,089
Transfer B - 801 801
Exchange difference BN ZERE (1,259) (3) (1,262)
ECL at 31 March 2024 RZE-_NE=A=+—H
ZHEHEEER 40,674 5,798 46,472
Accounts, loan receivables EWERETIRETUR Eft
and others
ECL at 1 April 2022 R-E--FNA—AZ
BHEERER 11,047 8,529 19,576
Settlement HE (2,130) (8,175) (10,305)
Remeasurement BHTE (2,906) 401 (2,505)
Exchange difference IE 5 =% (914) - (914)
ECL at 31 March 2023 and R-E-=§=ZA=+—-AK
1 April 2023 “E-ZfMA-AZ
BEGEERE 5,097 755 5,852
Addition i 50 - 50
Settlement HE (1,731) - (1,731)
Remeasurement BHE 3,069 510 3,579
Transfer B = (801) (801)
Disposal of subsidiaries HERE AT (2,254) = (2,254)
Exchange difference B =% (166) = (166)
ECL at 31 March 2024 RZE-_ME=A=1+—H
ZEBEEER 4,065 464 4,529
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 2 — T - F=A=+—HItFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5.

(d) Liquidity risk

The Group’'s policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The maturity analysis, based on undiscounted cash
flows, of the Group’s financial liabilities is as follows:

FERREIRE#®)
(d) "REBE SRR

AEBZBRRERERRER
BHzZRABESRTE UERA
HFRABRNESHLRERERDY
BeBREZREFHE-

rEEVHBaE R BHEST (&
RABRBESRE)WOT

Less than Between Between
1 year or 1and 2 2 and 5
on demand years years Total
LPR—F 168 25 5
WIRER 252 5E2MH it
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT B¥Ta BY¥%Txn
At 31 March 2024 R-ZZE-WF
=ZA=+-—H
Accounts payables FETBR 3K 50 - - 50
Other payables Hofth JE T 5K IR 60,805 - - 60,805
Borrowings B 1,434,225 - - 1,434,225
Lease liabilities HEAE 6,358 3,879 180 10,417
1,501,438 3,879 180 1,505,497
At 31 March 2023 R_E—=
=A=+—8H
Accounts payables FE T BR 5K 50 - - 50
Other payables E b < 3B 39,926 - - 39,926
Borrowings B 1,303,262 - - 1,303,262
Lease liabilities HEBE 7,699 4,878 1,719 14,296
1,350,937 4,878 1,719 1,357,534
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 i Z2 - T - WFE=-A=+—HItFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5.

(e) Interest rate risk

(f)

The Group's debt investments, loan receivables, other
receivables, other payables and borrowings bear
interests at fixed interest rates and therefore are
subject to fair value interest rate risks.

The Group's exposure to interest-rate risk arises
from its bank balances and bank borrowings. These
balances bear interests at variable rates varied with
the then prevailing market condition.

As at 31 March 2024, if interest rates at that date
had been 25 basis points higher/lower with all other
variables held constant, profit for the year would
have been HK$637,000 (2023: HK$1,351,000) lower/
higher, arising mainly as a result of higher/lower
interest on bank borrowings.

s E R E IR (#)

(e) FZER

AEBEZEBHRE BRER H
ﬂﬂf’s‘ﬂ& K IR~ A 3 IE)SU
FIEEM X B RARRRF
TE%U%I_LMF)?%;

AEBEXIRITHET RIBITERPT
SIENFERBREE -ZEEF
BERDSBERMKENZEEHN

Hih 8-

R-ZE-MFE=ZF=+—H
F &A% BIG AN, R 25 A A
mArTEEmESERTE KF
[ B AR 18 07 637,000
T (=ZZF = =4 :7%%1,351,000
L) EERARRITERFBIE
R B

Categories of financial instruments at 31 (f) R=EA=+—BZHKEI
March 57
2024 2023
—E-_ME T =4
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Financial assets: MBEE:
Investments at fair value through BEAFEFABERE K
profit or loss
- Designated as such upon initial —HRERRIELB@AETE
recognition 6,235,420 6,658,223
Debt investments BEBEE 3,749,489 3,367,462
Financial assets at amortised cost BB HKAS R 2B EE
(including cash and cash equivalents) (BRE2EFRRS
BHE) 421,592 401,352
Financial liabilities: MEaE:
Financial liabilities at fair value through %A F{E:T A2
profit or loss BB RE
— Designated as such upon initial —BRERRFELEHEETE
recognition 2,942 3,892
Financial liabilities at amortised cost R EKAS R 2B EE 1,488,061 1,333,740
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ArE R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 2 — T - F=A=+—HItFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(g) Fair values

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets
and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated
statement of financial position approximate their
respective fair values.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The
following disclosures of fair value measurements use a fair
value hierarchy that categorises into three levels the inputs
to valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities
that the Group can access at the
measurement date.

Level 1 inputs:

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included
within level 1 that are observable for
the asset or liability, either directly or

indirectly.

unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

Level 3 inputs:

The Group's policy is to recognise transfers into and
transfers out of any of the three levels as of the date of the
event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

5.

(9) A¥E

SRR EIRE #)

AR B BB IR 0L 5% P R BR 2 AN &
Iﬁ%é?&WWEFZ%@@

BEEE YA

PN

AFEE

AFEE

~FERE

ME2HREEFEALETLZ

BEMEFRZPHE-HEEMEERK
BE-HABMAXNZER -ATHE
ZRAVEFEERATVERR FHEE
ﬁ%%uﬁ5“$@2ﬁﬁ&m2%

ABED B=M

£ R ABE:

R ABE:

F=REBABIE:

AEBAEER
REzHRAEES
BEAEEBRMSZ
WECRERE) -

BE—RABEDN
WEAS ERT
EEAEEBRR
BEELREBEZEH
ABUE -

BESABZATA
BRB AR

AEBEBZHEENERE 4o EH0E
BzBRHRESH 2 BREALE
H=ERFER 2 —-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
an\ ,jﬁﬁ-’F&%‘%Bﬁ

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 i Z2 - T - WFE=-A=+—HItFE

6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 6. N¥{EFT=E (2
(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy (a) A2 EEBHAR=ZA=1+—
at 31 March HzBEIRE
Fair value measurements using: Total
ERAUTRBZATEE: @it
Description it Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2024
£ ok £=R —B-ME
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BT BT
Recurring fair value measurements: EEHAFETEZ -
Assets BE
Investments at fair value BATEFABRER RE
through profit or loss
- Listed equity securities - LmkiEES 217,910 - - 217,910
- Unlisted equity investments —FETRERE - - 2,630,081 2,630,081
~ Unlisted investment funds and - FEMBREESR
limited partnership BEREBEE - 21,514 1,733,915 1,755,429
— Unlisted economic interest —ELmliEE - - 1,632,000 1,632,000
217,910 21,514 5,995,996 6,235,420
Liabilities 8
Financial liabilities at fair value RATEGFABREZ
through profit or loss HBERE - = (2,942) (2,942)
Total recurring fair value BEMNATEFELR
measurements 217,910 21,514 5,993,054 6,232,478
Non-recurring fair value HAEE R B E
measurements:
Non-current assets held for sale FEHEZHERBEE
Investments at fair value through BRATEGFABEEREZRE
profit or loss
~ Unlisted equity investments - rmRERE - - 344,944 344,944
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6.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(a)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 2 — T - F=A=+—HItFE

A SRR MY EE

6. NFEF=E (&)

Disclosures of level in fair value (a) A2 EEBHAR=ZRA=1+—
hierarchy at 31 March (Continued) B2EEBHE (&)
Fair value measurements using: Total
FRUATRAZATEE: it
Description i Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2023
£ E-4R FZH —T-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT BETT
Recurring fair value measurements: EEHAFETEZ
Assets BE
Investments at fair value through BATEFABRRZRE
profit or loss
— Listed equity securities - LmkiEES 534,476 = - 534,476
- Unlisted equity investments —FLETRERE - - 3,113,682 3,113,682
— Unlisted investment funds and —FLEMREESR
limited partnership BREBEE - 21,160 2,979,370 3,000,530
~ Unlisted debt investments —EIMEBRE - - 9,535 9,535
534,476 21,160 6,102,587 6,658,223
Liabilities &
Financial liabilities at fair value RATEFABEERZ
through profit or loss BKasE - - (3,892) (3,892)
Total recurring fair value BEMAVTEFELR
measurements 534,476 21,160 6,098,695 6,654,331
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n\/-_r\

BB MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 B Z - -_N&=A=+—HILtFE

6.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(b) Reconciliation of assets and liabilities

6.

measured at fair value based on level 3

NYEEFT= (#)

(b) AE=

ERBEHEK

Investments at fair value through profit or loss

RAVEFNEZE

RATEGARERZRE
Unlisted Financial
investment liabilities at
Unlisted  funds and Unlisted Unlisted fair value
equity limited debt economic Total through
Description i investments  partnership  investments interest assets profit or loss
¥Lm RATE
¥Em REEER ¥Lh ¥Lm fTABRE
RERE BERABLE BHERE K BEE ZBBAR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETR BYTR BET T BETT BETT
At 1 April 2023 RZBE-=¥NA-H 3,113,682 2,979,370 9,535 - 6,102,587 (3,892)
Total gains or losses recognised B ERNEXEELE
~ in profit or loss® —HARRERY (20,275) 22,554 (14) (72,863) (70,598) 692
Addition NE 1,874 489,002 = 1,704,863 2,195,739 -
Disposal and distribution HERDIK (90,572) (2,126) = = (92,698) 219
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAR - (1,674,870) (9,521) - (1,684,391) 5
Transfer out i (7,745) - - - (7,745) -
Exchange difference EHER (21,939) (80,015) = = (101,954) 39
At 31 March 2024 RZB-ME=ZR=1-H 2,975,025 1,733,915 - 1,632,000 6,340,940 (2,942)
® Include gains or losses Y EERERAMNEE
for assets and liabilities REEZUERESR
held at the end of the
reporting period 7,396 22,554 - (72,863) (42,913) 692
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6.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 2 — T - F=A=+—HItFE

A SRR MY EE

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 6. NFEFE (&)

(b) Reconciliation of assets and liabilities (b) UE=RAFEFEZE
measured at fair value based on level 3 EREEHER#Z)
(Continued)

Investments at fair value through profit or loss
BATEFABRE A
Unlisted Financial
investment liabilities at
Unlisted funds and Unlisted Unlisted fair value
equity [imited debt economic Total through
Description i investments  partnership  investments interest assets  profit or loss
#Lm BATE
¥rm  REEER #Em ¥ SABRR
RERE BERA¥GR EHRE et BEE BBAR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETTL BB BB BB BETTL BETTL
At 1 April 2022 RZZE--FNA—-H 2,706,024 1,517,675 10,290 - 4,233,989 (4,555)
Total gains or losses recognised ~ BHERZNEXFELE
~in profit or loss® - ABRER® (13,565) 160,678 26 - 147,139 611
Addition NE 480,510 1,298,144 - - 1,778,654 -
Disposal and distribution HERDIK (25,936) (209) (781) - (26,926) -
Exchange difference ERER (33,351) 3,082 - - (30,269) 52
At 31 March 2023 WZZEZ=#=f=1-H 3,113,682 2,979,370 9,535 - 6,102,587 (3,892)
# Include gains or losses W BERERAFABEER
for assets and liabilities g hndEE
held at the end of the
reporting period 14,217 160,678 26 - 174,921 611

The total gains or losses recognised in profit or loss
including those for assets and liabilities held at the
end of the reporting period are presented in net
change in unrealised (loss)/gain on investments at
fair value through profit or loss arising from unlisted
investments and net change in unrealised gain on
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
respectively in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 B EZ-—Z-—WME=A=+—HI-FE

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by

the Group and valuation techniques and
inputs used in fair value measurements
at the end of the reporting period

The Group’s chief financial officer is responsible for
the fair value measurements of assets and liabilities
required for financial reporting purposes, including
level 3 fair value measurements. The chief financial
officer reports directly to the board of directors
(the "Board”) for these fair value measurements.
Discussions of valuation processes and results are held
between the chief financial officer and the Board at
least twice a year.

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group will
normally engage external valuation experts with the
recognised professional qualifications and recent
experience to perform the valuations, and refer to
prices quoted by fund administrators.

Level 2 fair value measurements

Description Valuation technique
ot (DD

NYEEFT= (#)

(c)

Inputs
[PN - §-4 “BOmE —T=F

RBEHARRNEERA 2
HERFUARQFEFTE
RAZEERERBAR
BeRE

AEEZVBRERERTHH
WETCEERABEAFENE
BRE=ZQIAFEFE-BHKR
EEERNEFE ([EFE)RS
ZEAVEFE - MHAERE
ZeBFELETMAERMGE
B2 AR TR o

RE=ZBRAFEFE AEEB
FEREAERAAUERERRA
HEBOINEEERETHE
WREHESEREANRE-

E-_RAFETE
Fair value

AFE
2024 2023

HK$000  HK$'000
BRI ERTT

Share of net assets

DG BEFE

Unlisted investment funds
FLEMEEES

N/A
E A

21,514 21,160
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
an\ (=12 jﬁ%#&%‘% M—J-

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 2 — T - F=A=+—HItFE

6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 6. N¥{EFT= (#)

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by () ABREHREKEEHRAZ
the Group and valuation techniques and HERFUARAFETE
inputs used in fair value measurements RAZHELTERB AR
at the end of the reporting period BoHE &)

(Continued)
Level 3 fair value measurements E=ZROTEFE
Effect on
fair value
for increase Fair value
Valuation technique Unobservable inputs Range of inputs 2024
BWABBE M A¥E
EER % BLrEEZBHAHE gE HATPENZE g e 1F 2
HK$'000
BETT
Investments at fair value through profit or loss
BROVEFABEECRE
Unlisted equity investments
FLTRERE
Latest transaction price N/A N/A N/A 457,645
RARHE (notes (a)(i)
and (ii))
TR TiEA TiEm (H=E (a)(i)
R (ii))
Share of net assets N/A N/A N/A 432,353
NMEEERE NEF TER T#ER
Discounted cash flows Discount rate 7.79%-35.38% Decrease 1,879,753
(note (b))
BRRATRE R D (H&E (b))
Long-term growth rate 2.02%-3.00% Increase
REERX 2
Discount for lack of 15.70%-20.00% Decrease
marketability and control
R B Rz B D
Market approach Discount rate 17.19% Decrease 175,151
(note (b))
migE R X D (M =E (b))
Market comparable companies  Price-to-sales ratio 72.33 Increase 5,623
(note (a)(iii))
MHA B LR AT [iiE2ES g (B (a)(iii))
Discount rate for lack 30.00% Decrease
of marketabilities
T2 2 BRI & B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
an\ ,jﬁﬁ-’F&%‘%Bﬁ

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 i Z2 - T - WFE=-A=+—HItFE

6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 6. N¥{EFT=E (2

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by () ABREHREKEEHFRAZ
the Group and valuation techniques and RERFURQAFENE
inputs used in fair value measurements RAZHELTERB AR
at the end of the reporting period BoWE &)

(Continued)
Level 3 fair value measurements (Continued) E=ZROTEFE(F)
Effect on
fair value
for increase Fair value
Valuation technique Unobservable inputs Range of inputs 2024
BABEEM ALE
fEER & BEBE2HAZE gE HATENEE “EoNE
HK$'000
BET T

Investments at fair value through profit or loss (Continued)
BAVEFANEREZRE (E)

Unlisted non-voting preference shares

FrTERAEBLK
Market comparable companies  Price-to-book ratio 1.95 Increase 24,500
(note (b))
M ALLRAR LS 2 (B &£ (b))
Discount rate for lack 20.50% Decrease
of marketabilities
RZEEEZBRE B
Unlisted investment funds and limited partnership
HITREEZREREBLEE
Share of net assets N/A N/A N/A 1,733,915
(note (a)(iv))
DEEERE TiEA T TER (K= @)(v)
Unlisted economic interest
FEiam#
Discounted cash flows Discount rate 11.70% Decrease 1,632,000
(note (b))
BRBEENE BRI & B (Bt £ (b))
Long-term growth rate 2.02% Increase
REERE 2
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
BROTEGTABEEZHBEE
Share of investment results N/A N/A N/A (2,942)
DERERE TiEA TiEfA ek
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
an\ (=12 jﬁ%#ﬁ%‘% M—J-

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 2 — T - F=A=+—HItFE

6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by
the Group and valuation techniques and
inputs used in fair value measurements
at the end of the reporting period
(Continued)

Level 3 fair value measurements (Continued)

6. RFEE @)

() RBEHMARAEERAZ
HERFURLQFETE
RAZEERERBAR
BeRE (@)

E=WMAFETE(F)

Effect on
fair value
for increase Fair value
Valuation technique Unobservable inputs Range of inputs 2023
A BURIZ N ATE
RERE BEBERZBAHE #E HRATENTE —Z-=fF
HK$'000
BETT
Investments at fair value through profit or loss
RAVPESFABERZRE
Unlisted equity investments
FHLTRERE
Latest transaction price N/A N/A N/A 151,076
RERHE TiER TiER TER
Share of net assets N/A N/A N/A 798,212
PEBEFE TER TiER TER
Discounted cash flows Discount rate 8.42%-30.58% Decrease 1,916,369
BRBEERE R o
Long-term growth rate 2.20%-3.00% Increase
REERE 0
Discount for lack of 15.70%-20.00% Decrease
marketability and control
TR Rz AR D
Market approach Discount rate 12.36% Decrease 171,623
5% R o
Market comparable companies  Price-to-book ratio 1.77 Increase 36,502
MISA B LR AT X &0
Discount rate for lack 20.60% Decrease
of marketabilities
T EENE IR K o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A R AR M A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 i Z2 - T - WFE=-A=+—HItFE

6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 6. N¥{EFT=E (2

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by () ABREHREKEEHFRAZ
the Group and valuation techniques and RERFURQAFENE
inputs used in fair value measurements RAZHELTERB AR
at the end of the reporting period BoWE &)

(Continued)
Level 3 fair value measurements (Continued) E=ZROTEFE(F)
Effect on
fair value
for increase Fair value
Valuation technique Unobservable inputs Range of inputs 2023
i A\ BB S I NFE
ERE EEBR B AR #E HLATERNFE —Eo=F
HK$'000
BT

Investments at fair value through profit or loss (Continued)
BAVEFAERZEZRE (&)

Unlisted non-voting preference shares

FrERAERTK
Market comparable companies  Earnings multiples 11.77 Increase 39,900
HEA AR AT BFEY #2440
Discount rate for lack 20.50% Decrease
of marketabilities
Rz 2 AR E B

Unlisted investment funds and limited partnership

HLTREREZRERABLE

Latest transaction price N/A N/A N/A 1,962
RORFE TNEH TEH TEH
Share of net assets N/A N/A N/A 2,977,408
DLEEFE NEH TNEH TEH
Unlisted bond
FEHES
Market comparable companies  Earning multiples 18.00 Increase 9,535
MG EALLER AT BFEY =

Discount rate for lack 30.00% Decrease

of marketabilities
Rz 2 AR E B

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

BRAVEFABRSRZMEEE

Share of investment results N/A N/A N/A (3,892)
AMEREXE DA TEA T EA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
an\ (= /j’ﬁ%q&ﬁ%ﬁﬁ

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 2 — T - F=A=+—HItFE

6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by
the Group and valuation techniques and
inputs used in fair value measurements
at the end of the reporting period
(Continued)

Level 3 fair value measurements (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

During the year, there were no changes in the valuation
techniques used except the following investments:

U]

(iii)

(iv)

EREXRABRAF

The valuation technique was changed from “Share
of net assets” to “Latest transaction price” as the
company committed to dispose the investment
at agreed price as detailed in note 25 to the
consolidated financial statements.

REMHEBELREEBARETIA

The valuation technique was changed from “Market
comparable companies” to “Latest transaction
price” as the transaction price was arrived within a
year and constituted an appropriate reference for
the most recent valuation.

RYNERHMEZBERAA]

The valuation technique was changed from
“Latest transaction price” to “Market comparable
companies” as the transaction price was arrived at
for more than a year ago and no longer constituted
an appropriate reference for the most recent
valuation and “Market comparable companies” is
a more appropriate approach to value fair value of
a company that is under development stage with
great growth potential in the future.

Value Internet Fund |

The valuation technique was changed from “Latest
transaction price” to “Share of net assets” as the
transaction price was arrived at for more than a
year ago and no longer constituted an appropriate
reference for the most recent valuation and “Share
of net assets” is a more appropriate approach.

The fair value of certain investments at fair value through
profit or loss as at 31 March 2024 has been arrived at
on the basis of valuations carried out on those dates by
independent qualified professional valuers not connected
to the Group.

6. RFEE @)

() RBEEHMARAREERAZ
HERFUARQFEFTE
RAZEERERBAR
B2RE ()

(@ FABRTUTRE MREMNMHE
BEITERAEE

iy FEREXRAERAA

HEFERIDIEEEF
BlAaI&ARZE] A
BAREA R EES
HERE FBIEARKEH
IR MIFE25 -

iy, RETZEBELIEESE
BREFERA

EEES MG AR
AR BB HERHE]
ARRZERE—FANM
B BAEF A ERNE
wRE

iy RINEBREEEBERAF

EES AR [ RERS
Bl A IMBTELER
Al HAXHERE—F
SUBIRBE  TEERS
FEENEESE MW
BRALBAF] RFE—
RN EREE  AREE
AERENORAZ AT
fEHE A EH %

(iv)  Value Internet Fund |

EETEHIHROIXSE]
HRIDEEEFE]
RRXZHERE—F LA
FiS i T EEK R E
MEEZ2Z MIDHEEE
FEIREBEBAEMIT A

by R-FT-_OF=A=+—8"
F%ﬁﬁ?fﬁ.ﬁ)\%@ EEZ?xﬁﬁ’J
A AE R AR i BLR 5 E 3 4 B
MBYABEREXEGEMNEZS
RAETH/REMSH -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A R AR M A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 i Z2 - T - WFE=-A=+—HItFE

7.

TURNOVER AND REVENUE

Turnover represents the aggregate of dividend income,
interest revenue and gross sales proceeds from disposal/
redemption of investments at fair value through profit or
loss.

Turnover and revenue recognised during the years are
analysed as follows:

4 T

ERBREEREBA M EMWEIA K
&/ BORATFEFABRREZRE
ZHEMSRIERRE Z B -

B

FRABRZEXBREEITAT

2024 2023

—E_ME T

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T VST

Dividend income A% B U A = 1,038

Interest revenue ) B Z 308,329 191,703

Total revenue 48U 2 308,329 192,741
Gross sales proceeds from disposal/ HE TEEEAFERA
redemption of investments at Bl o REHEME

fair value through profit or loss SKIBAB R 213,677 276,848

Turnover EXE 522,006 469,589

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision maker has been identified
as the executive director, subject to requirements of the
Listing Rules. The executive director assesses the operating
segments using a measure of operating profit. The Group’s
measurement policies for segment reporting under HKFRS
8 are the same as those used in its HKFRS financial
statements.

On adopting of HKFRS 8, based on the internal financial
information reported to the executive director for decisions
about resources allocation to the Group’s business
components and review of these components’ performance,
the Group has identified only one operating segment, being
investment holding. Accordingly, segment disclosures are
not presented.

Wealthink Al-Innovation Capital Limited / Annual Report 2023/24
ENERREBRAA / F302023/24

7 B E

TERERRECRAERNTES X
RREMHRAURE-BITEFRATE
REBMZ T AFEEL DB - AN RE
RIBFF BB HREEAESHIEL D H
WEZERR BERBEEBMH R
SEARBE 2 M IERRARAE 2

REME B BRE L FHRRE R
BRAREAREXBEKIED ZER
DERERUFAK D 2 KRR A
NTESE2RZAMPBER  ~A5H
EHRIREEB—EZEEDE - Bt
WEZ5|DEBBEER -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ArE R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 2 — T - F=A=+—HItFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8. HEER (&)
Geographical information i & &
2024 2023
—EE —E-=4F
HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BET T

Revenue W 7%

- Hong Kong —BH 232,974 137,556

— Mainland China — B R 70,730 51,546

— United States of America — [ 4,625 3,639
308,329 192,741

REFRERE  GEREREREZK
BZ 2N REMERKE A
MEBREREBRERZKEZ25TY
NRMEE P RIKE

In presenting the geographical information, revenue in
relation to equity investments is based on the location of
the investments and revenue in relation to debt investments
and loan receivables is based on location of provision of
credit.

FRBDEE (MBI ARM)

Non-current assets other than financial

instruments
2024 2023
—E_mFE T F
HKS$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Hong Kong B 269,908 330,451
Mainland China R A b 399,831 606,999
United States of America e 71 782
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
an\ I Zri%#&’%% M-J-

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 i Z2 - T - WFE=-A=+—HItFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8. DEER @)
Revenue from major debt investments FTEEBREN WS

AEEMEE (BEAREEBKEI0%

Revenue of the Group which individually accounted for

10% or more of the Group’s total revenue is shown below: A )T
2024 2023
—E-E —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Debt investment A BEBREA 61,560 -
Debt investment B BERBIREB # 51,016
Debt investment C BEREC 40,611 28,258
Debt investment D BEFIRED 38,806 23,405
# Less than 10% of total revenue for the relevant year. # DRIBRFERAWEE10% ©
9. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS/(LOSSES), NET 9. E MU A Rz, (E18)
T
ek
2024 2023
—E_ME T =4
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T ST T
Net gain/(loss) on disposal of subsidiaries ~ H& M B Rz (EiE)
(note 36) FEE (PiFEE36) 84,308 (1,540)
Impairment loss of goodwill arising R—EBERARIZIEEELE
from investment in an associate ZEERBESE (6,214) -
Impairment loss of intangible assets BIVEEZRERBE
(note 18) (PfFE18) (711) -
Others Hh, 281 255
77,664 (1,285)
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11.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

e SRR

HE-_ZT-_NM&EF=ZA=1+—HILFE

10. FINANCE COSTS 10. @& B 2N

2024 2023
—ENE 2 =F
HKS$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Interest on borrowings Bz F A 85,401 74,146
Interest on lease liabilities HEBGBZFE 965 885
86,366 75,031

INCOME TAX EXPENSE M. B
2024 2023
—ECNE —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T

Current tax BN EARL 18

— People’s Republic of China (“PRC") —FhEAREME ([HE]) (955) (3,140)

Enterprise Income Tax, provision
for the year

LXK FRBE

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made for
the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 as the Group did
not generate any assessable profits arising in Hong Kong

during those years.

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of
operations in the PRC was calculated at the tax rate of 25%
(2023: 25%) on the assessable profits for the year ended
31 March 2024, based on existing legislation, interpretation

and practices in respect thereof.

HRASERBZ_Z_NER_ZT
T=F=ZA=+t—"BLFEEERRL
BELEMNRERVEEN RZEFFEL

B EEFGSHIELRE-

AEEBERTPREBORMESHERD
RIEBBEENBRITEM  FERIED
EEE-_ZT_NF=-ZA=+—HLHF
[E R FER TR FIBI25%

e

25% ) B ERFFE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 i Z2 - T - WFE=-A=+—HItFE

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

The reconciliation between the income tax expense and
the product of profit before tax multiplied by the weighted
average tax rate of the consolidated companies is as

follows:

TS RAS (®)

Pt R AT & FIF LR G A 7
DD$%¥H%R$E@i$§Z;¢E§ﬁDT-

2024 2023
—E_OFE T =F
HK$'000 HK$'000

EET T BETT

Profit before tax 75t Bl & A 54,608 149,523
Tax at the weighted average tax rate RNEFH ﬁ¥§+“2ﬁ1§ 14,767 29,307
Tax effect of income not taxable BERHRBA ZFRET 48,581 34,262
Tax effect of expenses not deductible TR 2 BB (52,898) (61,010)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RIERER %RIEES?EZTR?XE’% (11,176) (5,342)
Tax effect of temporary differences REBREREZHE LB BT E

not recognised (229) (357)
Income tax expense Frigfif (955) (3,140)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group did not
recognise deferred tax assets of HK$116,327,000 (2023:
HK$99,793,000) in respect of estimated tax losses
amounting to HK$705,013,000 (2023: HK$602,958,000)
that can be carried forward against future taxable income.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. These estimated
tax losses will be carried forward indefinitely.

Wealthink Al-Innovation Capital Limited / Annual Report 2023/24

ERBEREE/RAT / 43202324

RMERR AEBE W EREEEREL
FERTRUA T &8 2 5 B TEE 1B
#705,013,000 (Z T Z=F : B
602,958,0007T ) fERIE LI 1B & & B
#116,327,000c (Z T =F : B
99,793,0007T) ° A KK FE i £ T
ATEA W EERECERBEE %
SHFHIEEESERBLEE-



12.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ArE R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 2 — T - F=A=+—HItFE

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

The Group’s profit for the year is stated after charging/

(crediting) the following:

12. RFEE AT

AERAFERMNERNR, (GFA)T
5B R S ER

2024 2023
—EoNFE T =F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Depreciation of equipment HERE 2,031 4,843
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEERE 7,250 22,934
Auditor's remuneration 1% 85 6 7 B
— Audit services — ZEUR TS 1,350 1,350
— Non-audit services — IERZEUR TS 118 118
1,468 1,468
Provision/(reversal of provision) for ECL TP &HEEBEERE
BAE (BERED)
— debt investments —EBEE 2,058 (96,157)
— accounts, loans, interest and —EWERER BN FER
other receivables H fb e U 3R 1,898 (12,810)
3,956 (108,967)
Staff costs including Directors’ emoluments EEXK A (BIEEZES)
— Salaries and other benefits —FekEMET 15,716 16,651
— Retirement benefits scheme contributions — iR {RK18 Fl &t 21 4t 7% 382 377
16,098 17,028
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
an\ ,jiﬁ¥&%‘:€|§ﬁ

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 i Z2 - T - WFE=-A=+—HItFE

13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 13.&F % Egﬁﬂl/\%&ﬁ
AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES' ZEaTEEMNS
EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s (a) EZERFTETHAEMS

emoluments
Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments for the BEEAN EMANEROHERF
year, disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing EEERIZTHRAEMENT
Rules, is as follows:
2024
—E-MmE
Retirement
benefits
Salaries and scheme
Name #E Notes Fees other benefits  contributions Total
HeR BIREF
ik e Ht B F g B3 @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000

EETT BETT BT BETT

Executive director: HITEE:

Dr. LIU Zhiwei MEERL 250 - - 250

Non-executive directors: FHITEE:

Dr. WANG Qin ESEL (i) 420 - - 420

Dr. FU Weigang EEmEL 250 - = 250

Dr. WANG Shibin FHEL 250 - - 250

Independent non-executive BUHFNTEE:

directors:

Mr. CHEN Yuming REREE 250 - - 250

Mr. YAN Xiaotian BHALE (ii) 250 - - 250

Mr. ZHAO Kai HElEE (ii) 250 - - 250

Chief executive officer: T A

Dr. QIAO Bingya BRGEL - 250 13 263
1,920 250 13 2,183
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
an\ (= /Zrﬁ%#'ﬁ’l%ﬁﬁ-

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 2 — T - F=A=+—HItFE

13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 13. %%A_E EITHRABNR
AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES’ HmHmEENE &)
EMOLUNENTS«bmmww
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s (a) EERFETHAEMS

emoluments (Continued) (#&)
Directors’ and chief executive's emoluments for the RIBERN EMRAIBEENARE
year, disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing EEEREIZTHRAEMEMT
Rules, is as follows: (Continued) (#&)
2023
—EZ=F
Retirement
benefits
Salaries and scheme
Name 4 Notes Fees  other benefits contributions Total
ek RIKEF
BisE we HebiaFl AR @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

EETTL EBTT BETTL EETT

Executive director: HITEE:

Dr. LIU Zhiwei MEEBL 250 - - 250

Non-executive directors: FRTEE:

Dr. FU Weigang BEmMEL 250 - - 250

Dr. WANG Shibin FHEEFEL 250 - - 250

Independent non-executive directors: BUHHTEE -

Mr. CHEN Yuming REREE 250 - - 250

Mr. YAN Xiaotian BRELE (ii) 236 - - 236

Mr. ZHAO Kai wl At (ii) 236 - - 236

Mr. WANG Xiaojun FOEEE (iif) 15 - - 15

Prof. HE Jia MEHE (il 15 - - 15

Chief executive officer: TREH

Dr. QIAQ Bingya BERTEL - 250 13 263
1,502 250 13 1,765
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
an\ I Zri%#&’%% M-J-

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 i Z2 - T - WFE=-A=+—HItFE

13. &%

13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s
emoluments (Continued)

Notes:

(i) Appointed on 31 May 2023.
(ii) Appointed on 22 April 2022.

(iii) ~ Resigned on 22 April 2022.

There was no arrangement under which a director
and chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments during the year ended 31 March 2024
(2023: nil).

(b) Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No other significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Group’s business to which
the Company was a party and in which a director of
the Company had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of or at any time
during the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A SRR MY EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 2 — T - F=A=+—HItFE

13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

13.FF FETHAEBRTR

AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES’ ZmeaEEWNE 2
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
(c) Five highest paid employees () BEREHES
The five highest paid employees of the Group AEERAEENOLEE=RIE
during the year included nil (2023: nil) Director BEREZSR(ZE-_=ZF:-F%)
whose emoluments are set out in note 13(a) to the EFT HPeEN G BEHRE
consolidated financial statements. Details of the MI5E13(a) c A FEWIEARRAIE
emoluments for the year of the remaining 5 (2023: 5) FRTETBABEZH TR (=
highest paid employees who are neither a director nor TE-=F:5F)EaFHEE 2
chief executive of the Company are as follows: SHBEET:
2024 2023
—E_ME B -=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Basic salaries and allowances %L" g NMOEBL 5,520 5,955
Retirement benefits scheme RRENFTEIH R
contributions 90 90
5,610 6,045
The number of the highest paid employees who are WIIEEEMEN T UTEHERD
not the Directors and whose emoluments falls within TP EEABNT:
the following bands:
Number of individuals
AE
2024 2023
—E_NE T =F
Nil to HK$1,000,000 T2 #1,000,0007T 3 3
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 75 #1,000,001 L E
75 %51,500,0007T 2 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 75 #1,500,001. &
78 #2,000,0007T - 1
5 5
During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group FA-AEBTEAENES FE17

to any of the directors, chief executive or the highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.

BAB&&EEFH AL EERMN
BAKEZF o MBAR 2 REHE
AEERIERE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A R AR M A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 i Z2 - T - WFE=-A=+—HItFE

14. DIVIDEND

14.

No dividends was paid or proposed for ordinary
shareholders of the Company during the year ended 31
March 2024, nor has any dividend been proposed at the

end of the reporting period (2023: nil).

15. EARNINGS PER SHARE

15.

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share

is based on the following:

gt

HE_Z_NWF=-A=1+—BLFE
WEMARQRLEBERERIREMNRES
AT S RRE BB RN EEZZ RS
TARE(ZT_=F &) -

SREF

BRERNLBEERNDIREIATEEA

2024 2023
ZEIWE T =F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Earnings R
Earnings for the purpose of calculating RAUFTESRERREE
basic and diluted earnings per share axzax 53,653 146,383
2024 2023
—E_NOME —F-=
‘000 ‘000
B T B
Number of shares g =]
Weighted average number of ordinary RAURFTESRERRESE
shares for the purpose of calculating B M) 2 5 e N 1 8L
basic and diluted earnings per share 10,520,325 8,120,866
2024 2023
—ECME @ —ET-=4F
HK cent HK cents
Al il
Basic and diluted earnings per share GRERREERT 0.51 1.80

Diluted earnings per share is the same as basic earnings per
share as the Company did not have any dilutive potential
ordinary share during the years ended 31 March 2024 and

2023.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 2 — T - F=A=+—HItFE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A SRR MY EE

16. EQUIPMENT 16. X1
Motor Computer Office Leasehold
vehicle  equipment equipment Furniture  improvements Total
AE ElRE BOERE RE  HENEEE #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
Cost B
At 1 April 2022 i —
mA—H 777 1,721 273 2,397 20,088 25,256
Addition NE - 145 3 - 3,594 3,742
Write off i - - - - (18,666) (18,666)
Exchange difference ERERE - (3) (1) (20) (103) (127)
At 31 March 2023 and R-BZ=f
1 April 2023 ZA=+-8K
—E-ZE
A—H 777 1,863 275 2,377 4,913 10,205
Addition NE = = - - 2,476 2,476
Exchange difference [R5 - (2) (1) (14) (73) (90)
At 31 March 2024 R-B-m&E
ZA=+-H 771 1,861 274 2,363 7.316 12,591
Accumulated depreciation Rt iTE
At 1 April 2022 i ——3
mA—A 777 1,381 190 1,581 15,945 19,874
Charge for the year FNER - 267 61 545 3,970 4,843
Write off e - - - - (18,666) (18,666)
Exchange difference EHRERE - - - (3) (21) (24)
At 31 March 2023 and RZBZ=f%
1 April 2023 ZA=t+-AR
—E-z=E
A—H 777 1,648 251 2,123 1,228 6,027
Charge for the year FRER - 99 17 160 1,755 2,031
Exchange difference ] - (1) = (6) (45) (52)
At 31 March 2024 R-B-_ME
ZA=+-8 771 1,746 268 2,277 2,938 8,006
Carrying amount QEEE
At 31 March 2024 —E-ME
:ﬁ =+-H = 115 6 86 4,378 4,585
At 31 March 2023 RZZZ=
—A=1—H - 215 24 254 3,685 4,178
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
an\ I Zrﬁ&#&’%% M—J-

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 i Z2 - T - WFE=-A=+—HItFE

17. LEASES AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

177 HEMEAEEE

Disclosures of lease-related items: BRI EM#AIER
At 31 March R=A=+-—H 2024 2023
—BED@E T =F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Right-of-use assets — Buildings TRAEEE-—EBT 8,654 11,409
The maturity analysis, based on AEEBEEBENINHRS
undiscounted cash flows, of the Group's MERRMBERESRE)
lease liabilities is as follows: m
— Less than 1 year — L E 6,358 7,699
— Between 1 and 2 years — 1FEH2F 7 fH 3,879 4,878
— Between 2 and 5 years —24F H5%5 7 180 1,719
10,417 14,296
Year ended 31 March BE=ZHA=+—BHLEFE 2024 2023
—EoNEFE T =F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T ST T
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEERE
— Buildings —EF 7,250 22,934
Lease interests HERE 965 885
Total cash outflow for leases HERS AL B 9,274 25,300
Addition to right-of-use assets REFPRAEEE 4,730 8,256
Lease agreements are typically made for fixed periods of 3 HEBREDE T HRBTER/3E36F-

to 3.6 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual
basis and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any

covenants and the leased assets may not be used as security

for borrowing purposes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ArE R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 2 — T - F=A=+—HItFE

18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18. B B =
Cryptocurrencies
& %
HK$°000
BT T
Cost @S
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023, R-ZE-Z-FWA—B -ZZBZ=F
1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024 =A=+—-B-ZEZ=F§
MA-BR=—F-MF
=HA=+-—H 782
Accumulated impairment loss B EEE
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023 and RZB-_—_FWMA—H ZT=-=F
1 April 2023 =A=+—-BR=-E-=%
WmA—H -
Impairment loss BEEE 711
At 31 March 2024 R-ZB-MFE=A=+—~H 711
Carrying amount IREE
At 31 March 2024 R-ZE-_MFE=A=+—H VA
At 31 March 2023 R_E_=F=A=+—H 782
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
an\ I ji%#&%%ﬁﬁ;f

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 i Z2 - T - WFE=-A=+—HItFE

19. SUBSIDIARIES (ERENE]

EEHBAR

AR REER 28

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-
free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

R-ZZE-_WNF=ZA=+—H ARAMH

Particulars of the subsidiaries of the Company as at 31

March 2024 are as follows:

BARMFEBNOT:

Percentage of

Place of incorporation/ Issued and ownership interest/
registration and paid up/ voting power/
Name operation registered capital profit sharing Principal activities
BRTRERE/ FiEkEs RER/
£8 B/ ERREESLY HREx PERFNED TEEH
2024 2023
—E-ME -—T-=F

Directly held subsidiaries
BEEREZHEL A
Block Al Company Limited Republic of Seychelles Us$1 100% 100% Investment holding
Block Al Company Limited EETRAME (ED REERR
WK Volare Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% Dormant

(formerly known as Flytechnology

Investments Limited)
WK Volare Investments Limited ( 31 f& B BRI WEER

Flytechnology Investments Limited )
Golden Investor Investments Limited British Virgin Islands Uss2 100% 100% Investment holding

("BVI")
Golden Investor Investments Limited KERLHS 2ET BREER
(RBRX#ES])
Great Wonderful Limited BVI Us$1 100% 100% Investment holding
BYERLF RRES (E REER
Metaki Investment Holdings Limited BVI Us$1 100% 100% Dormant
Metaki Investment Holdings Limited EERUHES (E W EET
Metaki Limited Republic of Seychelles Us$1 100% 100% Dormant
Metaki Limited EEMANE (Ep WEE
Metaki Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% Dormant
TRRARRARA BN BT W
Metaqi Limited Republic of Seychelles Us$1 100% 100% Dormant
Metaqi Limited ERRANE Y W ER
OP Capital Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% Investment holding
RAEARERRAR B BEIT REER
OP Digital Life (GP) Limited Cayman Islands Us$1 100% 100% Investment holding
OP Digital Life (GP) Limited HEHE (E BREER
OP Digital Me Limited BVI Us$1 100% 100% Investment holding
OP Digital Me Limited RERXES Y BREER
OP Felicity Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% Investment holding
OP Felicity Limited BN BT BREER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
an\ (= /Zrﬁ%#'ﬁ’l%ﬁﬁ-

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 2 — T - F=A=+—HItFE

19. SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 19. B R A) (&)
Particulars of the subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 RZZEZMF=A=+—8 ~2aMH
March 2024 are as follows: (Continued) BRARINEFBOT: (&)

Percentage of

Place of incorporation/ Issued and ownership interest/
registration and paid up/ voting power/
Name operation registered capital profit sharing Principal activities
BRTRER/ FrakEs RER/
28 B/ ERREESLY HEREE PEBFNEL R TEER
2024 2023
—E-ME -—FT_=F
OPFI GP(2) Limited Cayman Islands HK$0.1 100% 100% Investment holding
OPFI GP(2) Limited HeHs B0 RAZR
OP Fintech Holdings Limited Cayman Islands Us$1 100% 100% Investment holding
OP Fintech Holdings Limited FEHE (E BREEK
OP Healthcare Limited Cayman Islands Us$1 100% 100% Dormant
OP Healthcare Limited Meks (E WEEB
OP Investment Service Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% Administrative service
centre for group
companies
RERERBERRA £ BT BRAZITHRS
LW
Power Creation Global Limited BVI Us$100 100% 100% Investment holding
Power Creation Global Limited EERTHS 100 7T BREEK
Prosper Gain Holdings Limited BVI Us$1 100% 100% Investment holding
Prosper Gain Holdings Limited BRRHES (E BREEK
River King Investments Limited BVI Us$1 100% 100% Investment holding
River King Investments Limited BRHES (EH BREEK
South South Financial Investment BVI Us$1 100% 100% Investment holding
Group Limited
HHERREEEERAR RHEE (B RERR
Spring Inside Limited BVI - 100% 100% Investment holding
Spring Inside Limited BRHES - BREEK
Spring Kirin Limited BVI Us$1 100% 100% Investment holding
Spring Kirin Limited RERUES (EH BREEK
WK Solis Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% Dormant
(formerly known as Sunshinetech
Investments Limited)
WK Solis Investments Limited ( A 7& £ BT W EET
Sunshinetech Investments Limited )
Suremind Investments Limited BVI Us$1 100% 100% Investment holding
Suremind Investments Limited REES EH BREEK
Wall King Industry Investment Limited BVI US$13,000,000 100% 100% Investment holding
EREEREFRAF EBRAES 13,000,000% 7T RERR
Wealthking Venture Capital Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% Dormant
EMEFRETERAF B BT WX
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
an\ I ji%#&%%ﬁﬁ;f

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 i Z2 - T - WFE=-A=+—HItFE

19. SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 19. Mif B 2~ =l (4
Z-mMEZRA=+—8 ARAK

Particulars of the subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 -
BARMBOT: (&)

March 2024 are as follows: (Continued)

220

Percentage of

Place of incorporation/ Issued and ownership interest/
registration and paid up/ voting power/
Name operation registered capital profit sharing Principal activities
BRIRBR/ FrafkEs RER/
28 B/ ERREESLY HEREE PEBFNEL R TEXH
2024 2023
“E-ME —To=F

WK Century Holdings Limited BVI Us$1 100% 100% Investment holding
WK Century Holdings Limited RERIES (E REER
WK Development Limited BVI Us$1 100% 100% Investment holding
WK Development Limited RERIES E REER
WK Fintech Holdings Limited BVI Us$1 100% 100% Investment holding
WK Fintech Holdings Limited RERIES (EH REER
WK Intellect Limited BVI Us$1 100% 100% Investment holding
WK Intellect Limited RERIES EFH REER
WK Management Limited BVI Us$1 100% 100% Investment holding
WK Management Limited RERIES E REER
WK Megaverse Limited BVI Us$1 100% 100% Dormant
WK Megaverse Limited RERIES E WEER
WK Millennia Holdings Limited BVI Us$1 100% 100% Dormant
WK Millennia Holdings Limited RERIES EH WREER
WK Phoenix Success Limited BVI Us$1 100% 100% Dormant
WK Phoenix Success Limited RERIES (EF WEER
WK Pioneer Success Limited BVI Us$1 100% 100% Dormant
WK Pioneer Success Limited RERIES (EH WEER
WK Quantum Holdings Limited BVI Us$1 100% 100% Investment holding
WK Quantum Holdings Limited RERIES (EH REER
WK Unicorn Success Limited BVI Us$1 100% 100% Dormant
WK Unicorn Success Limited RERIES 1271 WEER
WK Venture Success Limited BVI Us$1 note (i) 100% Investment holding
WK Venture Success Limited RERIES (E Y& (i) REER
Ea (M) rEBHEEERAR PRC RMB800,000,000 note (i) 100% Investment holding

(formerly known as & & %4 (note (i)

(M) ERRR)
HE (M) CEETERERAT e AE800,000,0007 HEEE (1) RERR

(MBEFRE (MM ERAA) (P & Gi))
Y ENEEEREAFTRAR PRC HK$ 18,000,000 100% 100% Administrative service

(note (ii) centre for group
companies
RYENEEERZATRAA e 7 #18,000,0007T EREZITHRS
(M () Al
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
an\ (= /Zrﬁ%#'ﬁ’l%ﬁﬁ-

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 2 — T - F=A=+—HItFE

19. SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 19. B R A) (&)
Particulars of the subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 RZZEZMF=A=+—8 ~2aMH
March 2024 are as follows: (Continued) BRARINEFBOT: (&)

Percentage of

Place of incorporation/ Issued and ownership interest/
registration and paid up/ voting power/
Name operation registered capital profit sharing Principal activities
BRTRER/ Fremkgs REE/
28 B/ ERREESLY HEREE PEBFNEIL ETEXH
2024 2023

—E-ME -—T--F

WK Clara Holdings Limited BVI Us$1 100% 0% Dormant
WK Clara Holdings Limited RBERUES EH WEEB
WK Fortis Holdings Limited BVI Us$1 100% 0% Investment holding
WK Fortis Holdings Limited RERUES EH BREERK
WK Fortune Holdings Limited BVI Us$1 100% 0% Dormant
WK Fortune Holdings Limited RERUES (EH WEEB
WK Frater Holdings Limited BVI Us$1 100% 0% Investment holding
WK Frater Holdings Limited RBERUES (E BREEK
WK Mater Holdings Limited BVI Us$1 100% 0% Dormant
WK Mater Holdings Limited RBERUES (E WEEB
WK Potens Holdings Limited BVI Us$1 100% 0% Dormant
WK Potens Holdings Limited RBERUES (E WEEB
WK Solida Holdings Limited BVI Us$1 100% 0% Dormant
WK Solida Holdings Limited RERUES EH WEEB
WK Strata Holdings Limited BVI Us$1 100% 0% Investment holding
WK Strata Holdings Limited RBERUES (E BREEK
WK Terra Holdings Limited BVI Us$1 100% 0% Dormant
WK Terra Holdings Limited RBERUES (EH WEEB
WK Terrane Holdings Limited BVI Us$1 100% 0% Dormant
WK Terrane Holdings Limited RBERUES (E WEEB
Wealthking Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 0% Dormant

(formerly known as Wealthink
Al-Innovation Capital Limited)

EMEXBRAA BiE BB WX
(AIBENERREFRRAR)
WK Alpine Holdings Limited BVI Us$1 100% 0% Dormant
WK Alpine Holdings Limited RBERUES EH WEEB
WK Acutus Holdings Limited BVI Us$1 100% 0% Dormant
WK Acutus Holdings Limited RERUES EH WEEB
WK Begonia Holdings Limited BVI Us$1 100% 0% Dormant
WK Begonia Holdings Limited RERUES (E WEEB
WK Cosmos Holdings Limited BVI Us$1 100% 0% Dormant
WK Cosmos Holdings Limited RBERUES (E WREB
WK Dominus Holdings Limited BVI Us$1 100% 0% Dormant
WK Dominus Holdings Limited RBERUES (E WEEB
Wealthink Al-Innovation Capital Limited / Annual Report 2023/24 221

ENEREREFRAT / FH202324



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
an\ I ji%#&%%ﬁﬁ;f

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 i Z2 - T - WFE=-A=+—HItFE

19. SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 19. B R T (#)
Particulars of the subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 RZZEZMF=A=+—8 A2 aH
March 2024 are as follows: (Continued) BARIMEBENT : (&)

Percentage of

Place of incorporation/ Issued and ownership interest/
registration and paid up/ voting power/
Name operation registered capital profit sharing Principal activities
BRIRBR/ FreRkEs REE/
28 B/ ERREESLY HEREE PEBFNEIL EEXH
2024 2023

—E-mE —E--F

WK Ecela Holdings Limited BVI Us$1 100% 0% Dormant
WK Ecela Holdings Limited RERIES (E WEER
WK Fortuna Holdings Limited BVI Us$1 100% 0% Dormant
WK Fortuna Holdings Limited RERIES E WEER
WK Luminous Holdings Limited BVI Us$1 100% 0% Dormant
WK Luminous Holdings Limited RERIES (EH WEER
WK Splendor Holdings Limited BVI Us$1 100% 0% Dormant
WK Splendor Holdings Limited RERUES (E WEEB
WK Sycamore Holdings Limited BVI Us$1 100% 0% Dormant
WK Sycamore Holdings Limited RERUES (E R e
Indirectly held subsidiaries
HEREZNER
Apex Ridge Limited BVI Uss$1 100% 100% Dormant
BIRBERAF KEELES 1% TEEH
Digital Life L.P. Cayman Islands - 100% 100% Investment holding
Digital Life L.P. Reis - REER
Hong Kong Wall King Industry Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 100% 100% Investment holding
Investment Limited
ERAEREEREABERAT BB 78#1,000,0007C RE R
Keynew Investments Limited BVI Us$1 100% 100% Investment holding
Keynew Investments Limited RERXES EYH BREER
Metakii Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% Dormant
Metakii Limited 3 BRI WEEH
Metaqi Capital Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% Investment holding
Metagji Capital Limited N BEIT REER
OP Digital Me Investment Limited BVI Us$1 100% 100% Investment holding
OP Digital Me Investment Limited RERUES EYH REER
OP New Health Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% Investment holding
RAFREERAA B BT REZRR
Prestige Power Global Limited (“PPG") BVI Us$1 note (i) 100% Investment holding
WORKRBRAR ([#MNEK]) RERLES (E 0] REZRR
Silver Path Ventures Limited ("SPV") BVI Us$1 note (i) 100% Investment holding
Silver Path Ventures Limited ([SPV |) KERLHE EFH 2 (i) REER
Wisland Investments Limited BVI Us$1 100% 100% Investment holding
Wisland Investments Limited RERLEE (EH REER
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19. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
an\ (=12 Zri%#'&%% M—J--LI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 2 — T - F=A=+—HItFE

Particulars of the subsidiaries of the Company as at 31
March 2024 are as follows: (Continued)

19. BT A &) (#)

R-ZZE-_MF=ZA=+—8 A2 7K
BARIKMFBOT: (&)

Percentage of
Place of incorporation/ Issued and ownership interest/
registration and paid up/ voting power/
Name operation registered capital profit sharing Principal activities
BRTRER/ FrakEs RER/
A1 B/ SMREEhS ZRER PEBFNEL R TEXH
2024 2023
ZED@E —BC=F

WK Metalight Holdings Limited BVI Us$1 note (i) 100% Investment holding
WK Metalight Holdings Limited RBERUES EH & (i) BREER
World Master Global Limited BVI Us$1 100% 100% Investment holding
FERRFERDA EREREHS (E BREER
HEBREERERERRA PRC RMB 15,000,000 100% 100% Investment holding

(note (ii))
HEBREENEER H AR #15,000,0007T REER

(PR EE (i)
RIEREEEEAD M EJ PRC HK$ 1,000,000 100% 100% Investment holding
RIEXZEEXER e 7 1,000,0007T REER
BERGRERALE (ﬁ REH) PRC RMB50,000 100% 100% Dormant
REEFRERELE (FREH) e AR 50,0007 TEEH
YN EERELEEEHNERAA PRC RMB100,000,000 100% 100% Dormant

(note (ii))
RYNEEEECXERAAERAF i AR 100,000,000 WEEH

(PR EE (i)
RYIBERELEERXARRAF PRC RMB100,000,000 100% 100% Dormant

(note (i)
RYIBERELRERAARRAF h A& #100,000,0007T WERH

(P EE (i)
RYBERHELRERXATRAR PRC RMB100,000,000 100% 100% Dormant

(note (ii)
RYBERHELRERXATRAR H AR #100,000,0007T TEES

(B EE i)
RYBERELEEERAER PRC RMB100,000,000 100% 100% Dormant

(note (ii))
RYBEBELEEERAER E AR 100,000,000 WEES

(P EE i)
RYBERHLREERAERAA PRC RMB100,000,000 100% 100% Dormant

(note (ii))
RYBEBHLREERAEGR E AR 100,000,000 WEES

(P ZE i)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n‘/T\

BB MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 i Z2 - T - WFE=-A=+—HItFE

19.

20.

SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Notes:

(i) The subsidiary was disposed during the year ended 31 March
2024 as detailed in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements.

(ii) Capital registered but not fully paid up.

RNEREEERAZRAERAR, RINEXKEZEEEERAR and B
SRTREREDLE( ﬁﬁﬁ’\%’%) are wholly-owned foreign enterprises
established in the PRC.

As at 31 March 2024, the bank and cash balances of the
Company’s subsidiaries denominated in RMB amounted
to HK$9,385,000 (2023: HK$95,852,000). Conversion of
RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC’s Foreign
Exchange Control Regulations.

(ERENE]

Al (#)
e

(i) WnER A B 75 R 3R MY 5 36FT 5 Al - 5% MY B
NEERBE-_ZT-_ME=/A=+—H
IEFEERE-

(i)  FEMERERGR-

RYEMBEEREANERLA RINEXKSR
?%?i%ﬁﬁﬁ’&?&&%ﬁi%?ﬂﬂé&ﬁﬁ%(E
REXK) BNPEKRTI 2 EEERE-

R-_ZE-_MEZA=+—8 A2 =H
J%/AﬂtAAE‘%EﬂEE’J%Eﬁ&IEA i
157 A7%5%9,385,000L (ZEZ=F 1 /&
#95,852,0007T ) ° HwAE%M@E&I\
78 38 <1 P B AINE B IR R AR o

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND 20 REgERRIREEDRELZ
JOINT VENTURES wE
2024 2023
—E-WE T =F
HKS$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Unlisted investments FELEMKEE
— Associates o /Nl
— Share of net assets —MEEEFE 442,602 712,793
— Goodwill —Ha 7,023 6,214
449,625 719,007
— Joint ventures — share of net assets —BETE-HHEEFE 206,875 202,856
656,500 921,863
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
an\ (= /Zrﬁ%#'ﬁ’l%ﬁﬁ-

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 2 — T - F=A=+—HItFE

20. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND 200 R E RNAIMNBEETEL
JOINT VENTURES (continued) &éf (&)
Details of the Group's associates and joint ventures at 31 MRZEBE-_WE=A=+—HBz2AX&H
March 2024 are as follows: BN NEELEFEBNT

Percentage of
ownership interest

Principal place and voting rights
Name of entity of business Place of incorporation held by the Group Principal activities
AEBEENAERREER
EREE TEERNHN B B FEEAL TEER
2024 2023

—E-_ME -—T--F

Associates
ANl
CSOP Asset Management Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong 22.50% 22.50% Asset management and
("CSOP") (note (i) investment holding
BARAEEERERAR ([AARE]) FE 0 BEEBRREER
(HEEG)
Guotai Junan Fund Management Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong 29.90% 29.90% Asset management and
trading in securities
AREZESERFRAA 0 0 BEEBREREER
OPIM Holdings Limited (“OPIM") Hong Kong BVI 30.00% 30.00% Asset management
OPIM Holdings Limited ([OPIM |) B AERUES BEEE
BA Fintech Lab Limited Hong Kong BVI 28.35% note (ii) Asset management
BA Fintech Lab Limited B RRRTEHS Mat(i) BEEE
Treasure Up Ventures Limited (“TUVL") PRC The Republic of 25.00% 25.00% Asset management
Seychelles
EEEIRAERAR ([TUVL]) e ZERANE BEEE
iCarbonX OP Investment Limited PRC BVI 29.00% 29.00% Investment holding
REREREERAF i KBRS RERR
REBERERE ORI BRAR PRC PRC 30.00% 30.00% Lease investments
("RERE")
RERZEREME (RN ERAF e e HERE
([RERE])
LEHFCEEREABRA PRC PRC note (iii) 23.52% Investment holding
TEHE")
FEHRSCEEEEABRD e h B (i) RERR
(I EBHE])
Greater Bay Area Kunlun Investment SPC PRC Cayman Islands note (iv) 30.00% Dormant
("EmRELER")
BRERRNERERRELZQERARAR FH HEES B (iv) WX
(IBRREESR])
REIB s (8@ BFHRER PRC PRC 30.00% 30.00% Dormant
("REIBRE")
REIZe O8H)BFTHEER e e WX

(IRalg8e))
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
an\ I ji%#&%%ﬁﬁ;f

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 B Z —Z & =A

20. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND

JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

Zt+—RALFE

Details of the Group’s associates and joint ventures at 31

March 2024 are as follows: (Continued)

Principal place

X
R-ZBE_MF=ZRA=1t—HBZAKHE
gERNRRAEECEABOT (&)

Percentage of
ownership interest
and voting rights

Name of entity of business Place of incorporation held by the Group Principal activities
AEERENMERERR
EREH TEEX MY B RERBAM TEEH
2024 2023
ZECNE —T-=fF
BREEEERHBRAR PRC PRC 29.90% 29.90% Asset management
BRAEERRHERDA e e BEEE
Joint ventures
BETE
Shen Jiang L.P. Hong Kong Cayman Islands 50.00% 50.00% Investment holding
Shen Jiang L.P. B HEHE BEER
Magopt Investment L.P. Hong Kong BVI 50.00% 50.00% Dormant
Magopt Investment L.P. B EERUES %7
OP EBS Fintech Investment L.P. Hong Kong Cayman Islands 40.00% 40.00% Investment holding
OP EBS Fintech Investment L.P. B HEHE BEER
RYITEEETAASBLE PRC PRC 50.00% 50.00% Investment holding
(BERa%)
RYTEEENAANCBCE (BREY) +E e REER
Golden Cloud Principal Technology Hong Kong BVI 19.90% 19.90% Investment holding
Company Limited (“Golden Cloud”)
EERBAERAR ([REE]) B ARERHS REER
Notes: i
(i) As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, it is pledged to secured bank (i) ER-_ZE_NMER_ZFE_=ZF=A
facilities granted to the Group. =+—H ?ﬁ?@1¢ﬁ?ﬁ?$%l§$ﬂﬁ%ﬂﬁ
BHER -
(i) As at 31 March 2023, the Group owned less than 20% of the iy MN-ZE-_=F=ZA=+—H A&EHE
equity interest of BA Fintech Lab Limited. A BA Fintech Lab Limited 2> #20% & [%
o
(i)  The associate was disposed along with the disposal of WK (i) WERE BF RS ¥R 3R M 5T 36(b) AT RF 4l - 3% B
Metalight Holdings Limited during the year ended 31 March ENRERBE-_S-_MF=A=+—
2024 as detailed in note 36(b) to the consolidated financial B I F B S WK Metalight Holdings
statements. Limited — ff i1 % ©
(iv)  Asat 31 March 2024, E& & & E % was liquidated. vy R-ZZE-_mME=A=+—H0 E®iKE&
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
an\ (=12 jﬁ%#ﬁ%‘% M—J-

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 2 — T - F=A=+—HItFE

Py W AN Sy
20. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND 20 R ERARIRBERELZ
JOINT VENTURES (continued) &éﬁ (#)
Summarised financial information in respect of the Group's REBEBE QAT 2 MBERRE (R
associates (based on the management accounts of the ERRICEREKB)ENNMT
associates) is set out below:
CSOP TUVL  RERE Others Total
BERRR TUVL REREE Hit @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$"000
BT B¥Tr BETr  B¥%Tx  B%Txn
(note (v))
(BHaE(v))
At 31 March 2024 RZE-_MFE=A=+—-H
Non-current assets ERBDEE 4,241 - 45,871 96,730 146,842
Current assets MBAE 1,210,782 988,772 209,901 95,985 2,505,440
Non-current liabilities FRBEE - - - (5,373) (5,373)
Current liabilities mEEE (717,841) - (14,150) (105,970) (837,961)
Net assets BEFE 497,182 988,772 241,622 81,372 1,808,948
The Group’s share of investments’ net assets B (51 B & EFE 111,866 247,193 66,019 17,524 442,602
Year ended 31 March 2024 BZ-E-_mF
ZAZt-HLEE
Revenue Wogs 844,671 - 370 57,340 902,381
Profit/(loss) for the year REERF/ (EE) 281,630  (667,039)  (1,867)  (23,494)  (410,770)
Other comprehensive expense Hi2ERAX (222) - - - (222)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) 2EME/ (BY)BE 281,408  (667,039) (1,867) (23,494)  (410,992)
The Group's share of investments’ FRNAEERERERT/
profit/(loss) for the year (B1]) 63,367  (165,092) (577) (963)  (103,265)
The Group's share of investments' other EAREEREREEMEE
comprehensive expense for the year X (50) - - - (50)
Dividend from associates BEERANERS 61,775 = - 5,382 67,157
At 31 March 2023 RZZEZ=F=A=+—H
Non-current assets ERBEE 1,932 - 49,185 68,400 119,517
Current assets MBEE 1,021,539 1,747,360 223,800 219,974 3,212,673
Current liabilities mEEE (533,138) - (14,977) (113,174) (661,289)
Net assets BEFE 490,333 1,747,360 258,008 175,200 2,670,901
The Group’s share of investments' net assets A B E(HIR B EEFE 110,325 436,840 70,550 95,078 712,793
Year ended 31 March 2023 HEZT-=F
“A=+-HLEEE
Revenue Wegs 641,467 - 2,118 74,761 718,346
Profit/(loss) for the year ZW BF/ (B8) 221,490 169,947 4,389 (1451) 394,375
Other comprehensive expense Hip2EEY (7,700) - - - (7,700)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) 2EME/ (AX)#8 213,790 169,947 4,389 (1,451) 386,675
The Group's share of investments’ FRAEERERERT/
profit/(loss) for the year (E8) 49,851 39,468 1,333 (1,550) 89,102
The Group's share of investments’ other FRREEEGEREEMEZE
comprehensive expense for the year b3 (1,733) - - - (1,733)
Dividend from associate E)A-INTL) ¢ 41,536 - - - 41,536
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
an\ I Zri%#&’%% M-J-

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 i Z2 - T - WFE=-A=+—HItFE

20. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND 20.
JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

Note (v): The Group’s share of investments’ net assets is calculated by
percentage of paid-up capital in the associate.

As at 31 March 2024, the bank and cash balances of the
Group's associates denominated in RMB amounted to
HK$19,227,000 (2023: HK$5,990,000). Conversion of
RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC’s Foreign
Exchange Control Regulations.

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s
joint ventures (based on the management accounts of the
joint ventures) is set out below:

CBERRIRBERELZ
:}Xé(hﬁ

MieE(v) : AEBEGHREEEFERNBE
ARNEHAEANBEDLLFH

RZZFZME=A=+—H KEHEH
ERNANARBFENRTERS
575 7%5%19,227,000 0 (Z T = = 4F:
7 #5,990,0007T ) © # AR K m 50
78 38 < P B AINE B IR R AR o

AEBAZCEZUBENME (R4
ShRCZEEKRB)HINWOT:

2024 2023
—EomE —B-=f
Golden Golden
Cloud Others Total Cloud Others Total
$EE Hity st 2EIF Hit it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BWTn BTz BETr BT B%Tx
At 31 March R=A=+-H
Non-current assets FRBEE 759,868 6,404 766,272 744,662 5,037 749,699
Current assets RBEE 743,481 866 744,347 701,879 866 702,745
Non-current liabilities FRBEE (17,934) = (17,934) - - -
Current liabilities nBEE (461,927) (1,313)  (463,240)  (439,822) (1,240) (441,062
Net assets BEFE 1,023,488 5,957 1,029,445 1,006,719 4,663 1,011,382
The Group's share of AEEREREABETE
investments' net assets 203,674 3,201 206,875 200,337 2,519 202,856
Year ended 31 March BE=A=1T—-HLEE
Revenue Wzs 3,857 262 4,119 15,000 - 15,000
Profit/(loss) and total comprehensive R4 E&F,/ (HE) Rk
income/(expense) for the year *ENE/ (AR 8E 16,769 1,719 18,488 8,688 (5,637) 3,051
The Group's share of investments' ~ FRAEEEERERF]/
profit/(loss) for the year (F#E) 3,337 831 4,168 1,337 (2,898) (1,561)
The Group's share of investments'  FRZAEEEGRE A
other comprehensive income 2ENE

for the year - -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

21.INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 21.1#& R

A SRR MY EE

HE-_ZT-_NM&EF=ZA=1+—HILFE

FEAABREZR

PROFIT OR LOSS

m;g

2024 2023
—E-WE —FT-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BET T
Listed equity securities (note (i) EHRRERESE (M) 217,910 534,476
Unlisted equity investments FELEMRERE 2,975,025 3,113,682
Unlisted investment funds and FILETTREESNEREE
limited partnership (note (ii)) % (MEEG)) 1,755,429 3,000,530
Unlisted debt investments FELEMEBKE - 9,535
Unlisted economic interest JE e i 1,632,000 -
6,580,364 6,658,223
Less: non-current assets held BBEREZERDEE
for sale (note 25) (Bf#¥25) (344,944) -
6,235,420 6,658,223
Analysed as: ST
— Non-current assets —FERBEE 4,143,757 4,600,522
— Current assets —mEAE 2,091,663 2,057,701
6,235,420 6,658,223
Notes: B E -
() Asat 31 March 2024, HK$101,905,000 (2023: Nil) was pledged (i) RZZE-_WF=ZR=+—B 8%

to secure for the Group's bank borrowings as detailed in note
29(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

(i) Unlisted investment funds and limited partnership represent (i)
investments in unconsolidated structured entities. The maximum
exposure to loss is the carrying value of these investments. The
size of the investment funds ranges from US$3 million to US$880
million (2023: US$0.63 million to US$600 million).

101,905,000 (—Z T - =6 :2)2 4
W@%Zﬁ’iliﬁfﬂﬁkmfw CHHEE
RERE B 75 R R M 7E29(b) °

FLTREESRBRABLEANK
BAEANEEBHEEENRE - TAKIE
B AZERENEAE REESH
HMENFI00BEXTLESSEEXZT(ZF
T=F:63BELE6EET)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
an\ I ji%#&%%ﬁﬁ

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 i Z2 - T - WFE=-A=+—HItFE

22.DEBT INVESTMENTS 2. BEEIRE

2024 2023

—ENE 2%

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

Listed debt investments EHEKEE - 975,717

Unlisted debt investments FELEMEBKE 3,795,961 2,436,620

Less: provision for ECL B TBHIE B R E RS (46,472) (44,875)

Total debt investments, net BN ERTEFE 3,749,489 3,367,462
Analysed as: AT

— Non-current assets —JEmMBEE 72,097 199,865

— Current assets —REEE 3,677,392 3,167,597

3,749,489 3,367,462

RZE-_WNFEF=ZA=+—H #HusE
S B RR M E29(b) AT 5E it - B K
969,585,000 (T - =F : B ¥

As at 31 March 2024, HK$969,585,000 (2023:
HK$975,717,000) was pledged to secure for the Group's
bank borrowings as detailed in note 29(b) to the

consolidated financial statements.

The tenure of the debt investments ranged from 9 months
to 2 years (2023: 6 months to 2 years). The applied interest
rates ranged from 7.00% to 10.00% (2023: 6.00% to
9.00%) p.a.. They are expected to be settled on maturity
date.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group has assessed
the creditworthy of the investees and closely monitors the
repayment ability of the investees.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A SRR MY EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 2 — T - F=A=+—HItFE

22. DEBT INVESTMENTS (continued)

22

As at 31 March 2024, certain debt investments were

impaired. It is analysed as follows:

EBIRE (#)

NRZE-_MFE=A=+—H &TE®
WEBEDHTWT

Carrying amount at

REE
Loan Provision
principal for ECL 2024 2023
BHEE
BENE g EBEEE —E-mNg —T_-F
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BET T BET T BT T
Neither past due nor impaired s RE 3,743,325 (40,674) 3,702,651 3,326,906
Credit risk significantly increased 1= & & b 28 & 32 N 52,636 (5,798) 46,838 40,556

3,749,489 3,367,462

Provision for ECL was recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

as follows:

EMEEEERBERFABa R
fhzmk S RERNT

2024 2023
—E_mE —T-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Opening balance BRI 45 B 44,875 142,740
Charge/(credit) during the year RERDE, (GFA) 2,058 (96,157)
Transfer from interest receivables B FE U ) B R 801 -
Exchange difference PE H ZRE (1,262) (1,708)
Closing balance HAR 45 63 46,472 44,875
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
an\ I ji%#&%%ﬁﬁ

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 i Z2 - T - WFE=-A=+—HItFE

23. EWBR R B

23. ACCOUNTS AND LOANS RECEIVABLES

2024 2023
—ENE 2%
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 2 BT T BT T
Unsecured loan ERPER (a) = 45,102
Accounts receivables JiE g B X (b) 779 1,089
Amounts due from associates, JFE UK Bt 2 B TER
joint ventures and 8 B A R 3R
related companies (0) 27,056 26,789
Dividend receivables JE W A B (d) 61,775 41,536
89,610 114,516
Notes: PR
(a) (a) 2024 2023
—E-ME —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BET T
Unsecured loan to a third party H—2F = 2BEERER - 47,344
Less: provision for ECL B TEHEE R B RS - (2,242)
= 45,102

Unsecured loan of RMB41,457,000,

equivalent to

HK$47,344,000, was provided to a third party established in the
PRC with interest rate of 8.00% p.a. as at 31 March 2023. ECL
of RMB1,963,000, equivalent to HK$2,242,000, was recognised
against the unsecured loan as at 31 March 2023 based on

estimated recoverable amount determined by reference to an

analysis of the counterparty’s current operation.

The unsecured loan was disposed along with the disposal of
WK Metalight Holdings Limited during the year ended 31 March
2024 as detailed in note 36(b) to the consolidated financial

statements.

The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit

enhancement over the balance.
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24.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 2 — T - F=A=+—HItFE

(Continued)

(b)

(d)

= B .
23. ACCOUNTS AND LOANS RECEIVABLES  23. BRI R E R (&)
Notes: (Continued) et (&)
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit (b) AEBUEBRREAGERERF ZERK
enhancements over the accounts receivables from co-investment BR SR A A (] 4 G0 SR AR 37 H 5 B
partners. The ageing analysis of accounts receivables, based on eiE e BB B AR KB E B A Bk
invoice date of accounts receivables, and net of allowance, is as BB BUBRRERRSITOT
follows:
2024 2023
—E-NEF —E-=F
HK$000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Unbilled REHRE 779 1,089
Amounts due from associates, joint ventures and related (0 EHEEAR AERERBAEARK
companies mainly arise from advance money provided for BHXrEZRERECREABARHZEN
potential investment projects and administrative expenses paid HERAEBERRHEBEDR] 2L h
by the Group on behalf of its associates, joint ventures and ¥NBBRARSIHZTRAL %ER
related companies. The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and HAEER 2ERAREREE-
repayable on demand.
For the year ended 31 March 2024, reversal of provision for HE-Z-_MF=A=+—HILFE"
ECL of HK$24,000 (2023: provision for ECL of HK$2,461,000) T8 HR 1= BB B 98 45 8 [0 B 624,000
was recognised in profit or loss of amount due from one of the (ZZE =% BHEEEBEREEE
associates. 2,461,0007T ) 7 fE Uy — R B & A R30I
B 1 & RERR o
Dividend receivables represents dividend declared by CSOP in (d) PRMEFEzEKKEERTRRETIK
both years. B e
2= AN
BANK AND CASH BALANCES 24 RTT N2 &TF

As at 31 March 2024, the bank and cash balances of the
Group denominated in RMB amounted to HK$9,757,000
(2023: HK$97,402,000). Conversion of RMB into foreign
currencies is subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations.

RZE-_WF=ZA=+—HB KAEH
NMARBAENROTRESET A
B 19,757,000 (ZE = F B K
97,402,0007T) ° #§ A R X% RN
B8 5T P B HINE B IR R -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
an\ I Zri%#&’%% M-J-

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 i Z2 - T - WFE=-A=+—HItFE

25. NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE 25 . B {EHEZIERHEE

Pursuant to a letter of intent dated 29 March 2024, the

BEBBHA-_ZS _MF=A=_+NH

Group will dispose certain investments at fair value through MEME AEEKEBLE LBEE

profit or loss by means of disposal of its indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary, AN EXZEZEZEBR ARG . The fair

2EMBRAAIRYEXEZREXAR
AR HERQAFEFABEEREZSE

value of the investments at fair value through profit or loss FHRE-BAFEFABREZKRE

as at 31 March 2024 was RMB320,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$344,944,000). As at 31 March 2024, the disposal was
not yet completed. The assets, which are expected to be
sold within twelve months, have been classified as non-
current assets held for sale and are presented separately in
the consolidated statement of financial position.

26. ACCOUNTS PAYABLES

RZEZWEF=A=+—HMNAFEE
A AR#320,000,0007T (ZE 8
344,944,0007T) R ZZT=WF=A
=t —HB HEHNKRTHR -ERART=
MAALENEEE D BEARBIFLE
ZHENRBEE EHEEVBRRERANE
BE -

26. EBR X

The ageing analysis of accounts payables, based on the JER AR FOR FE T RR FHE R A HA m BR R
recognition date of accounts payables, is as follows: DT
2024 2023
“BoNE T o=F
HK$'000 HK$'000

EET T BETT

Over 1 year

Bi#F 50 50

27. OTHER PAYABLES

H b & {5 58

2024 2023
—E-FE —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BET T

Interest payables (note) FEARTFE (5T 54,243 34,898

Others Hh 6,562 5,028
60,805 39,926

Note: As at 31 March 2024, interest payables of HK$7,199,000 M RZE-_WF=ZA=+—RH ENFE

(2023: HK$7,199,000) is arisen from unsecured interest bearing
other borrowing with principal amount of HK$1,400,000,000
borrowed from a company incorporated in BVI which is
ultimately controlled by Dr. LIU Zhiwei, the executive director of
the Company. The borrowing was settled during the year ended

31 March 2023.

EWET7,199,000t (ZE =4 : B
7,199,0007T) EXBRARARMITESE
MEEE L REEFN—HEREBEX
Ei%é%ﬂﬂﬁiiaﬁ@ﬂ1ﬁkm2KAA%Ei%
#1,400,000,0007C & M B H
1‘%7)\ uA{EITf\ErE/\ﬁ:t—jfifﬁ )EJ
=t+—BLEFEEN-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A SRR MY EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 2 — T - F=A=+—HItFE

28. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

28. N FEF ABm k2
BaIE

Val
2024 2023
—EBD@E T =F
Notes HK$'000 HK$OOO
B 7E BT T BT T
Current liabilities REBAE
— Payable to investment partners —ERIRER (a) 1,400 2,225
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
- Staff participation interest payable —J&ff & T 28 F| &= (b) 1,542 1,667
Notes: b=
(@)  Pursuant to the financial participation arrangement signed (a) WMEHEAREEHR=-_Z—NFRAM

(b)

in May 2018 with investment partners, the Group received
US$1,950,000, equivalent to HK$15,267,000, from those
investment partners and in return, shared a portion of the
Group's future realised trading result of one of the equity
investments on a back-to-back basis.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, an unrealised gain of
HK$606,000 (2023: HK$654,000), representing the investment
partners’ share of unrealised loss (2023: loss) of the project, was
recognised in profit or loss as the payable to investment partners’
interests were decreased.

As an incentive program to align risk and performance of the
Group's investments with interests of the employees, the Group
set up staff participation plan. At the inception of a qualified
investment, the Group will allocate not more than 10% of its
own interest in that investment for staff participation. Pursuant
to terms of the staff participation plan, the eligible employees
will subscribe for the interest of the investment at the same
price as the Group's investment cost and share potential profit
or loss in proportion to its participation upon the Group's exit of
such investment. The classification of current liabilities and non-
current liabilities was determined based on the classification of
the underlying investments.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, an unrealised gain of
HK$86,000 (2023: unrealised loss of HK$43,000), representing
the staff participation’s share of unrealised loss (2023: gain) of
the qualified investments, was recognised in profit or loss as the
payable to staff participation interests were decreased (2023:
increased).

PRz B2RRE AEEEAK
& % U ER1,950,0003 7T (& 8
15m7mwﬂ AEHEERTH®RRE
S ANEE -—BRERERKRZDE
BRGER-

HE-_Z-_NF=F=+—RHILFE"
HREMEEREHESEZRERD X
B8 U 38 8 606,000 (T - =4
75 654,000t ) (IBIRE R EIRIER
ZAREBHBEB(ZE-=F:FR) )&
B PR -

ER—HSAREREZRAR LKA SR
BEZNGZ -BWNEBHHTE AEED
RIBT2H5E - HAERZK
BRE AEREROREENERIRE
RZ10% 2 B FEATET2HE - RIE
BT2HEABET aEBEEITUMN
ﬁ$§l&§W$H$Zme%&ﬁ

Ban BEXASEREEAREN ES
RESBE ISP HDEEEBE - RBE
BERIRBDERZOBREBREZD
amE -

HE-_Z-_MF=A=1+—HBLFE
RE IR U 258 #86,0007T (T - =4
KREIREEAE 43,000 RRET L
HAEEREBENABEEEB(ZS ==
FRF)NNE AERNFEILEERZ
B (ZEZ=Fm) MK BE+

e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n‘/T\

BB MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 i Z2 - T - WFE=-A=+—HItFE

29. BORROWINGS 29. & K
2024 2023
—ENE 2%
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 BET T BT T
Securities margin trading borrowing & & & {5 5 (a) = 90,768
Secured borrowings from banks REIFITHAEFER (b) 885,000 648,731
Unsecured other borrowings AR B AR R

— Interest bearing —5T B () 532,414 470,889
— Non-interest bearing —TEH A (d) - 70,005
1,417,414 1,280,393

Notes: B R

(a)

(d)

As at 31 March 2023, securities margin trading borrowing from
a securities company secured by certain listed securities of the
Group and repayable within 1 year. The amounts was settled
and disposed along with the disposal of WK Metalight Holdings
Limited during the year ended 31 March 2024 as detailed in note
36(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

Secured borrowings from banks are secured by the Group’s
certain interests in an associate, investments at fair value through
profit or loss and debt investments and repayable within 1 year.

The interest bearing other borrowings are unsecured, interest
bearing from 6.50% to 8.00% (2023: 7.00% to 7.75%) p.a. and
repayable within 1 year or on demand.

Non-interest bearing borrowing represents RMB61,300,000
loan due to /3 for a potential investment opportunity in
the PRC as at 31 March 2023. The borrowing was non-interest
bearing and repayable on demand. The amounts was disposed
along with the disposal of WK Metalight Holdings Limited during
the year ended 31 March 2024 as detailed in note 36(b) to the
consolidated financial statements.

The average effective interest rate of bank and other
borrowings as at 31 March 2024 was 6.55% (2023: 7.63%)

p.a..
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BET EHRESIERRRE AIfEA
EeARBERMSER 1%#&@?1&?\]
BRE- ZEFRECRBE_T_NF=
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—HENREE  FE
B 75 R R I 55 36(b) ©

Holdings Limited
HRERA

KERITHEEMERAREER —H
BERNRMETRSE BRAFEFAE
SR IRE REBREERER LA
FREE-

AFEHEMERAEERR KFME
6.50% £8.00% (ZE - =%F:7.00%
£7.75% )5t B RBAMFASNIRE KE

o

(e

ngzfijﬂ:TL*El TEHBfE

RERPEELTRERG RN LFH
%Z% AR #61,300,0007T ° & 5 A

Tt B RARBEREE -ZEREER
BE-_Z-_NF=ZA=Z=+—HIHFE
82 {F % WK Metalight Holdings Limited
—HRE FEHARGEE T BRKM T
36(b) °

R-ZFE-_WNF=ZA=1+—H RITEH

ﬁt t&

R ERFFEA6.55% (=

LT - =%F:763%)°



30. LEASE LIABILITIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
an\ (= /j’ﬁ%q&ﬁ%ﬁﬁ

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 2 — T - F=A=+—HItFE

30, HE B E

Present value of

Lease payments

lease payments

HEMRK HENRWERE
2024 2023 2024 2023
TEoNE —To=F ZBNE —FT-o=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT EBETT BETx BETT
Within one year —FR 6,358 7,699 5,861 7,056
Over one year but within two years ~ — % A EERFR 3,879 4,878 3,752 4,630
Over two years but within five years R&FE UL FERFRA 180 1,719 179 1,685
10,417 14,296
Less: Future finance charge B ARRRE B R (625) (925)
Present value of lease liabilities HEBBEMRE 9,792 13,371 9,792 13,371
Less: Amount due for settlement B R2E AR EI B E
within 12 months (shown MFIE (RRBa
under current liabilities) BEETHR) (5,861) (7,056)
Amount due for settlement after R12{E BB E L E R
12 months (shown under FIE(RERBHAE
non-current liabilities) ETHR) 3,931 6,315
As at 31 March 2024, the average effective borrowing rate RZE-_WNF=ZA=+—H FHE

was 6.96% (2023: 5.70%) p.a

. Interest rates are fixed at

the contract dates and thus expose the Group to fair value

interest rate risk.

RIEREFNER6.96% (ZTE_=%F:

5.70% ) - FI K& 4 B H

BEAEi

A 52 1B H B A R A R EL g o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n\/-_r\

BB MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 i Z2 - T - WFE=-A=+—HItFE

31.

SHARE CAPITAL

31. ix A&

Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 (2023: HK$0.1) each BEEBEOINT(ZE_=F 8%
o.m)z?at AR
Number of
ordinary shares Amount
ZTEREB Eo
Notes HK$'000
M 3E BT
Authorised: VERE
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023 RZ-_Z-_—_#pF—H"
and 1 April 2023 ZEZ=F=H
=+—Ak
=41 A—H 20,000,000,000 2,000,000
Addition RE (a) 30,000,000,000 3,000,000
At 31 March 2024 R-EE_mE
=A=+—H 50,000,000,000 5,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BEEITERAR:
At 1 April 2022 RZE-__FWMA—H 4,061,316,000 406,132
Issue of shares BT (b) 3,152,173,913 315,217
Issue of shares EITIRD (0) 812,263,200 81,226
Issue of shares BIRMG (d) 1,605,150,622 160,515
Issue of shares BIRMG (e) 889,420,770 88,942
At 31 March 2023, 1 April 2023 MR-ZEBEZ=F=AH
and 31 March 2024 =+—HB-=Z8B==f
FJ —BR
—ENEF
=B=+—8H 10,520,324,505 1,052,032
Notes: PR
(a) By ordinary resolution passed on 25 August 2023, the (a) *Eﬁﬁ:%?::i)\ﬂ_'f'fﬁEILLE’th

authorised share capital of the Company was increased from
HK$2,000,000,000 divided into 20,000,000,000 ordinary
shares of HK$0.10 each to HK$5,000,000,000 divided into
50,000,000,000 ordinary shares by the creation of an additional
30,000,000,000 ordinary shares, such new shares ranking pari

passu in all respects with the existing shares of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A SRR MY EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 2 — T - F=A=+—HItFE

31. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b) On 30 May 2022, the Company issued 1,521,739,130 ordinary
new shares at an issue price of HK$0.92 per share. The aggregate
consideration was settled by way of set off against unsecured
interest bearing other borrowing with principal amount of
HK$1,400,000,000 borrowed from a company incorporated in
BVI which is ultimately controlled by Dr. LIU Zhiwei, the executive
director of the Company, interest bearing at 2.50% p.a..

On the same date, the Company issued 1,630,434,783 ordinary
new shares at a subscription price of HK$0.92 per share for a
total cash consideration of HK$1,500,000,000.

(o) On 19 July 2022, the Company issued 812,263,200 ordinary new
shares at a subscription price of HK$0.50 per share for a total
cash consideration of HK$406,131,000.

(d) On 27 September 2022, the Company issued 1,605,150,622
ordinary new shares at a subscription price of HK$0.50 per share
for a total cash consideration of HK$802,575,000.

(e) On 20 March 2023, the Company issued 889,420,770 ordinary
new shares at a subscription price of HK$0.39 per share for a
total cash consideration of HK$346,874,000.

Capital management

The Group's primary objectives when managing capital are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost
of capital. The Directors regard total equity as capital, for
capital management purposes.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it, in light of change in economic conditions.
To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders or issue new
shares.

No changes were made in the objectives, policies or
processes during the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

31. IR (4)

MizE: (&)

by RZZE_—_FHA=+H ARQAALH%E
TESRB%0.927T8171,521,739,130
B TR - B IAK S — 2 RFF
E2.50% 5F 8 v R B — I F H B R L B
EEMA TN RRNASSEALE
1,400,000,0007C M K At B M {EE
ZHRAEN ZRARHAARRRNITES
WE R T REES

RER ANRARIEREESREK0.92
JU#171,630,434,783/% LM A% - 4218
+ R A%%1,500,000,0007T °

(0 RZTE-_—_FtATHIB ARFER
B 8 =A% 78 #0.50T % 17812,263,200
BEBFTBR BLESREABK
406,131,0007C °

d RZFE-_Z—_FALAZ=-_+tH &2
AIERRABESRBEEO0.50m %17
1,605,150,622f8 @Ak - AR 2 K E
578 #802,575,0007T °

(&) R-ITE-_=ZFZA=-+H AQXRER
BB E SR8 #0.397T % 17889,420,770
BEBITR BBESREABE
346,874,0007T ©

EXEE

FEFBEREAZTEEBRRRER
SEEFELE FHEEBEER/BRREK
HEmRFE ASRLH®E M Wi
%ﬁ@2§$m%'uﬁﬁ§$W$°
REAEEMS BESHERERFE
Ao

AEBEREEARBLLLEMNR
SRHHHETHE  REFIARER
RiE - AEE A BEARRRRIRM 2K
BEBTHR-

HE_T_NEFR_ZT_=ZF=
=t+—HALtFE BEBEEZE BEHLRE
Friff 2 8 o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A R AR M A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 i Z2 - T - WFE=-A=+—HItFE

31. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 31. IR (4)

Capital management (Continued) BEXERE (&)

Under the terms of the major borrowing facilities, BEFEEFMENGER  AEEEE
the Group is required to comply with certain financial TETHMBRFE flnseB R FE
covenants, such as consolidated tangible net worth, ratio FEEREFRHERSARFELE &
of consolidated net borrowing to consolidated tangible BEHREELN RS - AEERAFE
net worth, ratio of total liability to total asset, etc. The —HEBETZELE  FEAEYERAK
Group has complied with these covenants throughout the SEMPBRR WEBRREEREN
year by closely monitoring the Group’s financial position EHRERT ANEREEETZER
and regularly re-visit the covenant requirements during JE °

operations to ensure full compliance.

32. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 32. AA B BB AR R &
THE COMPANY

2024 2023
—ENFE —ZET-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

ASSETS BE
Non-current assets IRBEE
Equipment Bgi] - 9
Investments in subsidiaries BB AR ZIEE 105,100 779,915
Amounts due from subsidiaries NG S 8,648,967 7,845,279
Investments in associates and joint ventures ~ REfZERF LALLM EZ
wE 124,677 128,520
Investments at fair value through profit or loss #ZAFEF AEBRENILE 1,082,127 970,520
9,960,871 9,724,243
Current assets RBEE
Investments at fair value through profit or loss ZAF{EF AEBFEZEE 54,116 84,732
Debt investments BEFEE 62,229 55,979
Accounts and loans receivables JEUBR U N B 3R 3,671 3,700
Interest receivables JFE U FI| B, 3,840 6,195
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables — FEf ZX I8 « &2 & [z H b g Uk
IA 29,202 55,234
Bank and cash balances RTEReER 13,869 8,132
166,927 213,972
TOTAL ASSETS BEE 10,127,798 9,938,215
240 Wealthink Al-Innovation Capital Limited / Annual Report 2023/24
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ArE R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 2 — T - F=A=+—HItFE

32. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 32. KA BB ARR K (#)

THE COMPANY (Continued)

2024 2023
—E-WE T =F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES ERRAE
Equity =
Share capital fi% A< 1,052,032 1,052,032
Reserves {8 8,715,454 8,772,897
Total equity R 9,767,486 9,824,929
Liabilities =L
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables B b pE < 5R08 27,994 20,104
Financial liabilities at fair value through EAFEGFABRERES
profit or loss MBaE 1,400 2,225
Borrowings EE 330,000 90,000
359,394 112,329
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Financial liabilities at fair value through EAFEFABERESZ
profit or loss BxaE 918 957
Total liabilities wWaE 360,312 113,286
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES HEZRAE 10,127,798 9,938,215
NET ASSETS EEFE 9,767,486 9,824,929
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
an\ I Zri%#&’%% M-J-

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 i Z2 - T - WFE=-A=+—HItFE

33. RESERVES

(a)

(b)

The Group

3. f#1E

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the
movements therein for the current and prior years

are presented in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income and the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

The Company

(a) =KE

AEBRAFELBEFEZMH
BeRLEPL2INEaEENR
HizmRmkhizAEa s

*o

(b) &R2F

Share-based

Share payment  Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
BR324
R % E RERE Rt BE @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT BT BETn
At 1 April 2022 i, ——=
mA—H 5,301,407 14,969 (455,952) 4,860,424
Total comprehensive income AFEEXAKRER
for the year - 102,793 102,793
Issue of shares BTl 3,809,680 - 3,809,680
Forfeiture of share options B R R 1R - (14,969) 14,969 -
At 31 March 2023 R-T-=F
=HB=+—H 9,111,087 - (338,190) 8,772,897
At 1 April 2023 R-E==
A—H 9,111,087 - (338,190) 8,772,897
Total comprehensive expense rFEEXAMZBE
for the year - = (57,443) (57,443)
At 31 March 2024 R-E-\F
=A=+-H 9,111,087 - (395,633) 8,715,454
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ArE R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 2 — T - F=A=+—HItFE

33. & #)

33. RESERVES (Continued)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Share premium

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands, the funds in the share premium
account of the Company are distributable to
the shareholders of the Company provided
that immediately following the date on which
the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the
Company will be in a position to pay off its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

Share-based payment reserve

The share-based payment reserve represents the
fair value of the actual or estimated number of
unexercised share options granted to employees
and other eligible participants of the Group
recognised in accordance with the accounting
policy adopted for equity-settled share-based
payments in note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Surplus reserve

According to the PRC Company Law, the PRC
subsidiaries/associates of the Group (excluding
foreign investment enterprises) are required
to transfer 10% of their profit after taxation,
as determined under the PRC Accounting
Regulations, to the statutory surplus reserve
until the reserve balance reaches 50% of their
registered capital. The transfer to this reserve
must be made before distribution of a dividend
to shareholders.

Exchange reserve

Exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of foreign operations. The
reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies in note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements.

() REZHEARAR

()

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

R 10 5 1B

RERASBESARE AR
AR EERNE S A DK
FTARABRER HEEBEESR
ok S B H#& - AREIEA
BRNEEENBERBB
RPEHER-

R0 A RRIE

B tn S AN IR B R AR IR AR
& W R MY 3L AR A
EE BN XN RERAZ
SRR RERIGTE
TAKEREREREMEER
S8 A+ 2 RITEBRIER
BRSNS

Berf#E

RBFERRE AEEZ
BB B A R EE R R
(TEEINELE)ABE
10% 2 R&EBN (BTFEE
HERIEE) BAORE A%
BH BEEZRBEEHRERS
HEEMEARZ50% - BR=E
% {1 ZB IR 7] i BRI 3 LR,
AIETT °

BE 5 i 18

EX R RERBRERINER
M mRELNMMBINEE
B-REBEIRBEEEMHR
R EITE 2 @FT KRR
e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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BB MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 i Z2 - T - WFE=-A=+—HItFE

34. BIREEFE

34.

35.

NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE

The net asset value per share is calculated by dividing
the net asset value of the Group as at 31 March 2024 of
HK$9,912,620,000 (2023: HK$10,010,755,000) by the
number of ordinary shares in issue at that date, being
10,520,324,505 (2023: 10,520,324,505).

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Under the Share Option Scheme adopted on 17 May 2016,
the Board may at any time following the date of adoption
and before the tenth anniversary thereof, offer to grant to
certain selected classes of participants (including, among
others, directors, employees and consultants) of the
Company, an option to subscribe for shares as incentives
or rewards for their contribution to the Company. The
subscription price will be determined by the Board (subject
to adjustment), and will not be less than the highest of (a)
the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated
in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the date
of grant, which must be a business day; (b) the average
closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the
Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet for the five trading
days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (c) the
nominal value of the shares of the Company. A nominal
consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the
grant of an option. The maximum number of shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under this scheme and any
other share option schemes adopted by the Company may
not exceed 10% of the share capital of the Company in
issue.

An option may be accepted by a participant within 21
days from the date of the offer for grant of the option.
An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms
of the share option scheme at any time not later than 10
years from the date on which the offer for grant of the
option is made. Subject to the terms of the share options
determined by the Board, the participant may have to meet
certain vesting conditions before becoming unconditionally
entitled to the share options. For the share options that
existed during the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023,
vesting conditions includes performance conditions such as
complete or successful exit of specified investment projects
and market conditions such as the Company’'s market
capitalisation. Share options do not confer rights on the
holders to dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ArE R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 2 — T - F=A=+—HItFE

35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

Movement of the Company’s share options during the year:

Date of grant of share options: 1 February

35. IR 1 AR IE (#2)
REERADRZBRES:

REBERERH . —F—N\F=

2018 H—H
Number of share options
BREZE

Balance at

31 March 2023,

Expired 1 April 2023

Balance at during and 31 March

Grantee Exercisable period 1 April 2022 the year 2024

R-BZ=%

ZA=+-8"

—E-=fF

A-BR

i “EoME

mA—A =ZA=+-H

ARA Cagidi LT RENEH &R

‘000 ‘000 ‘000

T T T4

Ex-director 1 February 2019 to 31 January 2023 2,500 (2,500) -
MEE “NF-A-HBE-ZT-=F-A=1+-8

1 February 2020 to 31 January 2023 2,500 (2,500) -
“E-TFE-F-HE-Z-ZfF-A=+-H

1 February 2021 to 31 January 2023 2,500 (2,500) -
ZE--f-A-HEZE-=f-A=+—H

1 February 2022 to 31 January 2023 2,500 (2,500) -
ZE-ZfZA-HAEZE-=F—-A=+—H

10,000 (10,000) -

Employees and 1 February 2019 to 31 January 2023 1,500 (1,500) -
ex-employees “NF-A-HBE-ZT-ZF-A=1+-H

EERAIES 1 February 2020 to 31 January 2023 1,500 (1,500) -
“E-RF-A-HEZE-=F-A=+—H

1 February 2021 to 31 January 2023 1,500 (1,500) -
ZE--§fZA-HEZZ-=F—-A=+—H

1 February 2022 to 31 January 2023 1,500 (1,500) =
R A-HBEZZ-=f-A=1—H

6,000 (6,000) -

16,000 (16,000) -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 i Z2 - T - WFE=-A=+—HItFE

35. 35. IR 19 LA ERIE (#2)

BB MR

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

The closing price of the ordinary shares of the Company
immediately before the date on option grant date was
HK$2.57 on 1 February 2018.

The Binomial Option Pricing Model has been used to
estimate the fair value of the options. The variables and
assumptions used in computing the fair value of the share
options are based on the directors’ best estimate. The
value of an option varies with different variables of certain
subjective assumptions.

Details of the share options granted on 1 February 2018
was as follows:

Theoretical aggregate value: HK$20,539,000

Fair value recognised in profit nil (2023: nil)
or loss during the year:

Exercise price: HK$2.60

Risk free interest rate: 1.828%

Expected volatility: 43.30%

5 years from the
date of grant
0.93%

Expected life of the options:
Expected dividend yield:

The measurement dates of the share options was 1 February
2018, being the date of grant of the share options. Where
the grantees have to meet vesting conditions before
becoming unconditionally entitled to the share options, the
total estimated fair value of the share options is spread over
the vesting period, taking into account the probability that
the options will vest or lapse.

Options forfeited, if any, before the expiry of the options
will be treated as lapsed options which will be added back
to the number of ordinary shares available to be issued
under the Share Option Scheme.

The expected volatility of the underlying security of the
options was determined based on the historical volatility
of the share prices of the Company, as extracted from
Bloomberg and Reuters.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ArE R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 2 — T - F=A=+—HItFE

36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 36. & 48R & h & X M5
OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Disposal of WK Venture Success Limited (a) HE WK Venture Success

Limited

On 28 July 2023, the Board has approved the disposal RZEBE-_=ZFEA=-+ N8

of WK Venture Success Limited to an independent EFEgotERn—E2BEILE=

third party purchaser for a consideration of 7 E R HEWK Venture Success

HK$40,000,000. The disposal of WK Venture Success Limited * X & &% % 40,000,000

Limited was completed on 28 July 2023. JC e ) & WK Venture Success
LimitedE R -_ZET=-=F+ A
Z+\HEK-

Net assets at the date of disposal were as follows: REHEZREEFENT

HK$'000
BET T

Investments at fair value through profit or loss BAVEFABREZRE 9,521

Net assets disposed of EHEEEFRE 9,521

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE BB RQ R W 30,479

Total consideration MR E 40,000

Satisfied by: BIATHFREZA:

Cash R 15,000

Cash (included in other receivables) Re (A AEALEYWFRIE) 25,000

Total cash consideration @IS RA(E 40,000

Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEMEENBESRAFE:

Cash consideration received BN RE 15,000
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 i Z2 - T - WFE=-A=+—HItFE

36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 36. 48R & & X Wit (&)
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) Disposal of WK Metalight Holdings
Limited

(b) & WK Metalight
Holdings Limited

RZTE-_=FN\AMNB &g
EMHEBBRBRAARZERBEA
AWK Intellect Limited [A] — % %8
M E =TT BERTEWK Metalight
Holdings Limited R {B & & ¥
1,500,0007T ° H & WK Metalight
Holdings Limited E M =ZF = =4
JNAMBETK -

On 4 August 2023, the Board has approved the
disposal of WK Metalight Holdings Limited through
WK Intellect Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, to an independent third party purchaser
for a consideration of HK$1,500,000. The disposal of
WK Metalight Holdings Limited was completed on 4
August 2023.

REEERBEFENT:

Net liabilities at the date of disposal were as follows:

HK$000
BET T
Investment in an associate R—EBE AR Z2KE 66,219
Investments at fair value through profit or loss EAVEFABERECRE 397,305
Accounts and loans receivables JEURBR SR R B 3K 42,804
Interest receivables JE U T B, 2,542
Other receivables H W FR 66
Bank balances RITEE R 249
Other payables H fth B~ 3008 (4,275)
Borrowings BN (559,188)
Net liabilities disposed of EHEAaEEE (54,278)
Release of foreign currency translation reserve i B OIS BE R 31,939
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries ek DN Mg 23,839
Total consideration — satisfied by cash BRE-UBReXN 1,500
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEEEZRESRAFRE:
Cash consideration received BEURERE 1,500
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of EHEREMNEFERIAELIER (249)
1,251
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36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 36. 48R & h & X Wit (&)

OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
(c) Disposal of SPV (c)

On 27 September 2023, the Board has approved
the disposal of SPV through WK Strata Holdings
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
to an independent third party purchaser for a total
consideration of HK$839,000,000. The disposal of
SPV was completed on 29 September 2023.

Net assets at the date of disposal were as follows:

H &SPV

RZEZ=FNA=-++tRH =&
EeHERBARAIZEWES
A RJWK Strata Holdings Limited
mM—EBULE=ZFERDE
SPV - 4 1X & /5 7% 839,000,000
Lo HESPVERZZE-_=F 1A
—thB=”K-

REEEREEFENT:

HK$'000
BT T
Investments at fair value through profit or loss EAVEFABERECRE 778,999
Bank balances RITHERR 1
Net assets disposed of EHEEEFRE 779,000
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—MHERQ R WS 60,000
Total consideration — satisfied by investments BRE-RATFEF ABRER
at fair value through profit or loss ZIRAE XN 839,000
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEEERSRLFRE
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of HERSNERREEE 1)
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36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 36. 448 R e nERX M (o)

OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
(d) Disposal of PPG (d)

On 27 September 2023, the Board has approved
the disposal of PPG through WK Strata Holdings
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
to an independent third party purchaser for a total
consideration of HK$865,863,000. The disposal of
PPG was completed on 29 September 2023.

Net assets at the date of disposal were as follows:

HE#DERR

RZEZ=FNhA=-++tH &
FeCHERBARNRZENE
A R]WK Strata Holdings Limited
M—E2BUE=ZFEALERN
IR R B R 865,863,000
T HEMNBRIKER 2T ==
FAAZTNBETK-

REEEREEFENT:

HK$'000
BT T
Investments at fair value through profit or loss EAVEFABERECRE 895,871
Bank balances RITHEER 2
Net assets disposed of EHEEEFRE 895,873
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RHE AR EIE (30,010)
Total consideration — satisfied by investments BRE-DRATFEF ABRER
at fair value through profit or loss ZIRA XN 865,863
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEEERSRLFRE
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of HERSNERREEE 2)
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36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 36. 48R & h & X Wit (&)
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(e) Disposal of Profit Raider Investments

(f)

Limited

On 30 September 2022, the Board has approved the
disposal of 100% issued share capital of Profit Raider
Investments Limited held by the Company to an
independent third party purchaser for a consideration
of HK$1,600,000.

(e) HEProfit Raider
Investments Limited

RZEBE__FNAA=+H &%
SEHELERRAMBEAEY
Profit Raider Investments Limited
M100% EBEITRATFELE=
FER -RERBE1,600,000

e
Net assets at the date of disposal were as follow: HEBBHNEEFENT
HK$'000
BEF T
Investments at fair value through profit or loss EAVEFABERECRE 3,140
Net assets disposed of EHEEEFE 3,140
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—EHBARREE (1,540)
Total consideration — satisfied by cash REBE-UHRESIM 1,600
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEEENRESRAIFRE
Cash consideration received 2 ER & R (E 1,600

Major non-cash transaction

During the year ended 31 March 2023, unsecured
interest bearing other borrowing with principal
amount of HK$1,400,000,000 borrowed from a
company incorporated in BVI which is ultimately
controlled by Dr. LIU Zhiwei, the executive director of
the Company, was settled by way of set off against
aggregate consideration for the allotment and issue of
1,521,739,130 ordinary new shares on 30 May 2022.

f) EEFREXS

Hr_Z_=Z=F#=/=+—
ALEFE A28 AEBK
1,400,000,0007T f& K # 5+ 8 H
BRRE—HRABEREDSTE
MR RR] ZARAERR A
BITEENERIE T HRKES
PSR —_E-_—FERA=1H
B % 3£171,521,739,130% & &
TRMBREZTRE-
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 i Z2 - T - WFE=-A=+—HItFE

36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 36. 48R & & X Wit (&)
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(g) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (9) METBELEZEERE
activities
The following table shows the Group's changes in TRETAFEAEERELRD
liabilities arising from financing activities during the EEXsBEE:
year:
Total liabilities
Interest Lease  from financing
payables  Borrowings liabilities activities
R FIS B HESE ZHaE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BB BETT BETT
1 April 2022 W-T-—%
mA—H 9,236 1,844,969 29,530 1,883,735
Changes in cash flows Rene# (46,879) 856,440 (25,300) 784,261
Non-cash changes FReEY
— Interest charged -FEBA 74,146 - 885 75,031
- Addition -MhE - - 8,256 8,256
- Transfer — B (1,579) 1,579 - -
- Settlement — &M - (1,400,000) - (1,400,000)
- Exchange difference —EREE (26) (22,595) - (22,621)
At 31 March 2023 and R-ZBZ=%
1 April 2023 =ZB=+-BR
—E_=fMmA-H 34,898 1,280,393 13,371 1,328,662
Changes in cash flows Rehe® (62,800) 714,649 (9,274) 642,575
Non-cash changes FhRe¥
- Interest charged -MEERA 85,401 - 965 86,366
- Addition -hE - - 4,730 4,730
- Disposal of subsidiaries -HENBARF (3,048) (559,188) - (562,236)
— Exchange difference -EREH (208) (18,440) = (18,648)
At 31 March 2024 R-ZZ-WE
=R=+-H 54,243 1,417,414 9,792 1,481,449
37. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 37. %A BE
As at 31 March 2024, the Group and the Company did not RZE-_NME=ZA=+—H AEBX
have any significant contingent liabilities (2023: nil). AARUWEAMNERIABE(ZT
TE=FE) e
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38. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A SRR MY EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 2 — T - F=A=+—HItFE

The Group’s capital commitments at the end of the
reporting period are as follows:

38. B A& IE

AEBERHFEHROEARAIELT

2024 2023

—BoNE T _=F

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000

B 5 BT T BT T

Capital contribution to 3 2 MEEEELTE (a) 97,016 102,780
Capital contribution to [@ OP Fine Billion L.P. )X &

OP Fine Billion L.P. (b) 5,000 5,000
Capital contribution to E®EEE S MERKEEEIE (c) = 2,400
Capital contribution to % Al & && MERAIHEEEE (d) 3,234 3,426
Capital contribution to ML EEERER

FEEZXBERER AR BRAR ([EFREH])

("Hengjiameilian”) FE (e) 150,000 150,000
Capital contribution to ME S8 ERRENRE

EEEERREMBREREFR L TEFRL ([FRE

("EREMEES") MmES])TE (f) 77,612 82,224

332,862 345,830
Notes: B 3E -
(@)  According to “Investment agreement” of FELBEZE, the Group (a) WERREEZ (REHZ)  £AEEE

has committed to a capital contribution of RMB90,000,000,
equivalent to HK$97,016,000 (2023: HK$102,780,000), to 3
f§3E . The capital will be drawn down on as-needed basis.

(b)  According to the
signed between OPFl GP(2) Limited, as the general partner,

"Exempted Limited Partnership Agreement”

and the limited partner on 24 November 2015, the Group has
committed to a capital contribution of HK$5,000,000. The capital
will be drawn down on as-needed basis.

(c) According to “Shareholders’ Agreement” and
to Shareholders’ Agreement” signed by the Company and
Great Wonderful Limited, the Group committed to a capital
contribution of HK$3,000,000 to E® & & E$ . As at 31 March
2024, Emi%EHE $ was liquidated and commitment was lapsed.

“Supplementary

(0)

ZS mﬁ%@iﬂ%i&é/\ﬁmo,ooo,ooo
T (ZE#8%97,016,000t (Z T ==
4 8%102,780,00070) ) B & BIRE
ZimigE e

1R 3% OPFI GP(2) Limited (B — A& %
NEESRABAR-_Z—REF+—A
erP_T] AR (EREBERERE W
B B R E A B 165,000,000
ﬁoﬁﬁﬂ%?ﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%ﬂlo

BEARAEBYERARET 2 (KR
i) M (RRMBRHBR)  AEED
EHMERREESFE 3,000,000
T-R-_E-_WMF=ZA=+—H
RERESDBERRARRM -

IS
=]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
an\ I ji%#&%%ﬁﬁ

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 i Z2 - T - WFE=-A=+—HItFE

38. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS (continued) 38. B ANAEIE (&)

Notes: (Continued) Mist: (4&)

(d)  According to “shareholders’ resolution” of Al % & (d)  IRERAISE (RERZEER) - ARQF
the Company has committed to a capital contrlbutlon EAGER RIS EE ARE3,000,000
of RMB3,000,000, equivalent to HK$3,234,000 (2023: L (EEHEE3, 234,000 (=2 ==
HK$3,426,000), to % &) % A&. The capital will be drawn down on G A%3,426,0000) )  BAEBEFE
as-needed basis. MmizEL -

(e)  According to a subscription agreement signed between (&) MWEARFR(BRHEZTEWBARR)HR
the Company, through its wholly owned subsidiary, and BREEHR-_ZEZ—FNLARTNRE
Hengjiameilian in September 2021, the Group has committed ek - AN & B R B 600,000,000
to a capital contribution of HK$600,000,000, equivalent to T (HEEARKA4472,035,0007L) « A
RMB472,035,000. As at 31 March 2024, HK$450,000,000 (2023: ZTZMF=ZA=+—HB BXNHH
HK$450,000,000) has been paid. The capital will be drawn down #450,000,000C (=T = =4 : B ¥
on as-needed basis. 450,000,00070) - ZEE £ BILHE EIR

B e

(f) According to Partnership Agreement of B 4B E £, the Group (f) REBREMESNEEHE 58
has committed to a capital contribution of RMB780,000,000. G E AR %780,000,0007T ° A =
As at 31 March 2024, RMB708,000,000, equivalent to Z_WE=R=+—H EXFTARE
HK$763,189,000, (2023: RMB708,000,000, equivalent to 708,000,0007T ( & 1& 7% #763,189,000
HK$808,536,000), has been paid. L) (ZE = =% : AR %¥708,000,000

7t (5B %808,536,0007T) ) °
39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 39. @A TR 5

Transactions and balances with related parties HEBEBALTZRERET

In addition to those related party transactions and balances BRRGEMBREMFEMBIE R

disclosed elsewhere in notes to the consolidated financial EZSHEBMATR G REFIN KNE

statements, the Group had the following transactions and ERAFEEAABALT 2RI RE
balances with its related parties during the year: FaT:
2024 2023
—E_ME —E-=

Name of related party Nature of transaction Notes HK$'000 HK$'000

) - PN RaEME B & BET T BET T

Bestone Capital Limited (“BCL") Investment management fee (a) - (280)

BREERBRAR ([EA]) KEEEE

Fortune Asset Management Limited (“FAML") Investment management fee (b) (915) (643)

EREEBEERAA([E%]) KREERE

BRBEE (R BREKEESEEARAR  Office rental income

("EREE") (0) 523 -

EREE (R BREREESEEARAA WLAEESWA

([EREE])
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A SRR MY EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 2 — T - F=A=+—HItFE

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

Transactions and balances with related parties

30.FEE A =R F (&)

HEBALZXEZRERF (&)

(Continued)
2024 2023
—E-_ME “E-=F
Name of related party Nature of balance Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BEHALEE EEME LIS BETT BETT
BCL Investment management fee payable (a) 527 527
Bh ERNREERE
FAML Investment management fee payable (b) - 643
R EREEERE
Rich Fortune Allied Limited ("RFAL")  Office rent, building management fee
and government rates payables (d) 391 391

BEMEARA

BT 2 A

Al ([BEesE]) ERLAZEES BFEREAR

Notes:

(b)

BCL is a related party to the Group as Dr. LIU Zhiwei, the
executive director of the Company, is an ultimate beneficial
shareholder of BCL.

FAML was a related party to the Group as Dr. LIU Zhiwei, the
executive director of the Company, was the director of the
holding company of FAML. Dr. LIU Zhiwei was resigned as the
director of the holding company of FAML during the year ended
31 March 2024.

B EE is a related party to the Group as Dr. LIU Zhiwei, the
executive director of the Company, is a beneficial shareholder of

BEREE.

RFAL is a related party to the Group as Dr. LIU Zhiwei, the
executive director of the Company, is a common director and
ultimate beneficial shareholder of RFAL.

Compensation of key management personnel

The key management personnel of the Group comprises all
directors, details of their remuneration are disclosed in note
13(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

GEE

HRARRMTESZNESEBLAEA
ZREBEHEBRR WO R NE BB
7o

(b) BRARFAHUTEFENESEELERE
BMZEBRRARMNES HEREAAE
BB - NSEREIREBE_T -0
FZA=tRALFEHTIERZER
NAMESE-

(0 MBAREARFUTESFIEEBLIRER
EEBmRR NEREERTEEH

ﬁi

(d) ABARERFAXTESIEEBLIAHE
HEZHAREERREEHRR W
YU E RN KB -

FTEEEASHMH

AREETEEERAERRE2EES
WEZHMEFBERELET B RERM T
13(a) & -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MY EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 B Z - -_N&=A=+—HILtFE

40. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS 40. "NEBEEZ T EIREF

HELD BY THE GROUP ]
Particulars of investments held by the Group as at 31 March AEBEERE ETMRNEVNEHEERZ
2024 disclosed pursuant to Chapter 21 of the Listing Rules ToNF=A=-+—HFEE2REHF
are as follows: (ERUNNE
Realised
Proportion Net asset  Unrealised gain/ Percentage of
of investee's Carrying attributable  (loss)/gain  (loss) for the Group's
Name of investments Nature of business  capital owned Cost  amount to the Group for the year  the year total assets
RERRE ERAER FRES
DR AE@EME (BB) / BME/ HAEEE
RELR EBHE el RA  KREE ZEERE ki (BR) EEZAAN

HKS$'000  HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000  HK$'000
BT E¥TR BT BETn EETR

Investments at fair value
through profit or loss

HRATFEIAEREZIRE

OPIM - non-voting Asset management 100.00% 58,000 24,500 24,500 (15,400) = 0.21%
preference shares

OPIM —ERFE 2 E% K BEER

iCarbonX Group Limited Medical and healthcare 7.73% 1,098,790 797,626 797,626 (148,223) - 6.98%
- ordinary shares

RERHEEFRAT-LRR BERRE

Jiedaibao Limited Internet-based 2.49% 900,389 1,082,127 1,082,127 111,607 - 9.47%
financial services

BEEEERAA EBEeRRE

Hengjiameilian Equity and property 14.9% 450,000 432,353 432,353 (15,083) - 3.79%

investments, and
commodity trading

BEER RERDERE UR
%WE%
BREMES Asset management N/A 803,084 761,537 761,537 (1,441) - ¢ 6.67%
KREMES BEER TEA
SERAERBHRERLEPL  Asset management N/A 450232 418,281 418,281 4,144 - 3.66%
("EREFER"
ERRAEREHREREML AEEE TEA
([EREHES])
EERAGMBRERERL Asset management N/A 489,002 490,038 490,038 5,009 - 4.29%
("REEmER")
EEREAEMREREDL BEER TER
([REEMES])
mBETEHEEEER Education N/A 1,704,863 1,632,000 1,632,000 (72,863) - 14.29%
ERAR
mIsETEAEERER 45 TEA
BRAR
256 Wealthink Al-Innovation Capital Limited / Annual Report 2023/24

ERBEREERAT / F 202324



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
an\ (=12 jﬁ%#&%‘% M—J-

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 2 — T - F=A=+—HItFE

40. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS 40. "NEBEEZ T EIREF

HELD BY THE GROUP (continued) 15 &)
Particulars of investments held by the Group as at 31 March AEBEER ETRUNEVNEHEERZ
2024 disclosed pursuant to Chapter 21 of the Listing Rules E-NF=ZRAR=T—HREBZEREF
are as follows: (Continued) BwT: (&)
Principal Net asset Total Percentage of
activity of Carrying attributable interest for the Group's
Name of investments  borrower Tenure Cost  amount to the Group the year Interest detail total assets
BRATE AE@EfE2  FRAE EAEEE
REEHE %% BR A REE EERE BE FEFHE EEZEAH

HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETR BETRT B¥TR

Unlisted debt investments

FLTEHRE
Hong Kong Nanshan Trading 1 year 975,000 969,585 969,585 61,560 7.50% p.a., pay * 8.49%
Development Limited semi-annually
7.5% 23-05-2024
ERBILERAERAR B5 (K FFRE7.50%
7.5% 23-05-2024 HER-—R
Debenture B Investment 9 months 450,000 447,501 447,501 40,611 9.00% p.a., pay * 3.92%
holding upon maturity
fE58B REER  9EA F7/%9.00%
REBRX A
Debenture C Investment 9 months 430,000 427,612 427,612 38,806 9.00% p.a., pay * 3.74%
holding upon maturity
fEHC REER  9EA F7/%9.00%
REBRX A
: Represents ten largest investments as at 31 March 2024. o BRZEZWNFE=ZA=t+t—HZtXE
Particulars of investments held by the Group as at 31 March ZIK SEBBELETRANENEREN =
2023 disclosed pursuant to Chapter 21 of the Listing Rules S —F=HA=1T—HBHELHREF
are as follows: %ZZDT :
Proportion Net asset Dividend Percentage of
of investee’s Carrying attributable received/ the Group's
Name of investment Nature of business capital owned Cost amount  tothe Group  receivable total assets
BEMRERAT AEBME B/ EREEEEE
REAE £BIHE ZERLH B REE 2BERE  ERKRE ZAD
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BRI ABTE BRTT  BAETR

/n vestments in associates

REERAZRE
TUVL - ordinary shares Asset management 25.00% 351,671 436,840 436,840 - 3.84%
TUVL — @R BEER
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 i Z2 - T - WFE=-A=+—HItFE
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40. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS  40. A&EE KB 2 X B EF
HELD BY THE GROUP (continuved) 15 &)
Particulars of investments held by the Group as at 31 March AEBEERE ETMRNEVNEHEERZ
2023 disclosed pursuant to Chapter 21 of the Listing Rules T —F =A==+ —HEEZHREF
are as follows: (Continued) SN (4F)
Proportion of Netasset  Unrealised  Realised Percentage of
investee's capital Carrying  attributable  gain/(loss) loss for the Group's
Name of investments Nature of business owned Cost  amount tothe Group forthe year  the year total assets
BERRELRT REEME Ww/ FRE BAEEE
REELH ¥HNE b&-v.N:4] KA BEE <EEFE (B8) EBRER EEZEDN
HK$'000  HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000  HK§'000
BYEFr BETR BETLT  BETT AT
Investments at fair value
through profit or loss
A TEFTAERFIRE
OPIM - non-voting Asset management 100.00% 58,000 39,900 39,900 2,100 - 0.35%
preference shares
OPIM — ERZRZEER EEER
iCarbonX Group Limited Medical and healthcare 7.73% 1,098,790 945,849 945,849 (54,701) - 8.32%
- ordinary shares
HREBHEEERL BERRE
-LER
Jiedaibao Limited Internet-hased 2.49% 900,389 970,520 970,520 15,936 - 8.54%
financial services
EEEERAT EBELRRE
Hengjiameilian Equity and property 14.9% 450,000 447,437 447,437 (2,563) - 3.94%
investments, and
commodity trading
BEEH RERDZRERER
g5
Dagang Holding Group Manufacture and service 18.90% 781,225 452,432 452,432 (193,331) (15,385) 3.98%
Co., Limited of road construction,
maintenance machinery
and equipment
ENZREERMHERAR  BRERX REERRRE
2 RER RS
Ninth Eternity Asia Fund LP Asset management N/A 700,000 778,999 778,999 79,299 - 6.85%
MENES EEER T
Ninth Eternity Asia Fund Il LP- Asset management N/A 800,000 895,871 895,871 96,245 - 7.88%
AATHES BEER TER
HREMES Asset management N/A - 803,084 808,298 808,298 (237) - 7.11%
BREMES BEER TR
LRENES Asset management NA 450232 444,859 444,859 3,029 - 391%
EREHES BEER TEm
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 2 — T - F=A=+—HItFE

40. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS

41.

42.

HELD BY THE GROUP (Continued)

Particulars of investments held by the Group as at 31 March
2023 disclosed pursuant to Chapter 21 of the Listing Rules
are as follows: (Continued)

40.

AEERFBEZIBRERF

15 (&)

AEEREBEEMBAUENEZERERZ
E-_ZF=-ZA=Zt+—BHEAEZHREF
BT (&)

Principal Net asset Total Percentage of
activity of Carrying  attributable interest for the Group's
Name of investment borrower  Tenure Cost amount  to the Group the year Interest detail total assets
CEYESS AEEMEZ  FANE HAEER
REAE £ HR A REE BERE X MEFE BEZBOK
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETR BETL AT
Listed debt investments
LTEHRE
Nanshan Capital Trading 1 year 975,000 975,717 975,717 51,016 7% p.a., pay * 8.58%
Holdings Limited semi-annually
BILERERERRR 85 (K FRNET%
EEN—R
*: Represents ten largest investments as at 31 March 2023. o BRIZIEZ=F=ZA=+—H2Z+XK%
B o
COMPARATIVE FIGURES 41. LB F

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to
enhance comparability with the consolidated financial
statements.

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 21 June
2024.

42.

EHETEBREFETEN DR UIR
=G E M ERRA AL

AR A M RR

EEeR _E-_MFEA=-+—H
HofE R R E P B AR B IS TR R -
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
SR

AEESRORAEMBRFREZE AMEENRE
ERAENRBZAEEZM RS EH2
FIMT -ABETBEEZM B RER — &

not form part of the audited financial statements. e

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
audited financial statements, is set out below. This summary does

260

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1t-HLEE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E-E -—T-=F —FT-— —E-—F —Z-FF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT A%TT BB TI  ABTr  BET
Results ES
Turnover 3] 522,006 469,589 271,503 624,258 352,164
Revenue U % 308,329 192,741 93,929 110,522 181,816
Profit/(loss) before tax Har&s,/ (E8) 54,608 149,523 217,160 376,669  (1,366,617)
Income tax (expenses)/credit R (%) /#% (955) (3,140) 4,113 (4,113) (6,057)
Profit/(loss) for the year AEFEEFN/ (FR) 53,653 146,383 221,273 372,556 (1,372,674)
Other comprehensive (expense)/  Et 2 (Fx) /
income & (151,788)  (119,452) 36,323 37,449 (15,331)
Total comprehensive (expense) 2 (FY) /I
income ek (98,135) 26,931 257,596 410,005  (1,388,005)
At 31 March
R=A=+—-8
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—EBoME -—T-o=fF -—FT-o-F —FT-—F —FE-FTE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT A%TT A% TR A% Tr BT
Assets and liabilities BEREE
Total assets BEE 11,422,397 11,366,205 7,441,213 5,368,288 4,775,088
Total liabilities BafE (1,509,777) (1,355,450) (1,912,969)  (841,109)  (660,643)
Net assets BEFE 9,912,620 10,010,755 5,528,244 4,527,179 4,114,445
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